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China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

(B 124K 5% Stock Code : 836)

LIGHTING UP
THE FUTURE

CONTRIBUTING TO

SOCIETY WITH

RENEWABLE ENERGY
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China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited
(the“Company” or “CR Power”) mainly invests,
develops, operates and manages coal-fired power plants,
wind farms, photovoltaic power plants, hydro-electric power
plants and other clean and renewable energy projects in the more
affluent regions or regions with abundant coal resources in China. Its
business also covers distributed energy, power sales, intelligent energy,
coal mining, and other areas.

As at 31 December 2020, CR Power had 37 coal-fired power plants, 119
wind farms, 25 photovoltaic power plants, 2 hydro-electric power plants
and 3 gas-fired power plants in commercial operations. Its total attributable
operational generation capacity was 43,365MW, with 29.1% of its capacity
located in Eastern China, 27.6% in Central China, 17.2% in Southern China,
15.2% in Northern China, 5.3% in Northeastern China, 3.4% in Southwestern
China and 2.1% in Northwestern China. Its attributable operational
generation capacity in wind, hydro-electric and photovoltaic
power combined, amounted to 11,238MW, accounting
for approximately 25.9% of its total attributable ! |
operational generation capacity. Its attributable
generation capacity of grid-connected wind,
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CR POWER WAS SELECTED AS A CONSTITUENT
OF HANG SENG ESG 50 INDEX AND HANG SENG
CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY BENCHMARK
INDEX (“HSSUSB”) FOR THE FIRST TIME

Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Index
Series Member 2020-2021

Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited announced their
quarterly Hang Seng Index review results as at 30 June 2020.
CR Power was selected, for the first time, as a constituent of
the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index and the HSSUSB with effect from
7 September 2020.

Selection for the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index and the HSSUSB
focuses on the sustainability performance of listed companies
in Hong Kong, aiming to provide a benchmark for investors who
are concerned with environmental and social responsibilities.
Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited includes consideration of
the results from a sustainability assessment undertaken by Hong
Kong Quality Assurance Agency, an independent and professional
assessment body, based on the candidate’s performances in
seven core aspects, including corporate governance, human
rights, labour practices, environment, fair operating practices,
consumer issues and community involvement and development.
Out of over 2,000 listed companies in Hong Kong, a total of
50 are included in the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index, and 89 are
included in the HSSUSB.

CR Power has always adhered to the concept of sustainable
development and integrated the implementation of environmental,
social and governance responsibilities into the Company’s
strategies and operations. The Company has been publishing
sustainability reports for 11 consecutive years, constantly reviews
its own performance and shortcomings, and strives to improve its
sustainable development practices, laying a solid foundation for
creating long-term value for the Company. CR Power’s inclusion
into the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index and HSSUSB demonstrates
its excellence in the three aspects of environment, social and
governance, and reflects the recognition on the sustainable
development efforts of the Company by the capital markets.

FEHBNBEIXNEBLEESG
50 15 S pY 7Y B bl 18 4= Ol 5 45
BRIEPFREEEH

BENSERRLE
BB AR 5 2000-2021 288

BEESBER AR EME Z2020F6
ASOHMEAEHERINEZER &
HEHEHNBRABEAESGS0HEEK D
BMAMEBEARBEEERECERAEEY 8
20209 A7 B#ER -

B L ESG0H B MEL A FEERRE
FHTELHHEBTBE LT RARNAFHE
BRRR BEEABIREMLESET
MIEEERB2ERAE - BEEH AT
ZAEEEEREREABLE=H "
ABEEARELEER AR 85
B RE AFELER HBEZ
B ERZ2ENFREEZOEBAE
B BRTEHIEERETRESH
¥ IEES - 20002 KEH FHAA
ot EBB0R 1 ¥ AEESG50145
HSORMEARBAABERREDLE
EAEIRE -

EHENRERBAUFEZRES B
RERE HEMABEERMARATER
BE X TEE - RREE 1 FRMAF
BRERBRE  THERBSFHRAMA
BBHARSETAFEZERAE
REFERENEBEAEEEER - KX
Rl B A\ GE 18 4 ESGH0 5 BHLA R B A AT %
BREROCEEERYE YRTEHEHE
ERE dHehkbXEAR-A8ERA
S RBRT BN R E A RE R
B’ ITEMRA ©




=F _

ONTENTS

5-Year Summary

Service Areas

Chairman’s Statement

Directors and Senior Management
Report of the Directors

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Corporate Governance Report
Independent Auditor’s Report
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Corporate Information

Information for Investors

hERHE
PR 7% [ 35
TEHE

EERRRERE

B E AR E

B ofER M EAM
2HEHBAR

BHBBAARREK

APHENEDE

Bt EHRR MR

ARAR

REEZZEHR




5-YEAR SUMMARY
hFEMRE

Basic Earnings per share KARBEEAZ

attributable to owners ERBREF(GER)

of the Company (HK$) 1.58 1.37 0.83 0.97 1.62
Turnover (HK$’000) EEE(TAR) RSN 67,757,632 76,940,125 73,311,677 66,212,590
Profit attributable to owners  AATEE A

of the Company (HK$’000) EEFE(FET) (ALPEEN 6,500,345 3,950,435 4,623,323 7,708,373
Dividend per share (HK$) BREE(ET) 0.631 0.548 0.328 0.875 0.875
Consolidated statement BB ERRE

of financial position (F#Er)

(HK$’000)
Non-current assets ENBEE PAERCERIPR 186,166,238 178,274,093 193,276,019 176,225,781
Current assets MBEE IWGRENPIN 29,569,488 29,949,074 27,696,451 23,885,688
Non-current liabilities ERBEE NG LRARE 71,358,497 71,356,447 72,623,180 73,885,120
Current liabilities MBBE AGIRRPE 57,661,216 59,582,109 67,607,410 51,661,486
Equity attributable to owners ~ ARFHEA A

of the Company L IR 72,923979 70,135,314 75,213,819 69,020,906
Total assets BEE PIIRICRTM 215,735,726 208,223,167 220,972,470 200,111,469
Cash and cash equivalents ReLBREZEY CHREYS  49007,306 7,977,153 5,381,686 4,347,022
Bank and other borrowings B REMEE OERAENREN 94,136,758 96,675,137 100,922,869 91,463,402
Attributable operational BEESERRE

generation capacity (MW) (kR)
Eastern China =R 12,582 12,472 12,358 12,565
Central China #Eh 11,250 10,507 9,838 9,554
Southern China g 7,097 6,819 6,583 6,674
Northern China #i 5,363 3,792 3,706 3,706
Northeastern China ®it 1,952 1,910 1,751 1,722
Southwestern China [if]=3 1,328 1,216 1,171 1,702
Northwestern China [iipls 820 721 671 261
Total et 40,392 37,438 36,077 36,184
Renewable energy ABEAERR 9,420 7,544 6,184 5,042

4 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #FHEHZKRER A
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SERVICE AREAS
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As at 31 December 2020, the total

controlled generation capacity of the

Company was 55,37 1MW, and attributable

operational generation capacity was

RZBZEBF+ZHA=+—H ' FRAFANE

SIAERERAERS5371kE - EEERE
BWRER

43 365:x

Xinjiang m‘r ' ﬁ
Autonomous Region Li T
FEEAE R

\r? ] ?‘ Be_u

ng,
GanS}l Inner Mongolia tR=H L
HE@E Autonomous Region

ARG BAE

W" \r" /Tib‘ﬁ N‘r"
\r ' ngxla Shanxi . Shandong
T Autonomous Region LR T IERE

Qinghai EEEAE ]

EEY 2 N ¢
Shaanxi
et WYY

Henan

AEE N

¥ are?
Tibet . \r? Hubei

Autonomous Region A

ARERAE Sichuan
g { S

m)l&
' (! Hunan Jlangm
dy? | R

Guizhou
BEMNE

e
qu%‘;n N‘f? ﬁ Guangdong
= Guangxi BRE
Autonomous Region
B EAE
Hong Kong SAR
BEERTHE

’ Renewable energy attributable
operational generation capacity

IBLRRELERREETER
Thermal power
K N\
Wind power, a
hydro-electric power, \
photovoltaic power power plants
BB - kE - KR in commercial operation
EREHIRAGEEE -
Power sales
g

Integrated
energy services

REBRIRS °

6 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #FHEHZKRERAE



PROVINCE/MUNICIPALITY/
AUTONOMOUS

REGION

&/ HET/HAB

Jiangsu

IHE

Henan

AEE

Guangdong
ERE

Hubei
wWitE

POWER PLANTS

Changshu
Changzhou Gas
Huaxin

Nanjing Bangiao
Nanjing Chemical Industry Park
Nanjing Thermal
Tongshan

Xuzhou

Yangzhou No. 2
Zhenjiang

Nantong Wind
Yancheng Wind
Huai’an Photovoltaic
Sugian Photovoltaic

Dengfeng
Gucheng
Jiaozuo Longyuan
Shouyangshan
Anyang Wind
Biyang Wind
Dingbian Wind
Fenggiu Wind
Huaxian Wind
Linying Wind
Luohe Wind
Lushan Wind
Neihuang Wind
Queshan Wind
Shanggiu Wind
Tanghe Wind
Wugang Wind
Xinye Wind
Yanshi Wind
Yexian Wind
Zhoukou Wind
Zhumadian Wind

Guangzhou Thermal
Haifeng

Liyujiang A

Liyujiang B

Huilai Wind

Leizhou Wind

Lianzhou Wind
Lianzhou Wind Phase Il
Lufeng Wind

Shantou Chaonan Wind
Shantou Haojiang Wind
Shantou Wind

Xinfeng Wind

Xinyi Wind

Xuwen Wind

Yangjiang Wind
Yangjiang Wind Phase I
Haifeng Photovoltaic
Yingde Photovoltaic
Zhuhai Photovoltaic

Hubei

Hubei Phase Il

Yichang

Guangshui Wind
Suixian Tianhekou Wind
Suizhou Fengming Wind
Suizhou Wind

Yicheng Wind

Zaoyang Bailu Wind
Zaoyang Wind
Zhongxiang Wind
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INSTALLED
CAPACITY (MW)
HHWBIECKR)

1,950.0
108.0
660.0
660.0
670.0

1,200.0

2,000.0

1,280.0

1,260.0

1,540.0

65.5
44.0
10.0
20.4

1,840.0
600.0
1,320.0
1,200.0
241.4
183.5
50.0
40.0
194.0
65.0
30.0
28.6
410.0
40.6
20.0
192.7
36.0
12.5
30.0
60.7

2.0

600.0
2,000.0
600.0
1,300.0
133.5
100.0
300.0
20.0
66.0
145.9
18.0
29.3
50.0
39.0
100.0
89.8
45.5

29.2
4.2
600.0
2,000.0
700.0
109.8
404.8
76.5
49.8
190.2
40.0
161.3
9.0

SERVICE AREAS
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EFFECTIVE ATTRIBUTABLE
EQUITY INSTALLED
INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
BXEE BRERRTECRR)
100.0% 1,950.0
100.0% 103.0
72.0% 475.2
79.0% 521.4
90.0% 603.0
100.0% 1,200.0
59.9% 1,197.2
42.7% 545.9
45.0% 567.0
42.5% 654.5
100.0% 65.5
80.0% 35.2
100.0% 10.0
100.0% 20.4
75.0% 1,380.0
100.0% 600.0
100.0% 1,320.0
85.0% 1,020.0
100.0% 241.4
100.0% 183.5
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 40.0
100.0% 194.0
100.0% 65.0
100.0% 30.0
100.0% 28.6
100.0% 410.0
100.0% 40.6
100.0% 20.0
100.0% 192.7
100.0% 36.0
100.0% 12.5
100.0% 30.0
100.0% 60.7
100.0% 2.5
100.0% 2.0
100.0% 600.0
100.0% 2,000.0
60.0% 360.0
100.0% 1,300.0
100.0% 133.5
100.0% 100.0
100.0% 300.0
82.5% 16.5
100.0% 66.0
100.0% 145.9
100.0% 18.0
100.0% 29.3
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 39.0
100.0% 100.0
100.0% 89.8
100.0% 45.5
100.0% 4.0
100.0% 29.2
100.0% 4.2
100.0% 600.0
100.0% 2,000.0
100.0% 700.0
100.0% 109.8
100.0% 404.8
100.0% 76.5
100.0% 49.8
100.0% 190.2
70.0% 28.0
100.0% 161.3
100.0% 9.0
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Hebei
A

Shandong
WLRE

Inner Mongolia
Autonomous
Region

RELZERE

Liaoning

BEE

Guangxi Autonomous
Region
EAEBRE

Zhejiang

Guizhou

BME

POWER PLANTS

Bohai Xinqu

Cangzhou

Caofeidian

Caofeidian Phase Il
Tangshan Fengrun
Yundong

Chengde Weichang Wind
Fucheng Wind

Handan Wind

Linzhang Wind
Mulanweichang Wind
Qinhuangdao Wind
Caofeidian Photovoltaic

Heze

Dezhou Wind
Dongying Wind

Feixian Wind

Haiyang Wind

Jining Wind

Jixian Wind Phase |
Jixian Wind Phase I
Linyi Wind

Linyi Wind Phase I
Penglai Daliuhang Wind
Penglai Daxindian Wind
Qingdao Wind
Qingdao Wind Phase |
Qingdao Wind Phase Il
Rizhao Wind

Weihai Huancui Wind
Weihai Wind

Wulian Wind Phase |
Wulian Wind Phase I
Yantai Penglai Wind
Yantai Wind

Zibo Wind

Zoucheng Wind

Dengkou

Xilinguole

Jingneng Xilinguole
Bayinxile Wind

Manzhouli Wind

Manzhouli Wind Phase Il
Wulanchabu Hongmu Wind

Panjin

Jinzhou Thermal
Shenhai Thermal
Beipiao Wind

Fuxin Wind

Fuxin Wind Phase Il
Jianping Wind
Jinzhou Wind
Linghai Wind

Hezhou

Beiliu Wind

Cangwu Wind
Fogang Wind
Rongxian Wind
Yulin Wind

Hezhou Photovoltaic

Cangnan

Wenzhou Telluride
Wenzhou Photovoltaic
Zhejiang Photovoltaic

Guizhou Liuzhi
Jianhe Wind
Jinping Wind
Kaili Wind
Liping Wind
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INSTALLED
CAPACITY (MW)
HHRBAECKR)

90.0

2,000.0
46.2
50.0
50.0

130.0

6.0

2,000.0
660.0
121
6.1

1,320.0
162.0
22.0
50.0
254.0

i
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EFFECTIVE ATTRIBUTABLE
EQUITY INSTALLED
INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
BXEE BEERFTEORR)
100.0% 700.0
95.0% 627.0
51.0% 306.0
51.0% 1,020.0
60.0% 420.0
90.0% 630.0
100.0% 246.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 100.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 150.0
100.0% 100.0
95.0% 10.9
90.0% 1,080.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 100.0
100.0% 119.4
100.0% 267.5
100.0% 49.5
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 86.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 49.8
100.0% 49.8
100.0% 118.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 48.6
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 50.0
95.0% 44.3
95.0% 45.6
100.0% 38.0
100.0% 44.0
75.0% 450.0
70.0% 924.0
30.0% 396.0
100.0% 198.0
100.0% 49.5
100.0% 49.5
100.0% 49.5
100.0% 700.0
50.0% 330.0
54.1% 324.7
100.0% 2401
100.0% 99.0
100.0% 97.5
100.0% 99.0
100.0% 48.0
100.0% 90.0
66.0% 1,320.0
100.0% 46.2
90.0% 45.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 130.0
100.0% 8.9
100.0% 6.0
55.0% 1,100.0
40.0% 264.0
55.0% 6.6
100.0% 6.1
49.0% 646.8
100.0% 152.0
100.0% 22.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 254.0
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Hunan
HEE
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Ningxia Autonomous Region
EEBHARE

Gansu

HE\E

Heilongjiang
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Shaanxi
B A

Yunnan

Sichuan
)&
Jiangxi
pANich )

Fujian

(EFe )

Beijing

R

Qinghai

b3

Tibet Autonomous Region
BREEAE

Jilin

HHE

Shanghai

Ligm

POWER PLANTS

Datong Guangling Wind
Datong Wind

Datong Yanggao Wind
Guxian Wind

Linfen Wind

Xinrong Wind

Xinzhou Wind
Zhongyang Wind
Datong Photovoltaic
Lanxian Photovoltaic
Xinrong Photovoltaic

Lianyuan
Linwu Wind

Fuyang

Mingguang Wind Phase |
Suixi Wind

Huaibei Photovoltaic
Huoshan Photovoltaic

Haiyuan Wind
Haiyuan Photovoltaic

Guazhou Wind
Huanxian Wind
Fujin Wind
Jiamusi Wind

Anda Photovoltaic
Tailai Photovoltaic

Baoji Wind
Tongguan Wind
Yan’an Wind

Honghe Hydro
Midu Photovoltaic
Zhaotong Photovoltaic

Yazuihe Hydro
Heishui Photovoltaic

De’an Wind

Dingnan Wind
Ganzhou Nankang Wind
Ruichang Wind
Xiajiang Wind
Changting Wind
Hui’an Wind
Longyan Wind
Minging Wind
Fuging Photovoltaic
Fuzhou Photovoltaic
Jingwei Photovoltaic

Beijing Thermal

Dachaidan Wind
Delingha Photovoltaic

Jiangzi Photovoltaic

Nong’an wind

Shanghai Gas
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INSTALLED
CAPACITY (MW)
HHRBIECKR)

100.0
198.0
129.0
19.5
99.0
60.0
120.0
220.0
20.0
30.0
50.0

600.0
68.0

1,280.0
50.0
50.0

5.9
18.0

300.0
90.0

201.0
50.0

50.0
43.5
120.0
20.0

100.0
49.4
50.0

210.0
20.3
20.1

260.0
30.0

48.0
49.5
64.0
36.0
82.0

46.0
26.0
48.0
30.0
14.2

8.1

7.0

150.0

50.0
20.0

20.2

40.0

SERVICE AREAS
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EFFECTIVE ATTRIBUTABLE
EQUITY INSTALLED
INTEREST CAPACITY (MW)
BREE BEERFECKR)
100.0% 100.0
100.0% 198.0
100.0% 129.0
100.0% 19.5
100.0% 99.0
100.0% 60.0
100.0% 120.0
100.0% 220.0
100.0% 20.0
51.0% 15.3
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 600.0
100.0% 68.0
40.0% 512.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 5.9
100.0% 18.0
100.0% 300.0
100.0% 90.0
100.0% 201.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 435
100.0% 120.0
100.0% 20.0
100.0% 100.0
100.0% 49.4
100.0% 50.0
70.0% 147.0
100.0% 203
100.0% 20.1
51.0% 132.6
75.0% 22.5
100.0% 48.0
100.0% 495
100.0% 64.0
100.0% 36.0
100.0% 82.0
100.0% 46.0
30.0% 7.8
100.0% 48.0
100.0% 30.0
70.0% 9.9
100.0% 8.1
65.0% 4.6
51.0% 76.5
100.0% 50.0
100.0% 20.0
100.0% 20.2
100.0% 40.0
100.0% 2.4
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FIEHRS

On behalf of the Board, | present

the results of CR Power for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

HENREFEEMERENEE
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WANG
CHUANDONG
TiFi

Chairman of the Board

EEExR

Dear Shareholders, ENIARER -

2020 was a challenging year. CR Power actively responded to 2020 £ & B Pk 8 - Z 8 F /) 18 1% fE B 5
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annual tasks relatively well. In terms of sustainable development,
the Company actively conducted research on its roadmap and
timetable for achieving peak carbon dioxide emissions and carbon
neutrality, set its tasks according to the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals, and for the first time CR Power was included
as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index and the
Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index.

EPIDEMIC PREVENTION AND CONTROL

In response to the sudden outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020,
the Company promptly took effective measures to ensure the
safety of employees while sparing no efforts to ensure power
supply and assisting the cities and communities where our power
plants are located to fight against the epidemic. The Company
has so far recorded no cases among its staff across the country.

With effective measures taken and safety of our staff ensured, the
projects of the Company have resumed construction since March
2020. The construction of wind power projects was accelerated
to achieve the grid connection target by the end of the year.

With the dedication of the staff of CR Power’s power projects in
Hubei Province, the epidemic prevention and control measures
were implemented carefully. At the same time, their duties were
served in securing power supply, as well as actively assisting
local governments and communities to fight against the epidemic.

PERFORMANCE RESULTS

In 2020, despite various challenges brought by the COVID-19
epidemic and fierce competition in the industry, the annual
installed capacity of grid-connected wind power and photovoltaic
power projects of the Company reached a record high of 4,447
MW. Its grid-connected renewable energy capacity accounted for
31.1% by the end of 2020, which exceeded the target set in the
“13th Five-Year Plan”.

—
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The Company’s turnover for 2020 was HK$69.55 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 2.6%. Profit attributable
to owners of the Company was HK$7.58 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 15.1%. Earnings per share was
HK$1.58. Total dividend for the year is HK$0.631 per share,
including an interim dividend of HK$0.225 per share and a final
dividend of HK$0.406 per share.

Net profit contribution (before non-cash exchange gains and
losses) from renewable energy business amounted to HK$4.193
billion, representing a significant increase of 43.7% from
HK$2.917 billion in 2019. Net profit contribution from renewable
energy accounted for approximately 50.1%.

After excluding the effects of non-cash or non-recurring
gains and losses such as exchange gains and losses and
asset impairment, core profit attributable to shareholders of
the Company (“Core Profit”) amounted to HK$9.755 billion,
representing an increase of 9.8% as compared to 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are fully committed to the development of renewable
energy. In addition to the record-high grid-connected capacity,
we have developed, reserved and obtained approvals for a
number of new projects across China, laying a solid foundation
for future development. By the end of 2020, the Company
obtained approvals or filed for 1,066MW of wind power projects
and 5,631MW of photovoltaic projects, and obtained a number
of wind power and photovoltaic reserves, which are prepared
to participate in competitive allocation or apply for approvals
during the “14th Five-Year Plan” period. This will continue to
support the Company’s rapid growth in renewable energy.
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We closely integrate renewable energy development with

social responsibility work, innovate the development concept,
develop projects such as fishery-photovoltaic complementary
projects and agriculture-photovoltaic complementary projects,
realize the efficient use of land area, and strive to develop the
potential of renewable energy. We combine the development of
renewable energy with poverty alleviation, including cooperation
with the government to construct power generation facilities in
Guangdong, Guangxi, Hubei, Shanxi and Henan provinces in
China, and apply part of the income to help the poor. By the
end of 2020, the contracted wind power poverty alleviation
projects and photovoltaic projects amounted to 1,105MW and
90MW, respectively.

We have increased the proportion of non-fossil fuel energy, but
the basic, secure and heating functions of coal-fired power will
be difficult to be replaced in the short run. As at the end of 2020,
94% of the Group’s coal-fired power projects have expanded into
the heating market and provided heating services to residential,
industrial and commercial customers, covering a total of 175
million square meters in 16 cities across China. The annual heat
sales increased by 10.52% year-on-year to 111 million GJ and
the turnover from heat supply operations amounted to HK$5.626
billion, representing an increase of 9.4% from last year.

h

HABATBEREREMSEETER
BEe B BRES RBETAXE
- BREWEEA :’fi@iiﬂﬁﬁ%?&

FA - FASENABETEEEREN - &
A5 Al B4R /ﬁﬁéﬁ)zéﬁwiﬁifﬁ%é £
BER - EF - b - /Tﬁvtméﬁi
B EERRBEERNE - B30 kasA
HEEBRAD - H1EH2020F K - E
X REEHKEEE1,105KE ~ H1KEH
90 JKEL °

BMARANREELCAEERMGE  BES
ROERE REEMEREREEBA
REEWIR - BRI EFE  FHT94%
MANBEERHBTHRAIMS  WERM
Iﬁ%%:)f'kﬁ\,\ﬁﬁﬁlﬁ& EEP161I
WMERESRERAEMMBE1.75EF F K

THEERERLTLE10.52%ZF]1.11
BEEE HAXEKEEFERS6.26EE
JC FIIER9.4% ©

Annual Report 2020 F# 13



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

We actively implement the concept of “circular economy”, and
our thermal power plants have actively been exploring biomass
coupling technology to treat industrial and environmental wastes
for local and surrounding communities. By the end of 2020, 14
coal-fired power plants of the Group have implemented waste
incineration to eliminate pollutants more thoroughly and effectively
convert energy.

We strived to expand the electricity sales market and have
contracted 7,804 customers by the end of 2020. We actively
participate in the reform of the power system, participate in spot
transactions and optimize quotation strategies. The Company has
invested in 15 provincial power trading centers in China.

We are actively exploring new techniques, new technologies and
new business models. As at the end of last year, the Company
had 17 distributed energy projects in operations or under
construction, 8 energy storage projects and 8 integrated energy
projects. Leveraging on the diversified advantages of China
Resources Group, we provide energy efficiency management
services for office buildings, industrial parks, plants and logistics
centers of sister companies to improve energy efficiency.

We have invested a total of RMB1.499 billion in environmental
protection during the year, of which RMB1.27 billion was invested
in energy conservation and emission reduction upgrades, energy
conservation of coal-fired power plants, environmental protection
technology innovation, upgrading and transformation, and energy
consumption and emission indicators were further improved.
The average net generation standard coal consumption rate of
subsidiary coal-fired power plants decreased by 0.2% to 296.0g
from 296.6g in 2019. Sulfur dioxide and nitrogen oxide emissions
decreased by 7.5% and 1.8% respectively from 2019. All of our
coal-fired power plants have achieved ultra-low emissions.

We highly value safe production, and invested approximately
RMB143 million in 2020 to enhance the safe production
equipment for employees, improve the safety of the working
environment, manage major safety risks and develop advanced
safe production technologies.
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GIVING BACK TO SOCIETY

CR Power has been actively participating in charitable activities.
In China, we contribute to poverty alleviation and economic and
social development. We combine the Company’s renewable
energy business with public welfares such as poverty alleviation,
local infrastructure construction and environmental protection.
At the same time, we help the poor people improve their
living standards and achieve sustainable poverty alleviation by
supporting featured industries and improving infrastructure such
as roads, promoting the development of agriculture and animal
husbandry in poverty-stricken areas, promoting local employment
and promoting the processing and sales of agricultural products
according to local conditions. During the “13th Five-Year Plan”
period, we have cumulatively contributed over RMB200 million of
poverty alleviation funds, benefiting more than 18,000 families.
In 2020, the Company contributed approximately RMB33
million in poverty alleviation through donations, dividends and
consumption.

We combined new energy poverty alleviation with the
improvement of regional ecology, and helped Haiyuan County
in Ningxia, China to improve its ecological environment through
“investment in new energy + donation of ecological public welfare
forests”. For every 50MW of wind power, we donated RMB2
million for the construction of a public welfare forest, and donated
water vehicles and other materials to improve the local greening
and sanitation environment. By the end of 2020, the Company
donated a total of RMB20 million to Haiyuan County, Ningxia for
construction of public welfare forests.

By the end of 2020, Hezhou Power Plant’s “Transfer power from
Hezhou to Guangdong” poverty alleviation project created more
than 2000 local jobs from upstream and downstream enterprises.

In 2020, we donated smart streetlights for Hope Towns in Jianhe,
Guizhou and Hong’an, Hubei.

In terms of education support, China Resources Primary School
in Fuchuan County, Guangxi commenced construction in
September 2020. We also solved the drinking water problem
for a primary school in Hubei and donated RMB300,000 to a
school in Hubei that is specially designed for children from less
privileged families.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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In 2020, we donated a total of approximately RMB175 million
to the society through fighting the epidemic, poverty alleviation,
education, elderly care, environmental protection, community
co-construction and other activities, as well as participating in
the construction of Hope Towns by China Resources Group in
poverty-stricken areas in China.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

China announced its “Peak Carbon Dioxide Emissions by 2030
and Carbon Neutrality by 2060” targets, which means that the
planning, development and construction of renewable energy
projects will be accelerated in the future, which will bring huge
opportunities for the future development of the Company. As
China’s economy continues to grow, electricity consumption
in the whole society will continue to increase. With the
transformation of energy, the society has entered into the era of
electrification, and the power industry has broad development
prospects.

We will take various measures to actively develop renewable
energy and enhance the proportion of installed capacity of
clean energy. The Company will accelerate the construction and
operation of its approved projects, firmly reserve and develop
more wind power and photovoltaic power projects, as well as
strive to commence construction as soon as possible. In addition
to greenfield projects, the Group will also increase investments in
mergers and acquisitions and identify more quality projects in the
market. During the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, the Company
aims to increase its installed capacity of renewable energy by
40GW, with the target that its installed capacity of renewable
energy will account for more than 50% by the end of 2025.

According to current estimates, the Company’s carbon emissions
will peak in 2025. In line with China’s power system reform and
market-oriented trends, we will continue to improve our power
sales and comprehensive energy service capabilities, optimize
our customer mix, conduct in-depth analysis of customer needs,
cultivate, develop and acquire core technologies and capabilities
in efficiency management and smart parks. We will explore new
business models, cultivate new profit growth points and cultivate
transformation and innovation.
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The transformation of energy has brought enormous opportunities
for the development of the Company, and the technological
revolution is closely related to the development of the power
industry. We will continue to drive innovation and pay close
attention to the emerging new technologies, new models and new
business formats. Improve power generation efficiency through
leading equipment and operating technologies, and explore new
business opportunities through the application of cutting-edge
technologies.

We will seize China’s national regional strategic opportunities,
combine the strategic layout of China Resources Group in the
Guangdong - Hong Kong - Macao Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze
River Delta, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei and Chengdu-Chongqging
Economic Circle, expand high-quality assets according to local
conditions, and actively promote the implementation of a number
of key demonstration projects.

2021 marks the first year of the “14th Five-Year Plan”.
Standing at the historic crossroad, we will capture development
opportunities, stimulate organizational vitality, enhance core
capabilities, improve operational efficiency, and move forward
with various goals. We look forward to working together with all
stakeholders to make concerted efforts and progress, so as to
lay a good foundation and pave the way for the “14th Five-Year
Plan” and lead CR Power towards a better tomorrow.

Wang Chuandong
Chairman of the Board

18 March 2021
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Wang Chuandong
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 57, was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board and a Non-executive Director of the Company in
March 2020. Mr. Wang has been the chairman of the board of
China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”) since June 2012
and a non-executive director since January 2019. He was first
appointed as a director and general manager of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited (“CR Gas Holdings”) in February 2007,
then appointed as an executive director and general manager of
CR Gas from November 2008. CR Gas is a fellow subsidiary of
the Company and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx”). He is currently
also a deputy general manager of CRH. Mr. Wang joined China
Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985 and
served as its director and deputy general manager. He has over
35 years of corporate management experience in the energy
area.

Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Science majoring in
Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and
a Master of Business Administration (“MBA”) Degree from the
University of Texas in the United States of America.
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Mr. Tang Yong, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director
and President of the Company in December 2019. He served
as a managing director of China Resources Land Limited (“CR
Land”) from June 2013, vice chairman of the board of CR Land
from November 2014, CEO of CR Land from December 2018 and
was appointed as the chairman of the board of CR Land from
February 2019. Prior to joining the Company, he was responsible
for leading the board of CR Land and formulating the strategies
and policies of CR Land. CR Land is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company and its shares are listed on the Main Board of the
HKEx. Mr. Tang joined CRH in 19983, and had worked for China
Resources Property Management Limited. Mr. Tang has extensive
experience in property management and corporate management.

Mr. Tang has a Bachelor’s Degree of Engineering in Industrial and
Electrical Automation from Tongji University in China and an MBA

Mr. Tang Yong Degree from the University of San Francisco in the United States
EB&4t of America.
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Mr. Zhang Junzheng, aged 56, was appointed as an Executive
Director and Vice Chairman of the Board in December 2019.
He served as a director of the Health Safety and Environment
Department of CRH from June 2014 to December 2019, deputy
director from February 2010 to June 2014 and assistant general
manager from June 2009 to February 2010 of the office of
the board of CRH respectively. Before he joined CRH in 2009,
Mr. Zhang had worked for China Resources (Xuzhou) Electric
Power Co., Ltd. and served as General Manager of the Assets
Operations Department of the Company from November 2004 to
June 2009.

Mr. Zhang has an MBA Degree from the China Europe
International Business School.
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Ms. Wang Xiao Bin, aged 53, is an Executive Director, Senior
Vice President and Company Secretary of the Company. From
May 2012 to December 2020, Ms. Wang was Chief Financial
Officer of the Company. Prior to joining the Company in July
2003, Ms. Wang was a director of corporate finance of ING
Investment Banking, responsible for the execution of capital
markets and merger and acquisition transactions in the Asia
Pacific region. She worked for PriceWaterhouse in Australia in the
audit and business advisory division for five years before joining
ING Barings. Ms. Wang is also an independent non-executive
director of Worley Limited, a company listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange.

Ms. Wang is a member of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants and holds a graduate diploma in Applied
Finance and Investment from the Securities Institute of Australia

Ms. Wang Xiao Bin and a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Murdoch University
EIN A &n in Australia.
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Mr. Chen Ying, aged 50, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2012. He was appointed as
a non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (“CR Cement”) in May 2012; a non-executive director of
CR Gas and CR Land in June 2012. These are fellow subsidiaries
of the Company and the shares of these companies are listed on
the Main Board of the HKEx. Mr. Chen joined CRH in 1993, and
has been the assistant general manager of CRH and the CEO
of China Resources Enterprise Limited since February 2021. He
was the general manager of Strategy Management Department of
CRH from October 2011 to February 2021 and the chief strategy
officer of CRH from July 2013 to February 2021. Mr. Chen used
to be a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. from
March 2014 to July 2017. He was a non-executive director of
CR Beer from May 2012 to April 2016. He was also a director of
China Resources Double-crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which
Mr. Chen Ying is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (“SSE”), from May to
R i S 4 December 2015, and used to be a director of China Resources
Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. which is listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from June 2012 to December 2015.

Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Architectural Management

/ from the Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and an MBA Degree
[ from University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2014. He was appointed as
a non-executive director of CR Land, CR Cement and CR Gas in
August 2014. He was also appointed as a non-executive director
of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (formerly
known as China Resources Phoenix Healthcare Holdings Limited)
(listed on the Main Board of the HKEx) in November 2016. Mr.
Wang was a non-executive director of China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CR Beer”) from August 2014 to
April 2016. He was appointed as a general manager of the Audit
Department of CRH in February 2016. Mr. Wang joined China
Resources Company Limited (“CRCL”) (formerly known as China
Resources National Corporation) in August 1994.

Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from the

Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University of

Mr. Wang Yan Economics and Business, an MBA Degree from the University of
IFE&£4E South Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung, aged 79, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2006. Mr. Ma is a founder and former director of AMA
CPA Limited (formerly known as Andrew Ma DFK (CPA) Limited).
He is presently a director of Mayee Management Limited and also
a director of several other private companies. Mr. Ma has more
than 40 years’ experience in the fields of accounting, auditing and
finance. He received his Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from
The London School of Economics and Political Science (University
of London) in England. Mr. Ma is a fellow member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

In addition to his directorship in the Company, Mr. Ma is also an
independent non-executive director of a number of companies

Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung listed on the HKEXx, including Chong Hing Bank Limited (Stock
ER¥LLE Code: 01111), Asiaray Media Group Limited (Stock Code: 01993),

C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limitied (Stock Code: 03309) and
S.A.l Leisure Group Company Limited (Stock Code: 01832). Mr.
Ma was an independent non-executive director of C.P. Pokphand
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 00043) from September 2005 to June

/(\ 2020, and Asia Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 00662)
/ \ from September 2004 to May 2019.
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Ms. Elsie Leung Oi-sie, aged 82, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in April 2010. Ms. Leung was the first
Secretary for Justice of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
as well as a member of the Executive Council of Hong Kong from July
1997 to October 2005. Ms. Leung was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1968. She was a partner of P. H Sin
& Co., a Hong Kong law firm, which amalgamated with the law firm Iu,
Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries in 1993; she was a senior partner with Iu,
Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries from 1993 to 1997. At the end of 2006,
she resumed to practice at lu, Lai & Li Solicitors & Notaries. Ms. Leung
also serves as an independent non-executive director on the boards of
United Company Rusal Plc, listed on the Main Board of the HKEx, China
Life Insurance Company Limited which is listed on the Main Boards of
the HKEx, New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and SSE and Petro China
Company Limited listed on the HKEx, NYSE and SSE.

Ms. Leung served as a member of several government boards and
committees, including the Independent Police Complaints Council,
Equal Opportunities Commission, Social Welfare Advisory Committee

Ms. Elsie Leung Oi-sie and Inland Revenue Board of Review. Ms. Leung was appointed as a
N N delegate of the People’s Congress of Guangdong Province in 1989. In
REBEFHLZLT 1993, she was appointed as a delegate of the 8th National People’s

N Congress and in 1994 as well as a Hong Kong Affairs Advisor. She had

been the Deputy Director of the Hong Kong Basic Law Committee of the
Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress of the People’s
Republic of China between 2006 and 2018.

—

y — Apart from being a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong, Ms.

/' \ Leung was qualified as a solicitor in England and Wales and obtained a
” Master of Law degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1998.

) Ms. Leung was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1982 and was
- awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2002.
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Dr. Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2010. Dr. Ch'ien is the
chairman and an independent non-executive director of Hang Seng Bank
Limited. Dr. Ch'ien also serves as an independent non-executive director of
Swiss Re Limited and Swiss Re Asia Pte. Ltd. Dr. Ch'ien was an independent
non-executive director of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited from November 1997 to November 2020, and a non-executive
chairman of MTR Corporation Limited from July 2003 to December 2015.

In public service, Dr. Ch’ien is an honorary president and past chairman
of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries. From January 2013 to March
2018, Dr. Ch'ien was a member of the Economic Development Commission
of the Government of the Hong Kong SAR. From January 2008 to January
2018, he was a member of the Standing Committee of the Tianjin Municipal
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. From
1992 to 1997, Dr. Ch’ien was a member of the Executive Council of Hong
Kong, then under British administration. He was appointed a member of the
Executive Council of the Hong Kong SAR on 1 July 1997 and served until
. June 2002. He was a Hong Kong member of the APEC Business Advisory
Dr. Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung Council from 2004 to 2009. He was chairman of the Hong Kong/European
SBREEFLT Union Business Cooperation Committee from 2005 to January 2012. Dr.
Ch’ien was previously chairman of the Advisory Committee on Corruption
of the Independent Commission Against Corruption, the Hong Kong/Japan
Business Cooperation Committee, the Industry and Technology Development
Council and the Hong Kong Industrial Technology Centre Corporation Ltd.

Dr. Ch’ien received a Doctoral Degree in Economics from the University of
/’ ‘ Pennsylvania in 1978 and was a Trustee of the University from 2006 to 2016.
” Dr. Ch’ien was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 1993 and a Commander
\ N in the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire in 1994. In 1999, he was
\ ) awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star Medal. In August 2008, Dr. Ch'ien was
conferred the honour of Chevalier de I'Ordre du Mérite Agricole of France.
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Mr. Jack So Chak Kwong, aged 76, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. So assumed the
chairmanship of the Airport Authority Hong Kong in June 2015. He began
his career with the Hong Kong Government and joined the private sector
in 1978, having held various senior positions in stockbroking, banking and
property development. He served as an executive director of the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council from 1985 to 1992 and its chairman from 2007
to 2015. He was a chairman and a chief executive of the MTR Corporation
Limited from 1995 to 2003 and a deputy chairman and a group managing
director of PCCW Limited from 2003 to 2007.

Mr. So is also an independent non-executive director of AIA Group Ltd.
and is also a senior advisor to Credit Suisse, Greater China. He was an
independent director of HSBC from 2000 to 2007 and Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited from 2002 to 2015.

Mr. Jack So Chak Kwong Mr. So is the vice chairman of the Hong Kong Philharmonic Society. He

OB k4 served as chairman of the Hong Kong Film Development Council from 2007
to 2013. Mr. So was a member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference from 2008 to 2018 and was an international business advisor to
the Mayor of Beijing.

) ( A Justice of the Peace, Mr. So was awarded the Golden Bauhinia Star and
/ Grand Bauhinia Medal by the Hong Kong SAR Government in 2011 and 2017

9 respectively. He received an Honorary Doctorate in Social Science from the
N N University of Hong Kong in 2011.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
miREEEGE

Mr. Zhou Jianbo, aged 47, is a Senior Vice President of the
Company. From January to October 2018, he served as a senior
deputy director of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision
Department of CRH, and a senior deputy general manager of
China Resources Vanguard Company Limited (“CR Vanguard”);
from August 2015 to January 2018, he served as a deputy
director of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision Department
of CRH, as well as a deputy general manager of CR Vanguard;
Mr. Zhou holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Law from Jiangnan
University.
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Mr. Jiang Lihui, aged 58, is a Vice President of the Company.
From April 2016 to August 2019, he served as a Senior Vice
President of the Company. From June 2014 to April 2016, he
served as a Senior Vice President of the Company and Chairman
of China Resources Coal (Group) Co., Ltd. From May 2012 to
June 2014, he served as a Senior Vice President of the Company
and a General Manager of Coal Business Unit; from July 2010
to May 2012, he served as a Deputy General Manager of China
Resources New Energy, an Assistant President of the Company
and a General Manager of Hydropower Business Department.
From January 2010 to July 2010, he served as a Deputy Chief
Technical Officer of the Company. From July 2002 to January
2010, he served as a Deputy General Manager of China
Resources Power Hubei Co., Ltd, a General Manager of Xuzhou
Huaxin Power Generation Co., Ltd and a General Manager of
China Resources Hezhou Co., Ltd. From June 1995 to July 2002,
Mr. Jiang Lihui he served as a Deputy Chief Engineer and an Assistant General

EFE LA Manager of China Resources (Xuzhou) Electric Power Co., Ltd.
Mr. Jiang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mine Electrification and
Automatization from Heilongjiang Mineralogy College and an MBA
Degree from Huazhong University of Science and Technology. He
also holds the title of Senior Engineer.
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Mr. Hou Yongjie
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Mr. Hou Yongjie, aged 53, is a Vice President and the General
Manager of the Southern China Region of the Company. From
October 2017 to January 2021, he served as a Vice President
of the Company; from May 2016 to August 2017, he was the
General Manager of the Central and Western Region of the
Company; from May 2012 to May 2016, he was the General
Manager of the the Thermal Power Division of Henan Branch;
from January 2011 to May 2012, he was the Deputy General
Manager of the Henan Branch; from September 2010 to January
2011, he served as the Deputy General Manager of Henan
Branch and the General Manager of Dengfeng Project as well
as the General Manager of Luore Project; from September
2009 to September 2010, he served as the General Manager of
Shouyangshan Project and the General Manager of Luore project;
from October 2004 to September 2009, he successively served
as the Deputy General Manager and the General Manager of
Luore Project; from April 2003 to October 2004, he successively
served as the Assistant General Manager of the Production
Preparation Division of Dengfeng Project, the General Manager
of the Production Preparation Division, Head of the Power
Generation Department, and the Assistant Technical Director.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hou worked at the Gansu
Jingyuan Power Plant.
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Mr. Liu Xiusheng, aged 42, is a Vice President of the Company.
From November 2016 to June 2020, he served as an assistant
president of CR Gas Holdings, during which, he was also a
general manager of the human resources department and a
general manager of the party and mass work department of CR
Gas; from September 2012 to November 2016, he successively
served as a general manager of the human resources department
and a general manager of the party and mass work department
of CR Gas; from February 2011 to August 2012, he successively
served as a general manager and a senior manager of the human
resources department of CRH; from July 2006 to February 2011,
he was manager in the Beijing division of the human resources
department of CRH. Mr. Liu holds a Master’'s Degree in the
Harbin Institute of Technology.
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Mr. Xu Hongbo
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Mr. Xu Hongbo, aged 44, is an Assistant President of the
Company. From July 2017 to January 2021, he served as
the General Manager of the Strategic Development Division,
the Investment Management Director and an Officer of the
Investment Pre-approval Committee; from October 2014 to June
2017, he served as a qualified director and assistant director
of the Supervision Department of CRH; from August 2011 to
October 2014, he served as a Senior Manager, Chief Analyst
and Assistant Director of the Strategic Development Department
of the Company. From April 2004 to August 2011, he served as
a Qualified Engineer and Senior Manager of China Resources
Power (Changshu) Co., Ltd. and Jiangsu Branch of the Company.
Prior to joining the Company, he worked for Yangcheng
International Power Generation Co., Ltd. Mr. Xu holds a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree in Thermal Engineering from Wuhan
University of Hydraulic and Electric Engineering and a Master
of Engineering Degree in Electrical Engineering from Tsinghua
University. He also holds the title of Senior Engineer.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present the
Annual Report and the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally engages in investing, developing,
operating and managing power plants and coal mine projects
in China. The activities of its subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 50, 21 and 22 to the financial
statements, respectively.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated statement of profit or loss is set out on
page 140 and shows the Group’s profit for the year ended
31 December 2020. A discussion and analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 57 to 89 of this
Annual Report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is set out in
the sections headed “5-Year Summary”, “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” from pages 4 to 5,
pages 10 to 17, and pages 57 to 89 respectively of this Annual
Report and other parts of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include, but
are not limited to, operational risks, policy risks, industry risks,
market risks, business risks and financial risks.

Please refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 10 to 17
of this Annual Report for a discussion of the operational, policy,
market and business challenges and uncertainties facing the
Group; “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” on pages 57
to 89 of this Annual Report for a discussion on foreign exchange
rate risk facing the Group; and “Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements” on pages 277 to 294 of this Annual Report
for details of the financial risks facing the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group adheres to environmental sustainability throughout
its business operations. As a responsible corporation, and in
line with the energy and environmental protection strategies of
the Chinese Government, the Group strives to ensure minimal
environmental impacts by committing to conservation of
resources, promoting the development of clean and renewable
energy projects and improving on emission control.

Please refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 10 to 17 of
this Annual Report for a discussion of the Group’s development
in promoting Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG).

More details regarding the Group’s performance by reference
to environmental and social-related key performance indicators
and policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Company,
will be provided in the Sustainable Development Report to be
published by the Company pursuant to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” as set out in Appendix
27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and will be available on the
Company’s website at www.cr-power.com and the HKEx website
at (www.hkexnews.hk).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board places emphasis on the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
Updates on applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to
the attention of relevant employees and operation units from time
to time. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
has complied in all material respects with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of the
Group, including the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important assets and
their contribution and support are valued at all times. The
Group places importance on the career development of its
employees and organised trainings for employees to facilitate
their career development. In order to promote work-life balance
for employees, the Group created a competitive, yet united and
pleasant working environment to encourage improvement and
increased personal value to enhance their sense of belonging.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Company believes that maintaining good relationships with
stakeholders including customers and suppliers is one of the key
contributors to the Group’s success. The Group has established
stable long-term relationships with a number of customers
and suppliers, and has taken active steps to maintain good
cooperative relationships with its customers and suppliers and to
strengthen communication with them.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$0.225 per share of the Company
(“Share”) was paid on 23 October 2020.

The Board resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.406 per Share for the year ended 31 December
2020 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 18 June 2021, subject to
the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) to be held on Monday, 7
June 2021. The proposed dividend will be paid on Friday, 9 July
2021 following approval at the AGM of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in Note 15
to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the movement in the Shares issued by the Company
during the year are set out in Note 41 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company amounted to HK$18,952,516,000
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$18,563,211,000). Movements in
the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 145 to 146 of this Annual Report and Note 51(a) to the
financial statements, respectively.
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BORROWINGS

The total borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2020
amounted to HK$102,267,275,000 (2019: HK$87,903,748,000).
Particulars of borrowings are set out in Note 37 to the financial
statements.

BONDS AND NOTES ISSUED

The Group issued corporate bonds and notes with fixed rates
with face value amounting to RMB11,800,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$14,020,288,000) (2019: RMB12,085,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$13,491,090,000)) as at 31 December 2020, details of which
are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements. Such corporate
bonds and notes were issued in order to meet the Group’s
general funding requirement, including financing of capital
expenditure and refinancing of debts.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB175 million (2019: RMB117 million), of which
RMB75 million was accrued in 2016 and paid during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year of 2020 and as at
18 March 2021 are as follows:

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong  (Chairman, appointed on
27 March 2020)

Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan

Mr. Li Ru Ge (resigned from his role as Chairman and
Non-executive Director on 27 March
2020)

(resigned as a Non-executive Director
and Senior Consultant to the

President on 16 February 2020)

Mr. Ge Changxin

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Yong
Mr. Zhang Junzheng
Ms. Wang Xiao Bin

(President)

(Vice Chairman)

(Senior Vice President and Company
Secretary)
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung
Ms. Elsie Leung Oi-sie

Dr. Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung
Mr. Jack So Chak Kwong

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors had a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

Pursuant to Article 120 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Tang Yong, Ms. Wang Xiao Bin, Dr. Raymond
Ch’ien Kuo Fung and Ms. Elsie Leung Oi-sie, who are longest in
office, shall retire from office by rotation at the AGM and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors in regard to their
independence to the Company and considers that each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors is independent to the
Company.

As at the date of this report, among the Independent Non-
executive Directors, Mr. Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung, Ms. Elsie
Leung Oi-sie and Dr. Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung have served
more than 9 years.

Biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report
are set out on pages 18 to 32 of this Annual Report.

The Executive Directors are entitled to salaries and discretionary
bonuses determined by the Board at its absolute discretion
having regard to the Group’s performance and the prevailing
market conditions. The Independent Non-executive Directors
are entitled to director’s fees authorised by shareholders and
approved by the Board by reference to the prevailing market
conditions. Details of Directors’ remuneration are provided under
Note 12 to the financial statements.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BYFHITES:

SRR S
REHLL
BREBL
RS S

R-_E-_TF+_A=+—H HEgs=s
HAZR N Bl B AR Y B A Bl R] S {7 B A
RAITAR—FARNHECEEHER
AN F AL IERRIEER -

RERNABDERMAUEI1200% FEL
- FEMRLE  BREBLIRREFL
THEERERE  BRBRRBFAS LW
FER  EENEERUMEEEEE -

RATEREFRBILIFRTEERAR
FAIREBYMNFERRE  TRRESH
B IFITEF BN ARTA e

NARERH - BIUIFRITESSH - BR
FEE  REFLLIREREEBLHEHE
BaE -

BEERAHEAHNEERRAFRS
1BEZE32H -

HATESARESHSRBIBIEA - b))
HEFEEEEAKENFENRITHR
REENBET - BUFNTESTHREE
CHERREEMBEFEESERITHNER
HWENEEWE - EFMEFTHNYB
WARMFE12

Annual Report 2020 %% 37



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of persons who have served on the board of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the year and up to 18 March
2021 is available on the Company’s website at www.cr-power.com.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the President, Senior Vice Presidents, Vice
Presidents and Assistant Presidents of the Company as members
of the senior management team.

The emoluments of the members of the senior management team
who are not Executive Directors are provided in the Corporate
Governance Report on page 113 of this Annual Report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him or her as such Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgement is given in his or her favour, or in which he or she is
acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQO”)) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein:
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(A) The Company (A) AT
Details of Shares held by the Directors as at 31 December RZEBE-ZEF+_A=+—H =%
2020 are as follows: BENROEFBEOT -

Percentage of
the total issued

Number of shares of

issued ordinary the Company

shares held Long/short RN

Name of Director Capacity FEE®RT position ERITRA

EENH 56 EBERYE HE/ KR Btk

Tang Yong Beneficial Owner 300,000 Long 0.006%
EB EnEEA S

Zhang Junzheng Beneficial Owner 700,000 Long 0.015%
KRB EnEAA HE

Interest of Spouse 76,000 Long 0.002%
fo B e

Wang Xiao Bin Beneficial Owner 3,664,560 Long 0.076%
T EnEEA S

Wang Yan Beneficial Owner 44,000 Long 0.001%
IE EnEAA TR

Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung Interest of Spouse 4,000 Long 0.000%
BRE fo B e
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(B) CR Beer (B) EBEBE
CR Beer is an associated corporation of the Company (as =R SRR R EBEE (R
defined under the SFO). Details of shares in CR Beer held BENHEKRAFATE) EEFHNZ
by the Directors as at 31 December 2020 are as follows: T_EF+ A=+ —HRFAEERR
BER D EFIBLT -
Percentage
of the total
Number of issued shares
issued ordinary of CR Beer
shares held Long/short 1 EE B EE
Name of Director Capacity EEE®RT position ERITRAE
EEHR 54 LEREE HE/ KR Bak
Wang Yan Beneficial Owner 167,999 Long 0.005%
TE E=BEAA g
(C) CR Gas (C) EHEMER
CR Gas is an associated corporation of the Company (as Z MBI R R A EE (R
defined under the SFO). Details of shares in CR Gas held by BENHERAFATE) EEFHNZ
the Directors as at 31 December 2020 are as follows: EFEFFT A= —HEEEIN

TR BT -

Percentage

of the total

Number of issued shares

issued ordinary of CR Gas

shares held Long/short HEBRE

Name of Director Capacity BEE BT position BRITRA

EEns 56 EZERHE HRe/ KA Bol

Zhang Junzheng Beneficial Owner 10,000 Long 0.000%
R E I ERBEEA HE
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(D) CRLand

(E)

(D)

CR Land is an associated corporation of the Company (as
defined under the SFQO). Details of interest in CR Land held
by the Directors as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Name of Director

EEpS

Chen Ying

PR &

Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung
IR

Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung
R

Number of

issued ordinary
shares held

Capacity BEE T
54 EZBERYE
Beneficial Owner 500,000
EmEAA

Interest of Spouse 20,000
fo B

Interest of Spouse 40,000
@E’ {% Ei'g:? f\?;\_ (note) (7%)

Note: These 40,000 shares of CR Land in short position are listed derivatives
which have been physically settled and will expire on 30 June 2021.

CR Cement

(E)

CR Cement is an associated corporation of the Company (as
defined under the SFO). Details of shares in CR Cement held
by the Directors as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Name of Director

EEpS

Chen Ying
R &

Number of

issued ordinary
shares held
BHEEBT
EERHE

Capacity
54

Beneficial Owner 230,000

BEmEA A
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EHEM

EHEBH AR RINEEEE (BB
BENHERAFARE) EEFHNZ
E-TFE+_A=1+—HEHEEEHE
HERAFBOT

Percentage
of the total
issued shares
of CR Land
Long/short HEHEM
position ERITRA
HE/ KR BaL
Long 0.007%
S
Long 0.000%
S
short 0.000%
wRE

i 540,000 BEBEEMIA R BN RE K
BEREHEN ETITETR R T = —
FARA=THZIH -

KR

EEAORTI AR R/ AB A B (R 1%
BELBEGEOAE) EERZ
TEF+ A=+ —HFEBEHK
M FEBMT

Percentage
of the total
issued shares
of CR Cement

Long/short IR EE KR
position 2RITRA
"R/ KRR Aol
Long 0.003%

S
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(F) China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

(“CR Pharmaceutical”)

CR Pharmaceutical is an associated corporation of the
Company (as defined under the SFO). Details of shares in
CR Pharmaceutical held by the Directors as at 31 December

2020 are as follows:

Name of Director Capacity

Exns =47

Wang Yan Interest of Spouse
FE Ao B

(G) China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited

(“CR Mixc”)

CR Mixc is an associated corporation of the Company (as
defined under the SFO). Details of the shares in CR Mixc
held by the Directors as at 31 December 2020 are as

follows:

Number of
issued ordinary
shares held

FEEERT

EHBEEEARQT
([EHEE])

=R E AN R AR EE (R
BELBEEOFAE) EERZ
E_EF+_A=t+—HEAEHER
BRI

Percentage
of the total
issued shares

of CR

Pharmaceutical

Long/short CE 3 E A
position ERITRA

HE/ KR BOL
Long 0.000%
A

EREREERRLT
([#EREREED

ERHBRAFTIIARQRANEE LB
(BEBEBHFLBEKRIFARE) - EF
RIE-_TF+_A=+—RHE¥HE
HEREERGFBOT -

Name of Director

EEnA

Chen Ying
BRIE

Percentage

of the total

Number of issued shares

issued ordinary of CR Mixc

shares held Long/short {HEFEERERE

Capacity BEEE®RT position ERITRA

=i} EERHE "R/ KRR BoH

Beneficial Owner 3,461 Long 0.000%
EmBEAA "E
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ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

During the year, neither had, the Company’s holding company
nor their subsidiaries entered into any arrangement to enable
the Directors or the senior management of the Company or their
associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debt securities of, the Company or any associated
corporation and none of the Directors and senior management,
or their spouse and children under the age of 18, had any right
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised
any such right during the year.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company or its subsidiaries, parent company or fellow
subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director or his or her
connected entities had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or during the year.

In addition, there was no contract of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and its controlling
shareholder (or any of its subsidiaries) and there was no contract
of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by its controlling shareholder (or any of its
subsidiaries) subsisting during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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F TR

BRTXAREEN KRB TF+5
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (other than a Director or
chief executive, whose interests are disclosed in the section
headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities” above) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of the
Company as required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
recorded referred to therein:

Approximate
percentage of the
issued shares

Number of of the Company
issued ordinary  Long/short as at
Name of shareholder Note Capacity shares held position 31 December 2020
R-g-%F
+=BA=+—-~8
BFENERIT ERARERTRE
HERYE BREA
CRH (Power) Limited Beneficial owner 3,027,0083,337 Long 62.93%
BERBEEA )
CRH Interest in a 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
EHEE controlled e
corporation
R—RX LR
B RS
CRC Bluesky Limited Interest in 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
a controlled A
corporation
R—REZEEE
B
China Resources Interest in 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
Co., Limited* (“CRC”) a controlled A
EHRNDERA corporation
(TEEK ﬁj) R—REZEEE
B
CRCL Interest in 3,027,905,337 Long 62.94%
B & a controlled S}
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Note: 1. CRH (Power) Limited is a subsidiary of CRH, which is a 100% subsidiary of
CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn owned as to 100% by CRC, which
is in turn held as to 100% by CRCL. Each of CRH, CRCL, CRC and CRC
Bluesky Limited is deemed by virtue of Part XV of the SFO to have the same
interests in 3,027,003,337 Shares as those of CRH (Power) Limited. CRH,
through another wholly-owned subsidiary, is interested in 902,000 Shares of
the Company. Accordingly, each of CRCL, CRC and CRC Bluesky Limited
is deemed by virtue of Part XV of the SFO to have the same interests in the
902,000 Shares as those of CRH.

* For translation purposes only

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Group under the Listing Rules. Those
continuing connected transactions which are subject to the
reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are
summarised below.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

(1)

On 20 December 2018, the Company entered into the
Property Lease Framework Agreement 2018 with CRH. The
term of the agreement is two years from 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2020. Pursuant to the Property Lease
Framework Agreement 2018, the Group may lease certain
properties (including buildings and lands) and procure
related management services for certain properties from
CRH and its associates. The proposed annual caps for
the transactions contemplated under the Property Leasing
Framework Agreement 2018 for each of the years ending 31
December 2019 and 2020 were RMB70 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$80 million) and RMB85 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$97 million), respectively. In
view of the increase in office space rented by the Company
from CRH and rental expense, the Board anticipates that
the Original Property Services Annual Caps for the financial
years ending 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020
will not be sufficient. Accordingly, the Board proposes to
revise and increase the Original Property Services Annual
Caps for the financial years ending 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2020 to RMB75 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$85 million) and RMB90 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$102 million), respectively. CRH held
approximately 62.94% interest in the Company at the time
of the transaction and is the controlling shareholder of
the Company. Therefore, it is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing
connected transactions are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 20 December 2018 and 9 December
2019. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total
rent paid by the Group to CRH and its associates for
leasing office space was RMB80.49 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$90.15 million).
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On 21 December 2016, the Company and CR Cement
entered into the Power Supply Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Company shall supply electricity to
CR Cement, its subsidiaries or associates through direct
power supply and agency power supply, for a term of
one year from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017. At
the time of the transaction, CRH, which was interested in
approximately 62.98% of the equity of the Company, is the
controlling shareholder of the Company. CR Cement is an
associate of CRH and therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing
connected transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 21 December 2016. On 1 November
2017, the Company and CR Cement entered into a new
Power Supply Framework Agreement for a term of three
years from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. From 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2020, the proposed annual
cap for transactions under the Power Supply Framework
Agreement is expected to be RMB1,490 million (equivalent
to approximately HK 1,728 million). At the time of the
transaction, CRH, which was interested in approximately
62.94% of the equity of the Company, is the controlling
shareholder of the Company. CR Cement is an associate
of CRH and therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 1 November 2017. During the year ended 31
December 2020, the transaction amounts with CR Cement,
its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are RMB3.40
million (equivalent to approximately HK$3.81 million) in
respect of the retail power agency services provided and
power supply of the Group.
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(3)

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company
dated 22 November 2010, 19 December 2013 and 18
December 2015, respectively in relation to, among other
things, the entering of the Strategic Cooperation Agreement.
The Company has entered into another new strategic
cooperation agreement (“CR Bank Strategic Cooperation
Agreement 2018”) with CR Bank on 24 December 2018
whereby new annual caps were revised taking into account
of the Group’s liquidity, business needs and the expected
level of services to be received from CR Bank under the CR
Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2018. The term of
the CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2018 is 3
years commencing from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2021. Under the CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement
2018, CR Bank provides deposit services bearing the same
interest and on the same terms and conditions as would
apply to a similar deposit made by any other customer of
the bank, which rates assessed with reference to the rates
published by the People’s Bank of China. CR Bank also
provides commercial banking services, including credit
services (such as commercial loans, bill acceptance and
discount services and account receivable factoring services),
settlement services, agency services (such as entrustment
loan, insurance and custodian services), cash management
services, financial advisory services, and other financial
services as agreed by the parties. These services will be
provided on normal commercial terms and such service fees
shall not be higher than the net discounted fees offered to
other preferred customers of CR Bank. The maximum daily
deposit cap, inclusive of interest payable, and the maximum
daily cap of financial services and products to be provided
by CR Bank to the Group during the term of the CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2018 are RMB2 billion
(equivalent to HK$2.3 billion) and RMB1 billion (equivalent
to HK$1.1 billion) respectively. For the period between 1
January 2020 and 31 December 2020, the maximum daily
deposit amount was approximately RMB297.30 million
(equivalent to HK$353.79 million), and the commercial
loans provided amounted to RMB23.00 million (equivalent
to HK$27.37 million). Details of the continuing connected
transaction are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 24 December 2018.
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In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that save for these transactions, other continuing
connected transactions of the Company conducted during
the year ended 31 December 2020, were exempted from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and that the
above continuing connected transactions:

(i)  have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of
the Company’s business;

(i)  have been entered into on normal commercial terms or
better; and

(ili) have been entered into on terms that are fair and reasonable
for and in the interest of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole, and in accordance with the terms of the
agreements governing such transactions.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
its unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by
the Group on page 46 to 48 of the Annual Report in accordance
with paragraph 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Save for the following transactions, none of the related party
transactions contained in Note 49 to the financial statements falls
under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” within the meaning of the Listing Rules:

(1) The two trademark licence agreements dated 17 October
2003 entered into between the Company and CRCL and
CRH respectively, under which the Company was granted
irrevocable, royalty free and non-exclusive licences to use
certain trademarks and the rights to sub-license the same
to any member of the Group in consideration of nominal
amount of HK$1 each.
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(2) Significant transactions with related parties during the year: (2) FRNHEBEEHIMNEARS :

Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions

b NCIEE A% RHMHE

CRH Intermediate holding  Interest expense paid 145,560
EHEE company BENFEER
R A A

Certain subsidiaries of CRH Fellow subsidiaries Supply of direct power 144
EHEENETHBAR EES0 NG BEEHEE

Providing retail power 15,632
agency services

REZESNRERK

Providing integrated energy 4,670
services

LR S ERRT

Providing agency service fee 270

RUERIBRSGE

Software maintenance 484
expense paid

B4 ER X

Trademark use fee 9,496

BERERE

Purchase of consumables 22,337

FEEHRm

Professional fee 1,568

EXEH

Purchase of fuel 6,065

FEEMH

Purchase of materials 8,060

BEME

Rental expense 10,239

Aemx

Management fee 4,107

ERE

Insurance expense 28

R B2 B 2

Other expense 374

H A5

Certain joint ventures of CR Cement  Joint ventures of Providing retail power 2,791
ERKENETEELE fellow subsidiary agency services
RIZKELRRZ RETEBNIRERE

AERE
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2020
ke 322
Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’000
FAENAIEHE BB R RHME FET
Certain subsidiaries of CR Land Fellow subsidiaries Providing maintenance service 4,277
FHEMNETHELRR EESin)NC] ROtERRY
Rental expense 78,273
HeEH
Transportation fee 15
RBE
Management fee 851
BERE
Renovation fee 3,453
EEER
Other expense 4,472
Ht &R
China Resources Energy Service Co., Fellow subsidiary Contract environment 8,040
Ltd. EESL NG management fee, contract
EHRRREER AR energy management fee and

exclusive operation fee
BRARREERER  BORR

ERERARFALEER
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Fellow subsidiary Interest expense paid 82
Company Limited EEANIEING ENFEER
KEEBRITRNOHBR QA Interest income 5,351
FEHBA
Certain associates of the Group Associate Sales of electricity 385,006
AEENETHELE BEdE HEE N
Sales of coal 825,711
HEKIX
Sales of heat 64,911
HE Zhae
Purchase of fuel 9,681
EE MK
Electricity trading fee 1,222
BIR5ER
Providing agency service fee 47,023
REREREE
Providing maintenance service 56,656
REEERS
Service income 2,839
MRAEHA
Rental income 161
EELION
Short term lease expense 30
KEHEER
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2020
—T-FF
Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’'000
pENEIES BE R RHME FET
Interest expense paid 15,381
ENFEER
Interest income 3
M S A
Certain joint ventures of the Joint ventures Sales of electricity 2,635
Group AEL¥E HEE
REENETEERE Sales of coal 50,946
HE R R
Sales of materials 210,203
HE W
Sales of heat 84,773
iHE 2R
Sales of by-products 4,547
HEBIEm
Providing agency service fee 36,729
RERIBREE
Providing maintenance service 11,519
R RS
Providing integrated 7,885
energy services
REZEBERRS
Service income 26,368
MRAEHA
Management fee income 88,854
BEEERA
Maintenance expenses 131,549
HEER
Interest expense paid 13,473
ENFISER
Interest income 5,570
M S A
Certain non-controlling Non-controlling Interest income 727
shareholder of the Group shareholder M EdA

REBRE T IFERBIR IR
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(3) Compensation to the Company’s key management forms
part of the “Key Management Compensation” described in
note 49(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These
are continuing connected transactions exempted from the
connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.76 or
14A.95 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to
the continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers together
accounted for 27.48% of the Group’s total purchases during the
year. The five largest suppliers are i< REEEHD AR A7
(Xinjlang Goldwind Science & Technology Co., Ltd.) (6.14%), &5&
R 2S£ B AR AR (Jinneng Holding Coal Industry Group Co.,
Ltd.) (5.52%), PRFAEEREH(EE)BEREEAF (Shaanxi Coal
Selling and Transportation (Group) Corporation) (5.44%), 1#%E 4
EE£E AR A7 (Shenhua Trading Group Co., Ltd.) (5.23%) and
FRERMNE hIEM T AR A A (CRRC Zhuzhou Institute Co.,
Ltd.) (5.15%).

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers together accounted
for 47.01% of the Group’s total turnover during the year. The
five largest customers are BI#)T# & BT JJ/A 7] (Jiangsu Electric
Power Company) (15.59%), BI#3)E& % 727 (Henan Electric
Power Company) (10.01%), B##H1tEE 1727 (Hubei Electric
Power Company) (8.48%), BEREMBREE A7 (Guangdong
Power Grid Co., Ltd.) (7.32%) and BEIREAH R FIZEILHE (North
China Branch of State Grid Corporation of China) (5.62%).
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SEBHKS

At no time during the year did a Director, a close associate
of a Director or a shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued shares) have any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY"’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or
redeem any listed securities of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied all of the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the“Code”) continued in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules and complied with the code provisions of the Code.
The Company also adopted most of the recommended best
practices in the said Code.

The Code on Corporate Governance Practices of the Company
is set out in Corporate Governance Report on page 90 to 131 of
this Annual Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (“MODEL
CODE")

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The financial statements have been reviewed by the Audit
and Risk Committee. In 2020, four of the five Audit and Risk
Committee members are Independent Non-executive Directors,
with the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee having
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in financial
matters.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year were audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu. The Company will submit a resolution at the
forthcoming AGM to recommend the re-appointment of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the independent auditor of the Company.

PricewaterhouseCoopers retired as an independent auditor of
the Company at the 2020 AGM and Deloittee Touche Tohmatsu
was appointed at the 2020 AGM.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
Annual Report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25%
of the Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing
Rules.

On behalf of the Board
China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited

Wang Chuandong
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 18 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR 2020
Renewable energy development

In 2020, the Group accelerated the development of renewable
energy. The Group fully facilitated the construction and grid
connection of approved projects, and actively developed
and obtained new project reserves in the market. According
to national regulations, approved wind power projects that
are eligible for subsidised power tariffs must complete grid
connection by the end of 2020, failing to do so, such projects
will no longer be entitled to the power tariffs as specified in the
approved documents. During the year, the Group fully promoted
the construction and grid connection of its subsidy-eligible
renewable energy projects (mostly wind power projects). In
2020, despite COVID-19 and challenges brought by the rushed
installation of wind power projects, the attributable installed
capacity of new grid-connected wind power and photovoltaic
power hit a record high of 4,168MW and 279MW respectively,
a total of 4,447MW. Attributable installed capacity of 1,108MW
and 99MW of wind power and photovoltaic power were put
into commercial operation in 2020. As the grid connection of
the remaining 3,060MW of wind power projects and 180MW of
photovoltaic power projects was close to the end of last year,
these projects are expected to be commissioned in 2021.

As at the end of 2020, the Group obtained approvals or
filed for 1,066MW of wind power projects and 5,631MW of
photovoltaic projects, a total of 6,696MW. This will enable the
Group to achieve sustainable growth in the future. The record
high number of photovoltaic projects paved the future of the
Group in accelerating the development of photovoltaic projects.
Meanwhile, the Group proactively expanded onshore and offshore
wind power projects around the country and a number of projects
have commenced preliminary works.

In 2020, Core Profit contribution from renewable energy business
amounted to HK$4,521 million, accounting for approximately
46.4% of Core Profit of the Group. With the accelerated
development and commissioning of renewable energy projects,
profit contribution from renewable energy to the Group will
increase substantially in the future.
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In response to the increase in accumulated renewable energy
subsidy receivables as a result of delayed renewable energy
subsidy payments by the government, the Group issued asset-
backed notes of RMB1.45 billion in respect of the renewable
energy subsidies for the first time in 2020, with overall issue
cost of 3.84%. Through the issuance, the Group has established
a mechanism for asset securitisation in respect of renewable
energy subsidy receivables, which will further help reduce the
total amount of receivables and achieve early recovery of funds.

Generation capacity

As at the end of 2020, the Group had a controlled generation
capacity of 55,371MW and an attributable operational generation
capacity of 43,365MW. The attributable operational generation
capacity of our thermal power plants amounted to 32,127MW or
74.1%; wind, hydro and photovoltaic power generation capacity
combined amounted to 11,238MW or 25.9%, representing an
increase of 2.6 percentage points from the end of 2019.

The grid connection for certain wind and photovoltaic power
projects was close to the end of last year and these projects
will be put into commercial operation upon completion of
trial operations within this year. The construction and grid
connection for the above projects were completed by the end
of 2020. Taking into account the attributable installed capacity
of 3,240MW from the wind and photovoltaic power projects that
have grid-connected by the end of 2020 but to be commissioned
in 2021, the attributable generation capacity of grid-connected
wind, hydro and photovoltaic power projects amounted to 31.1%
at the end of 2020.

At the end of 2020, the Group’s attributable operational wind
power generation capacity amounted to 10,396MW, 3,060MW
have grid-connected but not yet put into commercial operation
and 1,119MW have commenced construction; attributable
operational photovoltaic generation capacity reached 562MW,
180MW have grid-connected but not yet put into commercial
operation and 2MW have commenced construction; attributable
operational hydro-electric generation capacity was 280MW and
107MW under construction.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year, the Group newly commissioned a 1x1,000MW
ultra-supercritical generation unit in Caofeidian (Phase Il), Hebei,
51% owned; 2x350MW heat and power co-generation units in
Yundong, Cangzhou, Hebei, 90% owned by the Group; and
a 1x660MW heat and power co-generation unit in Jinzhou,
Liaoning, 50% owned. Newly commissioned thermal power
attributable generation capacity was 1,470MW. As at the end
of 2020, the attributable capacity of coal-fired units under
construction amounted to 2,528MW, including a 660MW heat
and power co-generation unit in Jinzhou (Phase ll), Liaoning,
50% owned; 2x660MW units in Xiantao Power Plant, Hubei,
100% owned; 2x350MW units in Ningwu Power Plant, Shanxi,
50% owned; 2x660MW units in Fuyang (Phase Il), Anhui, 40%
owned. The attributable capacity of natural gas distributed energy
projects under construction amounted to 234MW units.

COVID-19

When COVID-19 broke out in late January 2020, while ensuring
the safety of employees, the Group made every effort to
ensure power supply. Our Hubei Pugi Power Plant served as a
supporting point for power supply in Hubei and certain regions
in Wuhan, to support Hubei in combating the epidemic. The
Company has adopted various measures to ensure the safety
of employees in various offices, construction and operational
projects, and has actively assisted cities where the Company’s
operations are located to fight the epidemic. So far, none of
the employees of the Group has been infected. As the wind
power projects that are eligible for power tariff subsidies must
complete grid connection by the end of 2020, construction and
production work of the Group was fully resumed in March 2020.
Provided that the safety of employees and construction workers
was secured, the Group made full efforts in accomplishing the
construction work of wind farms and photovoltaic power stations.

Gross and net generation volume

In 2020, net generation volume of the subsidiary power plants
amounted to 154,944GWh, up by 3.9% from 2019. Net
generation volume of wind and photovoltaic power stations
increased by 21.6% and 7.5% respectively from 2019. Net
generation volume of subsidiary thermal power plants increased
by 1.8%.

Average full-load equivalent utilisation hours of wind farms which
were operational throughout the year was 2,236 hours, an
increase of 36 hours or 1.6% as compared to 2019, exceeding
the national average utilisation hours for wind power generation
units by 163 hours.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Average full-load equivalent utilisation hours of subsidiary coal-
fired power plants which were operational throughout the year
was 4,489 hours, a decrease of 246 hours or 5.2% as compared
to 2019, exceeding the national average utilisation hours for
thermal power plants by 273 hours.

In 2020, net generation volume of our consolidated power plants
that followed market-based pricing accounted for 67.9%, and
that participated in direct power supply (including bilateral long-
term agreements and on-grid competitive bidding) accounted
for 56.9%. Average tariff (exclusive of tax) of the direct power
supply volumes was at a discount of 7.4% as compared with the
average benchmark on-grid tariff, further narrowing as compared
to that in 2019.

Heat supply operation

As at the end of 2020, 94% of the thermal power projects of the
Group have expanded into the heating market, and commenced
heat supply operations to residential, industrial and commercial
customers, covering a total of 175 million square meters in
16 cities across China. The Group provided steaming to 441
industrial and commercial customers. In 2020, turnover from heat
supply operations amounted to HK$5,626 million, representing an
increase of 9.4% from last year.

Fuel costs

Average unit fuel cost of the subsidiary coal-fired power plants
was RMB190.7 per MWh, representing a decrease of 6.4%
as compared to 2019. Average unit cost of standard coal was
RMB640.7 per tonne, representing a decrease of 5.8% as
compared to 2019.

Average net generation standard coal consumption rate of
the subsidiary coal-fired power plants was 296.0g per kWh,
representing a decrease of 0.6g or 0.2% from 296.6g per kWh in
2019.

Capital expenditure

In 2020, cash capital expenditure of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$31,279 million, of which HK$24,972 million
was used in the construction of wind, photovoltaic and hydro-
electric power plants, approximately HK$3,588 million was used
in the construction of thermal power units, HK$1,249 million
was used in the technological upgrades of operating coal-fired
power units, approximately HK$1,260 million was used in the
construction of coal mines, and approximately HK$210 million
was used in the construction of comprehensive energy services
projects.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Rapid development of renewable energy

The Group will continue to make every effort to accelerate the
development and construction of wind and photovoltaic projects.
In the coming five years (i.e. the 14th Five Year Plan period), the
Group aims to increase its installed capacity of renewable energy
by 40 million kKW. It is expected that the mix of installed capacity
of renewable energy will exceed 50% by the end of the 14th Five
Year Plan period (i.e. the end of 2025).

The grid connection target for wind and photovoltaic projects of
the Group for 2021 is expected to be 2,510MW. The 3,240MW
of wind and photovoltaic projects that have grid-connected but
not yet put into commercial operations last year, the generation
capacity that commenced construction at the end of last year and
the construction projects for this year will all continue to promote
the rapid increase in installed capacity of renewable energy of the
Group.

Striving to reduce carbon emission

Based on current estimates, the Group’s carbon emissions will
peak in 2025. The path for the Group to control and lower its
carbon emissions includes: proactive development of renewable
energy; strict control over new coal-fired power generation units;
reduction of coal consumption through increasing heat supply,
biomass coupling and technological transformations; active
piloting of carbon capture, utilisation and storage (“CCUS”)
technologies.

The Group has been actively piloting CCUS technologies. The
Group established Asia’s first multi-threaded, multi-technology
carbon capture testing platform, which is based on the ultra-
supercritical coal-fired power generation units in Haifeng Power
Plant. The Group will continue to explore the application of
carbon capture technologies in the power industry.

The Group’s thermal power plants will continue to explore the
application and promotion of biomass coupling technology
to proactively treat industrial and environmental waste in the
community. As at the end of 2020, 14 of our coal-fired power
plants have adopted waste incineration. For example, Haifeng
Power Plant conducts sludge treatment for Shenzhen, which is
the largest sludge coupling incineration comprehensive treatment
in the world. The project covers an area of 20,000 square
meters, with daily incineration capacity of 6,000 tonnes (80%
water content). This can eliminate pollutants more thoroughly and
convert energy more effectively. The Group will further promote
the waste treatment capabilities of its coal-fired power plants.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2021, the Group expects to commission an attributable
capacity of 515MW of coal-fired and gas-fired power generation
units, including: a 660MW ultra-supercritical heat and power co-
generation unit in Jinzhou (Phase Il), Liaoning, 50% owned; a
83MW gas-fired distributed generation unit in Taixing, Jiangsu,
100% owned; and a 102MW gas-fired distributed generation unit
in Zhuhai, Guangdong, 100% owned.

Actively exploring new businesses

The Group has constructed 8 energy storage projects, with a
total energy storage capacity of 742MW, mainly to serve the
requirement of the power grid-side energy storage devices.

The Group has implemented a series of energy conservation
services and distributed energy projects, leveraging on
the diversified advantages of China Resources Group, and
collaborating with its sister companies to actively explore
distributed energy, energy reduction and energy efficiency
improvement in the comprehensive energy business of chemical
plants, cement plants, logistics centers and commercial buildings.
The Group will further promote the exploration and development
of new businesses.

In 2021, the cash capital expenditure is expected to be
approximately HK$30.00 billion, including approximately
HK$23.20 billion for the construction of wind and photovoltaic
power projects, approximately HK$4.50 billion for the
construction of thermal power units (including coal-fired and gas-
fired power generation units), approximately HK$1.74 billion for
technological upgrades of operational coal-fired power generation
units, and approximately HK$0.56 billion for the construction of
coal mines.

The development of the power industry is closely related to
the national macro-economy, and is influenced by government
policies. The Group will make timely and necessary responses
and adjustments in business implementation based on the supply
and demand situation of the domestic power market and national
policies.

O2 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #BE NiZRERA

2021 FATAFHIREM RN R EFEH

MRS ERASHESI5KE - BIEEER
d‘|‘|:/\ - 66OJ|:,]—:L%LEEW)\ %H%}-EZE%

e REBHEAZEEBS0%ME T E
ZESIKENMAMRIEBEE - AEE %
F100% i51E : RERKEF 102K E DM
NARIEE @ AEEHE 100% I8 -

MG ER

AEBEEERSEREER  #F
B742)KF  TEREAETHEAD
B o

%"ﬂ'

%ﬁﬁ n>}

NS
BE

=Nl

B

AEEEER T —HEERRBND
RIER - MHEBEEZTLES  HE
BEEBETABEE ELEIRK - KR
B RH L BEREFEBRBRERD M
BRI EAERE - RTTBEME ARG BEIR
o RIAGHE — F B XN
TR

D 2 BE

TEF 2021 F 3 ¢ B AN X 4 /& 300.01&
B B 4232 THAREE « IR
BN ER Y45 BB THR ANE#A
(BREMREFRAEE)NER: H17.4
BB TN E &S M AR /9 Bl ied
#)5.6 BB TTRHREBAER -

BENEBNERAEZZELHEEEM
W ARXBNRROZE - AREKR
BEAHE BRBREEXHATHE
R - BDENESMAE -



OPERATING RESULTS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Turnover

Operating expenses
Fuels
Depreciation and amortisation
Employee benefit expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Consumables
Impairment charges
Tax and surcharges
Others

Total operating expenses

Other income
Other gains and losses

Operating profit

Finance costs

Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Perpetual capital securities holders
Other non-controlling interests

Basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company during the year

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2020
—
HK$’000
TET

69,550,811

(32,494,062)
(11,712,737)
(6,000,882)
(2,118,862)
(1,043,317)
(599,893)
(700,722)

(2,157,142)

(56,827,617)

2,460,379

(1,090,381)

14,093,192
(3,422,294)
555,373

244,058

11,470,329

(2,793,994)

8,676,335

7,582,668
235,327

858,340

8,676,335

HK$1.587 7T
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2019
=—N&F
HK$’000

FH&TT

67,757,632

(33,317,542)
(10,631,129)
(5,190,039)
(1,954,437)
(1,035,835)
(2,284,134)
(765,388)
(2,684,470)

(57,862,974)

2,851,010
142,790

12,888,458
(3,786,511)
192,537
358,532

9,653,016
(2,311,622)

7,341,394

6,590,345

751,049

7,341,394

HK$1.37/8 7T



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2020

FRFH

Other comprehensive income (loss): HEm2mEUBA(BE) :
Iltems that may be reclassified subsequently —HE & A[fEE #7728 2 18 s /Y
to profit or loss HH

Profit for the year

Currency translation differences fE N E%
Share of other comprehensive income of R R EZERER
investments accounted for using AR e s

the equity method

Release to profit or loss in relation
to disposal of subsidiaries

Release to profit or loss in relation
to disposal of associates

ltems that will not be reclassified to profit

or loss

Fair value changes on equity investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income, net of tax

REK BN RERE S

REREDEEE RS
TREEFT DI ERas ) H H

AR BEFEAZSTA

Hr & s s
BREAABEEZH(HIEK)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for FAEMEEREA
the year, net of tax (E518) (Big)

FRAZEBRALRE(TIER)

Total comprehensive income for the year,

net of tax
Attributable to: FEERN
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE Y =N
Perpetual capital securities holders KABRFBHFAA
Other non-controlling interests E b IESE S i e
Total comprehensive income for the year, FAEEBALTE(FIZ)

net of tax
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2020
—F-FF

HK$’000
FTET

8,676,335

8,107,285

98,262
2,401

(20,639)

463,959
8,651,268

17,327,603

15,641,711
235,327

1,450,565

17,327,603

2019
—ZE—NF
HK$’'000
FET

7,341,394

(2,271,465)

(131,779)
(15,146)

17,401

30,590

(2,370,399)

4,970,995

4,432,883
16,050
522,062

4,970,995



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B O R &
2020128318

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2020

2020
—E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FHETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B k& VRSP 150,581,102
Right-of-use assets EREEE 5,703,539 5,377,588
Goodwill B 745,354 773,405
Mining rights iR 4,464,641 320,628
Exploration and resources rights &R Bk 161,205 151,462
Deferred tax assets BT EE 861,407 744,390
Other receivables and prepayments e W sk I8 I B IR 9,541,081 11,937,592
Interests in associates N = 0L 8,203,530 8,833,069
Interests in joint ventures N EPENER 5,778,918 5,158,844

Financial assets at fair value through other AR BETEAE
comprehensive income (FVOCI) FFAEAMERE W
e RlEE

MU ARBEFEEEH
FFAHAMAR S WA
WIRE R RIERK 319,223 339,633

A IEZE IR R E R 14,852 13,954

2,383,337 1,934,571
Loans to a FVOCI investee company

Loans to a non-controlling shareholder

PACRERA P 186,166,238

Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 2,911,509 3,171,932
Trade receivables, other receivables FEUMBRFR « H b U IE &

and prepayments B KIR JPIRPLVE 20,395,018
Loans to associates MBS B EER 220,772 32,821
Loans to joint ventures mMEETEER 300,080 415,059

GOSN TR P L)
SPAR k5 & Wzt

Loans to a FVOCI investee company

WIRE R RIERK 131,519 83,867

Amounts due from associates JE Wik 5 1 ZE FRIR 120,076 27,348
Amounts due from joint ventures W& &b EFIR 62,837 21,141
Amounts due from other related companies &Y E 1th B8 A R FUIE 126,241 89,493
Pledged and restricted bank deposits B R Z R HI8R1T1F 5K 300,087 425,503
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEEY 5,036,484 4,907,306
40,638,025 29,569,488

Total assets nEE LN RIRCKYA 215,735,726
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Other reserves
Retained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Perpetual capital securities holders

Other non-controlling interests
Total equity

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred income

Retirement and other long-term
employee benefits obligations

Other long-term payable

Current liabilities

Trade payables, other payables

and accruals
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to other related companies

Tax liabilities
Borrowings

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities
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2020
—E-FF

HK$’000
T8

22,316,710
16,906,139

46,579,919

85,802,768

10,827,061

9,320,463

105,950,292

82,109,487
421,748
892,045
608,780
978,306

887,433

2,718,914

88,616,713

33,586,853
1,720,182
183,165
1,115,631
683,231
6,458,016
1,160,066

20,157,788
65,064,932

153,681,645

259,631,937

2019
—ZE—NEF
HK$’000
FHIT

22,316,710
8,225,686
42,381,583

72,923,979

5,681,750
8,210,284

86,716,013

68,763,429
432,157
826,903
480,933
740,073

115,002

71,358,497

28,719,884
1,309,434
210,811
468,532
140,549
6,747,540
924,147
19,140,319

57,661,216
129,019,713

215,735,726



Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December 2020

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment charges
Exchange losses (gains)
Interest expense
Interest income
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures
Dividends income from
FVOCI investee companies

Losses (gains) on disposal of

property, plant and equipment
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries
Gains on disposal of associates

Changes in working capital:

Decrease in inventories
Increase in trade receivables,

other receivables and prepayments
Increase in trade payables,

other payables and accruals
Increase in retirement and

other long-term employee

benefits obligations
Income tax paid

EEED
4 FF 18 LA 7
B

47 5 L0 3
B

EHBESHEBR
BZE2020512A81 ALLEE

/H

bE 56 Bk (as )

HMEFX
FBIA
FE(G B = 1
iEE &R

E$ 3

AR EEN SRS

FEAEAD
B A B K
HEDE -

AR W Y
BIR B R A
A
= B R

MBS 1R (Yas)

8 A
HEHBLQ
&5 B i b
LEETHE
FERD
PR AR
SSEENE N
FEAS IR K ~
KIE &
FEETRIK N

BEMWK S
L6
EL 6

H i W SRIB
TEE N

H e 5R08
FA3E hn
HiRE

B TR AL N

EPEHR

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES E& ZBELNERLEEE

2020

=t BF ¥

[ —

HK$’000
FET

11,470,329

11,712,737
599,893
878,392

3,422,294
(348,549)
(555,373)
(244,058)

(125,760)
215,224
(27,582)
(1,736)
(4,891)
482,099
(6,261,275)

1,511,050

772,441

(2,792,962)

20,702,273
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HK$'000
BT

9,653,016

10,631,129
2,284,134
(69,775)
3,786,511
(367,750)
(192,537)
(358,532)

(386,627)
(621)
(17,024)
(41,614)
(33,054)
60,348
(3,032,421)
577,629

58,273
(2,043,506)

20,507,579



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividends received from associates
and joint ventures
Dividends received from
subsidiaries disposed of in prior years
Dividends received from
FVOCI investee companies

Interests received
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment,
mining rights and right-of-use assets

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries

Proceeds from disposal of associates

Proceeds from disposal of
a FVOCI investment

Loans to associates

Loans repaid by associates

Loans repaid by joint ventures

Loans to joint ventures

Loans to other related parties

Loans repaid by other related parties

Additional investment made into FVOCI

Capital contributions into associates
Capital contributions into joint ventures
Government grants related to assets

NET CASH USED IN
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

REFED

BB EAERAEEERE

BEYAEFERE
ERf= NG ¥
BEWARAREBEFELZS
FEAEMARS W
TREEMNRRE QA
RS
B WF B
Wi - BB Mk
RIRREMEREEE
P S A 9 3RO
HEWE - BERREN
EREEERNMEHKIA

HE KB A RIS 308
S & B R PTISUR
HEARRBEFELES
FEARAAR S W E
[FE SRR ER

e b EEREER
BELXEEER
AREREER

[ H fth B BSE 75 B K

H A BaRe 5 BEE R
AR EEFTEBZS)
AFAEMARS WA
TREEMNREIMEE

A EERTE
AEEEETE

B 7 A B A U R

RETBRANRESER

68 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #FHEHZKRER A

2020
—E-FF

HK$’000
T8

1,055,217

264,888

246,645
36,705

(30,528,698)

204,597

583,786

349,147
(182,591)
256,398
(117,695)

(8,745)

(74,495)

(73,259)

(652,590)
16,501

(28,624,189)

2019
—ZE—NEF
HK$’000
FHIT

1,605,309

241,264
310,682

(22,541,915)

88,683
1,381,584
430,398

11,157
4,095
(370,602)
(221,556)
258,938

(24,757)
(167,954)
(2,444,245)
43,472

(21,395,447)



FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of
perpetual capital securities
Proceeds from issuance of
corporate bonds and notes
Redemption of corporate bonds and notes
Advances from an intermediate
holding company
Repayment of advance from
an intermediate holdings company
Proceeds from disposal of interests in
subsidiaries without loss of control
Capital contributions by
non-controlling interests
Capital reductions by
non-controlling interests
Advances from (repayment of
advances from) associates
Advances from (repayment of
advances from) joint ventures
Repayment of advances to
other related companies
Repayment of advances to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries
Principal elements of lease payments
Interests paid
Dividends paid to owners of the Company
Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries
Interests paid to perpetual capital
securities holders
Underwriting fees for issuance of
perpetual capital securities

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2020
—E-BF

HK$’000
T

42,912,951
(33,589,910)
5,257,010

2,274,560
(2,568,454)

2,464,380
(2,783,279)
110,722

173,103

607,147
469,660

(97,749)

(168,307)
(3,975,038)
(2,755,790)

(589,773)

(235,327)

(11,059)

7,494,847

(427,069)

4,907,306

556,247

5,036,484
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2019
—FE-NF
HK$’000
TATT

34,881,749
(41,838,193)
5,565,700

5,519,772
(5,612,090)

6,238,035

1,383,919
262,601
(121,526)
(850,466)
(481,878)
(107,452)
(20,978
(99,981

(4,230,420
(1,938,011

—_— = T =

(635,294)

(2,084,513)

(2,972,381)
7,977,153

(97,460)

4,907,306



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Changes in accounting standards

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments,

which are measured at fair values.

Other than additional accounting policies as resulting from
application of amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), the accounting policies and methods of
computation used in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 are the same as those presented
in the Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2019.

(@) New and amended standards adopted by the Group,
effective for financial years beginning on or after 1

January 2020:

In the current reporting period, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on
or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of Material

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current reporting period has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
year and prior year and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.
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(b)

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impacts of application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that states
“information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the
nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in
combination with other information, in the context of the
financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current reporting
period had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements. Changes in presentation and disclosures on the
application of the amendments, if any, will be reflected on
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The Group has not early adopted new and amended
standards that have been issued but are not effective
for the financial year beginning after 1 January 2020

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the reporting
period ended 31 December 2020 and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These standards are not expected to
have a material impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

(b)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Turnover represents revenue received and receivable arising from
sales of electricity and heat generated by thermal power plants,
net of value-added tax, during the year.

HK$’000
FER

2020
—EEHF

SXRARNMER

EERBPREFANHEE N RAEHENR
e 2 YA FE UL BY 3R ER (FNERIBE L IR)

HK$’000
AR®ETR
2020
—B_%F

Sales of electricity BNHEE 63,924,735
Including: Sales of BE NERESE

power generated SHE

from thermal

power plants 51,446,200

Sales of power AT B AR

generated from BEIHE

renewable energy 12,478,535
Heat supply ENRE(HIE 5,626,076

69,550,811

The Group's turnover for 2020 was HK$69,551 million,
representing an increase of HK$1,793 million or 2.6% from
HK$67,758 million in 2019. In RMB terms, the turnover for 2020
was RMB61,620 million, representing an increase of RMB1,960
million or 3.3% from RMB59,660 million in 2019. The increase
was mainly attributable to (1) a year-on-year increase of 3.9% in
net generation volume of subsidiary power plants; and (2) a year-
on-year increase of 10.8% in heat sales volume of subsidiary
power plants.

At present, the Group is engaged in two business segments-
thermal power (inclusive of coal-fired power plants and gas-fired
power plants) and renewable energy (inclusive of wind, hydro-
electric projects and photovoltaic power generation).
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52,019,375 EEGHNIRAUE 45,743,172
10,694,147 R ENGTL) 9,328,076

5,144,110 4,955,868 4,588,897
67,757,632 59,660,145

61,620,362
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results of

the reportable segments:

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Segment revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020

Segment revenue
External sales

Segment profit
Exchange losses
Profit before income tax

Profit attributable to owners of
the Company (before non-cash
exchange gains and losses)

Asset impairment and asset
disposal losses for shutdown
of generation units

One-off provision for
socialisation expenses
for retirees

Core business profit attributable
to owners of the Company

7 BRULA
SINER 5 &

7 &b A H
ERIRIPS
B P15 15 A 1

ZN/NCTE7 2PN RV
(FEREFE S 1BEAT)

BERENMBEEA
BERERRK

—REFHRRIKAR
HEtEH

RRRGEA ARMEZD
EHRE

AT R R 280 B8 0 H AR B Y as

EEOM

BE2020F12A31B L FEFHWRA

Thermal
power

X B
HK$’000
F# T

57,072,276

7,546,354

4,182,222

384,433

666,981

5,233,636

12,478,535

4,802,367

4,521,291

Renewable
energy
B4R

Total
st
HK$’000
FET

HK$’000
TR

69,550,811
12,348,721
(878,392)

11,470,329

4,193,303 8,375,525

327,988 712,421

666,981

9,754,927

Annual Report 2020 % 73



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Segment revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 BZ2019F12831 B LEEFFWA

Thermal Renewable
power energy Total
NE AEARR et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET

Segment revenue 73 BRI

External sales SNEBEHE 57,163,485 10,594,147 67,757,632
Segment profit 73 5B A1) 5,031,751 4,551,490 9,583,241
Exchange gains PE 5 as 69,775
Profit before income tax BR 1S 50 A A E 9,653,016

Profit attributable to owners of KAaEB AEEFE
the Company (before non-cash (JERSEHIEZEA)

exchange gains and losses) 3,597,835 2,916,756 6,514,591
Asset impairment and BERBERBIEKAE

asset disposal losses BEREEX

for shutdown of generation units 2,597,703 - 2,597,703
Reversal of deferred income IR EEERE

tax liabilities due to RIEFEHAE

the disposal of Shanxi

coal assets (228,895) - (228,895)
Core business profit attributable ~ ARNRA R A AE(EIZ 0

to owners of the Company E D] 5,966,643 2,916,756 8,883,399

Geographical information i ER

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets are located AEBEBAINGIERBEEMARPE - &
in the PRC, and operations were substantially carried out in the (EJRE BHAPEIHETT o
PRC.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operating expenses

Operating expenses mainly comprise fuel cost, depreciation
and amortisation, employee benefit expenses, repairs and
maintenance, consumables, impairment charges, tax and
surcharges and other operating expenses. Other operating
expenses include office rent, water charges, utility expenses
and other management expenses. Operating expenses for 2020
amounted to HK$56,828 million, representing a decrease of
HK$1,035 million or 1.8% from HK$57,863 million in 2019.

Fuels decreased from HK$33,318 million for 2019 to HK$32,494
million for 2020, representing a decrease of HK$824 million or
2.5%, mainly due to (1) decrease in the unit price of standard
coal by 5.8% year-on-year; and (2) decrease in net generation
standard coal consumption rate by 0.2% year-on-year, slightly
offset by the increase in net generation volume of coal-fired
power plants by 1.8% year-on-year.

Depreciation and amortisation increased from HK$10,631 million
for 2019 to HK$11,713 million for 2020, representing an increase
of HK$1,082 million or 10.2%, mainly due to the commissioning
of coal-fired power generation units in Caofeidian (Phase ll),
Xilingol and Yundong and the commissioning of many wind power
projects.

Employee benefit expenses increased from HK$5,190 million for
2019 to HK$6,001 million for 2020, representing an increase from
HK$811 million or 15.6%, mainly due to (1) the one-off provision
for socialisation expenses for retirees of subsidiaries of HK$626
million (according to national regulations, the retirees of state
enterprises shall be brought into socialisation management); and
(2) the employee dismissal benefits provided for the coal business
of Tianneng of HK$197 million.

Repairs and maintenance expenses increased from HK$1,954
million for 2019 to HK$2,119 million for 2020, representing
an increase of HK$165 million or 8.4%, mainly due to the
commissioning of new power units, the increase in repairs and
maintenance works arising from the growth of installed capacity,
as well as the scheduled check for power units in subsidiary
thermal power plants.

A
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consumables increased by HK$7 million or 0.7% from HK$1,036
million for 2019 to HK$1,043 million for 2020, mainly due to
the commissioning of new power units and the slight increase
in material consumption arising from the growth of installed
capacity.

Impairment charges decreased by HK$1,684 million from
HK$2,284 million for 2019 to HK$600 million for 2020. The
amount mainly included the impairment provision for goodwill of
Yangzhou No. 2 Power Generation Co., Ltd. in 2020, and the
asset impairment provision for wind power projects that withdrew
or had not completed grid-connection at the end of the year.

Tax and surcharges decreased by HK$64 million or 8.4% from
HK$765 million for 2019 to HK$701 million for 2020, which was
mainly due to (1) energy-saving from technical transformation
resulting in a decrease in environmental tax and resource
tax payable; and (2) a decrease in urban maintenance and
construction tax and education surcharge payable as a result of
adjustment in the rate of value-added tax.

Other operating expenses decreased by HK$527 million or 19.6%
from HK$2,684 million for 2019 to HK$2,157 million for 2020. In
2020, other operating expenses mainly include other production
costs of the power business such as water charges and utility
expenses amounting to HK$1,611 million, office rents, building
management fees, professional fees, administrative charges and
other administrative costs amounting to HK$546 million.

Other income

Other income amounted to approximately HK$2,460 million for
2020, representing a decrease of HK$391 million or 13.7% from
HK$2,851 million for 2019, which was mainly attributable to
the decrease in dividend income and income from government
subsidies. Other income for 2020 mainly included sales of by-
products of HK$1,113 million, government grant of HK$529
million, interest income of HK$349 million, and income from
service fees of HK$316 million.
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Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses for 2020 amounted to HK$1,090 million,
comprising exchange losses of HK$878 million and losses on
disposal of property, plant and equipment of HK$215 million.
Exchange losses mainly arises from RMB loans obtained by the
Company in Hong Kong. Although cash flows are in line with
the income of the Group, the appreciation of the exchange rate
of RMB against HKD has resulted in book loss in the financial

statements denominated in HKD.

Operating profit

Operating profit represents profit from subsidiaries before
deduction of finance costs, income tax expenses and non-
controlling interests. Operating profit for 2020 amounted to
HK$14,093 million, representing an increase of HK$1,205
million or 9.3% from HK$12,888 million for 2019. The increase

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HitEs

2020 F E 1Bz A 10.90188 L EfR A
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was mainly due to (1) a decrease in average unit fuel cost of (1)FEIAEE R B LA AT : (2)

subsidiary coal-fired power plants of the Group; (2) a decrease
in asset impairment charges; and (3) profit contribution of newly
commissioned wind farms; such increase was partially offset
by (1) book exchange losses; (2) increase in depreciation and

BEMEBRRRD  REQFTREREN

ABNER @iﬂlﬁ%ﬁ(ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% :
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amortisation; and (3) the one-off provision for socialisation

expenses for retirees of subsidiaries.

Finance costs

Finance costs for 2020 amounted to HK$3,422 million,
representing a decrease of HK$365 million or 9.6% from 3.65
HK$3,787 million in 2019, mainly due to the decrease in average 9.6% ' EZHRNFHEEFET

borrowing interest rate.

Interests on borrowings
Interests on corporate bonds and notes
Interests on loans from related parties
Interests on lease liabilities

Others

Less: Interest capitalised in construction
in progress

BiEE A
2020 F B 15 B A A34.22B B T 0 &
20194 37.87 /& w4 11%%1&

2020 2019
—ECEF

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET T

EEFE 3,567,921 3,727,120
NEEHFEMEEFE 412,389 558,382
A 5 BRI B 145,560 75,196
HEBGERE 49,801 18,801
Hipth 54,824 89,896
4,230,495 4,469,395

B RERIRESMEMTE
(808,201) (682,884)
3,786,511

3,422,294
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Share of results of associates

Share of results of associates for 2020 amounted to HK$555
million, representing an increase of HK$362 or 188.5% from
HK$193 million for 2019, mainly due to impairment provisions
made for associate coal mine assets in 2019.

Share of results of joint ventures

Share of results of joint ventures for 2020 amounted to HK$244
million, representing a decrease of HK$115 million or 31.9% from
HK$359 million for 2019, mainly due to a decrease in power tariff
of Hezhou Power Plant in Guangxi, resulting in a decrease in
earnings.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses for 2020 amounted to HK$2,794 million,
representing an increase of HK$482 million or 20.9% from
HK$2,312 million for 2019, mainly due to (1) the increases in
income tax expenses for the period as a result of profit increase
of subsidiary coal-fired power plants; and (2) the reversal of
deferred income tax liabilities in 2019 due to the disposal of
Shanxi coal assets.

Details of the income tax expenses for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 are set out below:

Current income tax - B HIASHIE —
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B EFTSH
Deferred income tax EREFTIS IR

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no taxable profit or incurred tax losses in Hong Kong
for both years.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been calculated based on the
estimated assessable profits in accordance with the relevant tax
rates applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC.
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2020
—F-FF

2019
NE
HK$'000

TATT

—El—
HK$’000
TET

2,932,795 2,490,361
(138,801) (178,739)
2,311,622

2,793,994
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Operating profit for the year

Operating profit for the year has been

arrived after deducting the following items:

Directors’ remuneration
— Fees
— Salaries and bonus
— Pension costs

Salaries and bonus
Pension costs — retirement benefit schemes
Termination benefit costs

Total staff costs

Auditor’s remuneration

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

Impairment charges

And after adding the following items:

Dividend income from FVOCI
investee companies

Government grant
Interest income
Sales of scrap materials and by-product
Service income from heat
connection contracts
Net foreign exchange gains
(included in other gains and losses)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries
Gains on disposal of associates
(Losses) gains on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
(included in other gains and losses)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets
(included in other gains and losses)

Expenses capitalised in
construction in progress:

Other staff costs

Pension costs

Depreciation and amortisation

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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ZEE I 2
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HEBEERIRE K
HEWE - BERRED

(BR) W (BEBE
REMIBR)
HEFREEEN RS
(BEBEREMEBR)
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Hh 8 TR
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2020
—E-BF

HK$’000
TET

1,880
8,203
357

10,440
4,653,186
1,129,882

207,374

6,000,882

13,216
33,538,099
11,712,737

599,893

125,760
529,191
348,549
1,113,151

(878,392)
1,736
4,891

(215,224)

27,582

547,703
28,211
140,324
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2019
—TNEF
HK$’000
T

1,832
12,159
156

14,147
4,309,302
726,724
139,866

5,190,039

13,393
34,361,165
10,631,129

2,284,134

386,627
674,894
367,750
1,003,276

83,282
69,775
41,614
33,054

621

17,024

535,161
61,619
120,615



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit attributable to owners of the Company RDBHEE ARILF B

As a result of the above, profit attributable to owners of the HR EMl&FIE - ANARHEE AFELFE
Company increased from approximately HK$6,590 million in 2019 F3 2019 4F £965.90 18 4 7T 18 & 2020 F 47
to approximately HK$7,583 million in 2020, representing a year-  75.8318/&7C » [AILL EFH15.1% °

on-year increase of 15.1%.

Earnings per share BREF

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the AR FIHEA AL EGRERZTIRIEIA
owners of the Company is based on the following data: TEBEE

2020
—

HK$’000
TET

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 72 &) A A JE(G 7 7,582,668 6,590,345

Number of ordinary shares
ZERHE
2020 2019
—8-8F _—T NF

Weighted average number of ordinary BT L @R A 9
shares in issue CRA LR YKV 4,810,443,740

Basic earnings per share FRRERZT
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Final dividend and closure of register of members

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of
HK$0.406 per share for 2020 (2019: HK$0.348 per share).

Dividends distributed during the year:
2020 Interim, paid-HK$0.225 per share

(2019: HK$0.20 per share) FRZ0.225 87T

FAEDKAIME
BIR 2020 A HARR B —

RKAREREEFRERDELFE

BEEEEREE200EREREAEER
0.406 /& 7T (20194 : A% 0.348/87T) °

2020
S =81

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FETT

HK$’000
TET

(20194 : &%0.2087T) 1,082,350 962,089
2019 Final, paid-HK$0.348 per share BIR 2019 FARHIRE S —
(2018: HK$0.203 per share) FH%0.34875 7T
(20184 : HRR0.203%7T) 1,674,034 976,520
2,756,384 1,938,609
Dividend proposed after the end WEFEHRNERSE IR
of the reporting year: B -
Proposed final dividend for 2020 of ¥k 2020 F RHEAMR B
HK$0.406 (2019: HK$0.348) per share % 0.406 87T
(20194 : 0.34887T) 1,950,717 1,674,034

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Monday, 7 June
2021 (the “AGM”), the proposed final dividend will be distributed
on Friday, 9 July 2021 to shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company at the
close of business on Friday, 18 June 2021.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 2 June 2021 to Monday, 7 June 2021 (both days
inclusive), during which no share transfer will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 1
June 2021.

HFRER 2021 F6 A7 H(EH—)8B1TH
FEJERR R AT RE EH##EZ - #Kk AR ED
BB R 20217 AOB(EHR)RET
R2021F6 A18H(E2H A ) L X£FR4E
REFBT AN B RRAMARRE -

RETHEREAFTFASRES LKER
R KRB ELER2021F6 A
2H(EHI=)Z2021F6 A7H(EH—)
(BREEMB)EE - A T2 HER
MBFERFE  BFEERLERREE
FRENEGLEERE  FIERMHBL XM
BEBRAEREREAN2021F6H1H
EH ) TFUE=1+omREARF K
BB ELEESFTRELELRARA
B I ARBEBTERANER1835HE
MAODI7TEBI7TI2E1716FE ©
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2020, the register of members
of the Company will be closed on Friday, 18 June 2021 and
no share transfer will be registered on that day. To qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 17 June 2021.

Capital structure management

The Group and the Company manage capital to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity structures. The Group’s and
the Company’s overall strategy remain consistent as in prior
years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (including
long-term and short-term bank borrowings, corporate bonds and
loans from related parties), cash and cash equivalents, pledged
and restricted bank deposits and equity attributable to owners
of the Company (comprising issued share capital, reserves and
retained earnings).

The Board reviews the capital structure on a periodic basis. As
part of the review, the Board considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the
resolution of the Board, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through payment of dividends, new share issues and
share buy-backs as well as by issue of new debts or repayment
of existing debts.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and financial resources, borrowings, and charge
of assets

At 31 December 2020, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$24,427 million. The Directors are of the opinion that, taking
into account the current operating and business plan of the
Group as well as the banking facilities available to the Group, the
Group has sufficient working capital to enable it to meet in full
its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the coming
twelve months from the balance sheet date. Therefore, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2020
denominated in HKD, RMB and other foreign currencies
amounted to HK$117 million, RMB3,792 million and US$53
million, respectively.

Bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Secured bank loans BEMIETER
Unsecured bank loans ,\\\Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ E,TA
Corporate bonds NGIEEE=3

Loans from related parties B 5 fE 3K

The bank borrowings were repayable as follows:

RBEERYBER FEREEER

AREBR20020F12A31BEE RS E
{%/%*25244 271;4/%7[, E%wu N ,@%%
BAEEBRNEE RERTERAER
ABANIRITRER  AEEBEEHEE
EQM%E TERBEEHRBAEDRE
+_EARSPNTBEL - At - ZF4E

BB TS IR 2 R AT R R -

H2020F 12 A31H Uit AR
MEMINEDIENIRE RIRSEEMH 5
B1ATIEET - AR®37.92187C 5% 0.53
B3ETT o

AREBER2020F 2 2019F 12 A31 HEY
IRITREMEENT

2020
—ECEF

2019

HK$’000
FET

HK$'000
BT

2,691,834 2,986,088
85,555,153 71,416,559
14,020,288 13,491,090

5,951,763 6,233,010

94,136,758

108,219,038

RITEEWTHEEER :

2020
—ECEHF

2019
=~
HK$'000
TR

HK$’000
TET

Within 1 year —F R IERICKEEN 16,589,459
Between 1 and 2 years RiE—FENEBRE 5,588,716 5,239,624
Between 2 and 5 years BEMEENERRE ALY 29 806,039
Over 5 years i Ak PEPIUREEE 22,777,536

74,412,658

88,246,987
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The corporate bonds and notes were repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FA
Between 1 and 2 years

Between 2 and 5 years

The above bank and other borrowings
are secured by:
Pledge of assets

TH B {EEA
BERMA

Note: Certain bank loans were secured by the Group’s buildings, power generating
plants and equipment with carrying value of HK$797,395,000 (2019:
HK$941,449,000) and HK$1,344,117,000 (2019: HK$1,165,093,000),respectively.

Bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2020
denominated in HKD, RMB and other foreign currencies
amounted to HK$23,848 million, RMB69,764 million, GBP136
million, USD3.61 million and EUR1.39 million, respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, bank and other borrowings of
HK$23,848 million, GBP136 million and USD3.61 million (2019:
HK$21,888 million, GBP150 million and USD6.73 million) bore
interest at a range from HIBOR plus 0.60% to HIBOR plus 1.03%
per annum, LIBOR plus 0.89% to LIBOR plus 0.98% per annum
and 2.20% per annum, respectively. The remaining bank and
other borrowings carried interest rates at a range from 1.85% to
4.90% (2019: 2.35% to 4.90%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, the ratio of the Group’s net debt
to shareholders’ equity was 119.9%, and total debt to total
capitalisation was 50.5%. In the opinion of the Directors, the
Group has a stable capital structure, which can support its future
development plans and operations.
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—T-NF
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THETL
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In 2020, the Group’s primary sources of funding included new
bank borrowings, dividend income, issuance of corporate bonds
and notes, issuance of perpetual capital securities and net cash
inflow from operating activities, which amounted to HK$42,913
million, HK$1,567 million, HK$2,275 million, HK$5,257 million
and HK$20,702 million, respectively. The Group’s funds were
primarily used for the repayment of bank borrowings, redemption
of corporate bonds and notes, acquisition of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets, interest and dividend
payments, which amounted to HK$33,590 million, HK$2,568
million, HK$30,529 million, HK$3,975 million and HK$3,346
million, respectively.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables from contracts HEFE & L EUAR K
with customers

Accounts receivable JE WL BR 3K

Notes receivable JEW R IR

Less: loss allowance for trade receivables

Trade receivables are generally due within 60 days from the date
of billing.

B EWERFURE LR

2020F - AEEMNFEE R RBIEH
ERTEE  RBWA - BTRRESER
ZigE - BITKBEBEREEEHEENR
HAFE - DRI A429.13EHB T~ 15.67
BT 2275188 L - 5257 BT K
207.0218 B L AEEMNES EERE
EEIFTEE  BLORAREBESFNERE B
EVE - BE - RELAFRAEEENEHN
RIE - XA BRRKE - 25 A335.90
BT ~ 25.68 1878 7T * 305.29188 7T »
39.75 188 7T M 33.46 1878 TT ©

2020
— e

2019

HK$’000
FET

HK$'000
TABTT

CRELNELE 14,218,995
1,002,828 474,376
PIREYRIEN 14,693,371
(75,095) (78,187)
14,615,184

20,362,818

FEUIR S — AR IR 28 A B EE ST 60 B A
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice LA AR RS BAR B 157E FE U & H b B Uk
date included in trade and other receivables at the end of the FRIBAMFEWERE XIREHZ AHMER H
reporting period: 1T

2020 2019
—ECEHF —ZT—NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi85 AT

0-30 days 0Z30H 8,990,210 6,426,672
31-60 days 31260H 1,106,344 604,875
Over 60 days 60 A E 10,341,359 7,661,824

20,437,913 14,693,371

Trade payables P& 15 R 3K

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice LA~ AR BA K B3 35 1 JE 1~ K2 B 4th &~
date included in trade and other payables at the end of the FXIBAMFERIERIZHZ QEINER D
reporting period: e

2020 2019
—EEHF

HK$’000 HK$’000
F87 T

0-30 days 0E30H 4,092,339 3,406,975
31-90 days 31E90H 3,392,367 2,077,496
Over 90 days 90 H I 1,643,035 3,505,208

9,127,741 8,989,679

Average credit term for purchase of goods is 90 days. BEFHEREHAQAR -
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Key financial ratios of the Group TEBNETERBLER

MENL R (1)

Current ratio (times)

Quick ratio (times) R E(F) 0.46
Net debt to shareholders’ equity ratio (%) FEEHREER (%) 121.8
EBITDA interest coverage (times) EBITDA R EfREEEE(15) O 5.9
Current ratio = balance of current assets at the mEILLE = RFENRBEES
end of the year/balance of current %/ RELKNTEHE
liabilities at the end of the year (EREE
Quick ratio = (balance of current assets at the end HREILLE = (RERORBEE
of the year-balance of inventories ERR-RNFROEFE
at the end of the year)/balance of HERR) /R FRER
current liabilities at the end of the R EES
year
Net debt to = (balance of borrowings at the end JFEGBHRKRER = (RERBEHEH -
shareholders’ of the year-balance of cash and #m RELRBIRITEHR K
equity ratio cash equivalents at the end of the Re-REKHNER
year-balance of pledged cash at HIRITHER) RF
the end of the year)/balance of AR RPIHE AE
equity attributable to owners of the iR

Company at the end of the year

EBITDA interest = (profit before taxation + interest EBITDAXIE = (BRHATAIE + FEFH
coverage expenses + depreciation and RIZ(EEK T+ EREE), T
amortisation)/interest expenses ExXH(BEERNE
(including capitalised interests) FE)
Note: it

(1) Excluding non-cash income and expenses, being loss on disposal of assets, (1) Kﬁ#fﬁﬁuﬁli CBREEBEREBEX  RERX
impairment loss and book exchange gains and losses. AR [E N 1B o
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign exchange risk

The Group collects substantially all of its revenue in RMB
and most of the Group’s expenditures, including expenditure
incurred in its operations as well as capital expenditure, are also
denominated in RMB. Dividends receivable from the subsidiaries
and associates are collected in RMB, HKD and Great Britain
Pounds (“GBP”).

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed
by the Chinese government. The exchange rates may also be
affected by economic developments, political changes and supply
and demand. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against
HKD and United States Dollar (“USD”) may have positive or
negative impact on the results of operations of the Group.

The functional currency of major project companies of the Group
is RMB, the revenue and expenses are mainly denominated
in RMB, foreign exchange risk mainly arises from borrowings
denominated in HKD. However, certain entities are located in
Hong Kong and their functional currencies are HKD, their foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from balances denominated in RMB
and borrowings denominated in RMB and GBP.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In addition, given there are different functional currencies within
the Group, there is still foreign exchange risk which arises from
the transactions and balances within the Group even after intra-
group eliminations. The carrying amounts of foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities before
elimination as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Assets BE
UsD ETT
RMB AR
HKD BT
GBP HEE
Liabilities =L
RMB }\Eﬁﬁ%
GBP e
UsD ETT
EUR BT

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge
its exposure against changes in exchange rates of the RMB
against HKD and USD.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided certain
guarantees amounting to HK$378,367,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$849,088,000) to its related parties.

In addition, there were certain pending litigations and claims
against the Group. After consulting with legal counsels, the
Directors are of the view that the likelihood of any material
adverse financial impact on the Group is remote, and no further
provisions need to be made in respect of such litigations and
claims.

Employees

The Group had 21,611 employees as at 31 December 2020
(2019: 21,746 employees).

The Company and its subsidiaries have concluded employment
contracts with all of their employees. The compensation of
employees mainly includes salaries and performance-based
bonuses.

BoN - ERANEEAFENRNINEE
% HWAERAEEANR S MEHREE
#o NEEEEENINMNERR - 72020
F12A318 - HHAAINEIIENEE
BENEERABEMNREERNT

2020 2019

BFE T F

HK$’000
TET

HK$’000
BT

738 12,616
14,415,100 18,596,090
96 828

10 207
7,723,040 6,140,235
1,439,519 1,632,775
27,955 52,795
13,233 12,659

AEEVERBITESRTASDARE
HETAMETTERE S ER o

HAREE

MR2020F 12 A31 0 KREEH M
17 B #378,367,00078 T MY & T &R
(2019412 A 31 H : 849,088,000
JC) °

BEAN - BEEAKENE TRRFARR
& - RFEZRBREHENRE  EFR/ALE
BXAERMERTRPBEEENA EED
7( BERZSHALRELE - SIEHE
e

B8
MR2020F12A31H A& BEEB 7T
21,611 % (20194 : 21,746 % )EE °

ARBREMBARHEBEREER
VREAAK - EEBRMEIEREF MR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PEERRS

A. INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) strives to
ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) meet
high standards of safety, performance and corporate governance.

The Board has ultimate authority over, and oversight of, the
Group’s operations and regards good corporate governance as a
critical element in the drive to improve the Group’s performance
and achieve the Group’s vision of being a world class energy
provider and one of the most admired employers in China.

In 2020, CR Power has adopted all of the principles and complied
with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “Code”) as contained in Appendix 14 to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The following summarizes the Company’s corporate governance
practices and explains the implementation of recommended best
practices.

A.1 The Board

The Board is responsible for the optimization of the
Company’s corporate governance, and is ultimately
accountable for the Company’s strategic planning, operating
activities and operating results.

The Board Charter is published on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com) under the “Corporate Governance”
section of “Investor Relations”. The Board Charter is
updated regularly to take account of changes in the law and
governance practices.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the oversight and
review of management, administration and the overall
governance of CR Power and its strategic direction. The
Board plays a central supporting and supervisory role in
CR Power’s corporate governance structure, provides
leadership and guidance to the Group’s activities, and
oversees the execution of the Group’s business strategies.

This includes:
»  the protection of shareholders’ interests by seeking to

ensure that CR Power’s strategic direction provides
and creates value for its shareholders;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

»  establishing goals for management and monitoring the
achievement of those goals;

» authorising policies and overseeing the implementation
of these policies; and

»  seeking to ensure that CR Power’s internal control and
reporting procedures are complete, effective and abide
by laws and regulations as well as business ethics.

The Board should ensure that management can effectively
perform its duties. The Board’s policy is to regularly monitor
the effectiveness of management policies and decisions,
including the implementation of strategies.

The Board oversees the implementation and operation
of a risk management system. In addition to fulfilling its
obligations to generate rewards for shareholders who invest
their capital in CR Power, the Board recognises that CR
Power has responsibilities to its customers, employees
and suppliers and to the communities in which CR Power
operates.

In carrying out its responsibilities and powers as set out in
the Board Charter, the Board will at all times recognise its
ultimate responsibility to:

»  maintain good corporate governance standards;

»  perform duties honestly, fairly and diligently;

» supervise safety, health and environmental issues
associated with the Company’s operations;

» establish and reinforce a “zero-tolerance” culture
against corruption;

» comply with laws and regulations;
» avoid conflicts of interest;

» enable the Company to become an excellent corporate
citizen; and

» gain and maintain the social community’s respect for
the Company.
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Non-executive Directors should use all reasonable
endeavours to ensure that CR Power’s operations, business
and transactions are conducted in accordance with the law
and the highest standards of propriety.

The Company has set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval in its Board Charter.

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code principle and Code provisions A.1.1 to A.1.8, as
described as follows:

A1.1 Pursuant to code provision A.1.1, meetings of the
Board should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, the
Board held a total of seven Board meetings.

The Board met seven times in 2020. Each meeting
involved the active participation in person of a majority
of Directors entitled to be present.

During 2020, the following changes in directorship were
announced:

Mr. Ge Changxin resigned as a Non-executive Director
and Senior Consultant to the President of the Company
with effect from 16 February 2020;

Mr. Li Ru Ge resigned as the Chairman of the Board
and a Non-executive Director with effect from 27 March
2020; and

Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board and a Non-executive Director with effect
from 27 March 2020.
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The former and current Directors’ attendance at the AERBREESHFAFEE
meetings of the Board and the Annual General Meeting EeeRARRBAFAENIE
(the “AGM”) during the year is as follows: AT

Attendance

rate of board
meetings

Number during the

of board office of

meetings directorship Attendance

attended EHHE  of the AGM
HEESE ES283 HERR

2RRE HE =R BFEKRE

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Wang Chuandong (Note 1) FER(FIEE) 7/7 100% v
Chen Ying 3 5/7 71% -
Wang Yan FE 4/7 57% —
Li Ru Ge (Note 2) FaE(H:E2) N/A i N/A i A N/A i A
Ge Changxin (Note 3) B (MisE3) N/A i N/A TNiE N/A &
Executive Directors HITEE

Tang Yong EB 7/7 100% v
Zhang Junzheng REIK 6/7 86% v
Wang Xiao Bin FW 7/7 100% v

Independent Non-executive B EHITES

Directors
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung 5 R 6/7 86% v
Elsie Leung Oi-sie REGF 7/7 100% v
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung HRY 7/7 100% —
Jack So Chak Kwong BRZE N 7/7 100% 4
Note (1): Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as the Chairman of the M) : TEREER=_ZT=_FTF=A
Board and a Non-executive Director with effect from 27 March Z++ERAEZEARRREEEE
2020. FEFRIENITES -
Note (2): Mr. Li Ru Ge resigned as the Chairman of the Board and a Non- MR : THEXAER_T_FTF=A
executive Director with effect from 27 March 2020. —t+tHEBTARRESEER
FHIEMITES -
Note (3): Mr. Ge Changxin resigned as a Non-executive Director and MEQ): BERFAEAENR_ZT_ZEF_A
Senior Consultant to the President of the Company with effect TRBRERABIIERITESHR
from 16 February 2020. BESRER o
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A1.2 In 2020, arrangements were in place to ensure that all

Directors were given an opportunity to include matters
in the agenda for regular Board meetings. The Board
is supported by four committees, namely the Audit
and Risk Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Sustainability
Committee to ensure that it is well equipped to
discharge its responsibilities. Each committee has its
own terms of reference which are available on the
Company’s website (www.cr-power.com). The terms of
reference of each committee are updated regularly to
take account of changes in the rules and regulations
and governance practices. The chairperson of
respective committees reported to the Board regularly
and made recommendations on matters discussed
when appropriate. Senior management of the Company
may attend committee meetings upon invitation by the
chairpersons of the committees.

A.1.3 In the year under review, notice of at least 14 days was

given of a regular Board meeting, giving all Directors
an opportunity to attend. For all other Board meetings,
reasonable notice was given. The Board aims to set
dates of regular meetings, AGM and site visits at the
start of each year, so that all Directors can make
proper arrangements to ensure attendance of the
meetings and visits.

A1.4 The Company Secretary attended all Board and

committee meetings except for meetings of the
Remuneration Committee where a person (that is not
a member of the senior management) was appointed
as secretary. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings
of Board Committees were kept by the Company
Secretary or duly appointed personnel and were
arranged to be reviewed by the Directors present at the
meetings before they were signed by the chairperson
of the respective meetings. Such minutes will be
made available by the Company for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director
when he/she deems necessary.
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A1.5 Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board

Committees recorded in detail the matters considered
by the Board or Board Committees and decisions
reached at meeting, including any concerns raised by
Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final
versions of minutes of Board meetings and meetings
of Board Committees were sent to all Directors for
their comments and records respectively, within a
reasonable time after the Board or committee meetings
were held.

A.1.6 The Board Charter sets out the policy that Directors,

especially Non-executive Directors should be provided
with sufficient resources in the furtherance of their
duties as Board/Committee members, including access
to independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company’s expense.

A1.7 Physical board meetings, as opposed to written

resolutions, were held to consider matters in which
a substantial shareholder or Director had a conflict
of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material. At
these physical board meetings, Independent Non-
executive Directors who, and whose close associates,
had no material interest in the transaction were present.
Directors who had a conflict of interest abstained from
voting.

A.1.8 The Company has arranged corporate liability insurance

coverage in respect of legal actions against its
Directors.
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The Board Committees have adopted, so far as practicable,
the principles, procedures and arrangements set out in A.1.1
to A.1.8 in the Code, where applicable.
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A.2 The Chairman and the President

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
the President has been clearly established and set out in
writing. Under A.2.1 of the Code, the role of the Chairman
and the President should be separate to ensure a balance of
power and authority. The Chairman’s primary responsibilities
include deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda,
formulating Board policies, ensuring Board effectiveness,
promoting the Company and maintaining the Company’s
corporate governance. The President has delegated
authority from, and is responsible to, the Board for managing
the Group’s business, including the implementation of the
strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board.

During the period under review, the Company strictly
complied with the Code principle and Code provisions A.2.1
to A.2.9 as described below:

A.2.1 The roles of the Chairman and the President of the
Company are separate and are currently assumed by
Mr. Wang Chuandong and Mr. Tang Yong, respectively.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the President has been clearly established and
set out in writing. After the resignation of Mr. Li Ru Ge
as the Chairman of the Board and a Non-executive
Director with effect from 27 March 2020, Mr. Wang
Chuandong was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board and a Non-executive Director with effect from 27
March 2020.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for providing
leadership for the Board. The duties are mainly to
ensure the effective operation of the Board, and the
establishment of and compliance with the corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Chairman
is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate
procedures are adopted to guarantee effective
communications with shareholders, and that the
shareholders’ opinions are circulated among all Board
members.
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The President is responsible for managing the
Company’s business and coordinating overall business
operations, implementing major strategies approved by
the Board and making day-to-day operation decisions.

None of the members of the Board has any
connections (including financial, business, family
relationship and other material/related relationships)
with each other (including between the Chairman and
the President).

All Directors were properly briefed on issues arising at
Board meetings. Any enquiries and requests from the
Directors were followed up and responded to by the
management of the Company in a timely manner.

The Board papers contained sufficient details and
Directors were given reasonable time to review the
contents before the meetings. All Directors who were
present at the Board meetings received adequate
information, which must be accurate, clear, complete
and reliable, in a timely manner, prior to the meetings.

One of the Chairman’s responsibilities is to provide
leadership for the Board. The Chairman ensures
that the Board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The
Chairman, with the help of other Executive Directors
and Company Secretary, is primarily responsible for
drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board
meeting taking into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by other Directors for inclusion
in the agenda. The Chairman should delegate this
responsibility to a designated Director or the Company
Secretary in the event of his absence at a board
meeting.
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A.2.5 The Chairman takes primary responsibility for ensuring

that good corporate governance practices and
procedures are established. The Chairman meets
regularly with Independent Non-executive Directors to
discuss, among others, suggestions and feedback with
regard to Board and corporate governance practices
and procedures and areas for improvement.

A.2.6 The Chairman encourages all Directors to make a

full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and
takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the
best interests of the Company. The Chairman also
encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allows sufficient time for discussion of issues
and ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus.

A.2.7 The Chairman, Mr. Wang Chuandong, held a meeting

with the Independent Non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Executive Directors, Non-
executive Directors or management in November 2020.

A.2.8 The Chairman ensures that appropriate steps are taken

to provide effective communication with shareholders
and that their views are communicated to the Board as
a whole.

A.2.9 The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and

debate by facilitating the effective contribution of Non-
executive Directors and ensures constructive relations
between Executive and Non-executive Directors.
During the year, due to COVID-19, site visits were
cancelled. Instead, local management teams in various
regions were invited to prepare presentation materials
to the Board on recent business updates and this will
continue until the Board can resume travelling.
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A.3 Board Composition

The Board’s composition is determined in accordance
with the following principles, the Company’s Articles of
Association and relevant governance requirements:

»  the Company should appoint at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors and maintain Independent
Non-executive Directors representing at least one-third
of the Board;

»  the role of Chairman and President should be held by
separate persons;

» the Board should comprise of Directors with an
appropriate range and mix of skills, experience,
expertise and diversity;

»  the performance of the Board and its members should
be reviewed annually and objectively; and

> all Directors must submit themselves for re-election at
regular intervals and at least every three years.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of 10
Directors, 3 of whom are Non-executive Directors, 3 are
Executive Directors and 4 are Independent Non-executive
Directors. The number of Independent Non-executive
Directors complied with the requirements of Rule 3.10 and
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The list of Directors as at
the date of this report and their biographies are set out in
the Directors and Senior Management Section on page 18
to page 32 of this Annual Report, and are available on the
Company’s website (www.cr-power.com).
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Set out below are details of the composition of the Board

and its committees as at the date of this report:

Board
Designation
Director = EZgna
Wang Chuandong TERF NE, C
Tang Yong EB E,P
Zhang Junzheng RE E, VC
Wang Xiao Bin BN E
Chen Ying PR & NE
Wang Yan TE NE
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung S5 H# INED
Elsie Leung Oi-sie %ﬁﬁ INED
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung #3R% INED
Jack So Chak Kwong BREN INED
Note:
C: Chairman
E: Executive Director
NE:  Non-executive Director
INED: Independent Non-executive Director
=K President
VC:  Vice Chairman

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the above principles and Code provisions A.3.1 and A.3.2
and the recommended best practice A3.3 as described as

follows:

A.3.1 The Independent Non-executive Directors accounted
for more than one-third of the members of the
Board and were expressly identified in all corporate
communications that disclosed the names of the

Directors.
A.3.2

com),

Non-executive Directors.
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The Company posts the names and biographical details
of the Board members on its website (www.cr-power.
with their designations in the Board clearly
stated. The Company also posts on the website of the
HKEx an updated list of its Directors identifying their
roles and functions and whether they are Independent
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A3.3 In the year under review, none of the Independent
Non-executive Directors held cross-directorships
or had significant links with other Directors through
involvements in other companies. Please refer to page
18 to page 32 of this Annual Report for each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors’ biographies.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

The Board’s Nomination Committee sets and reviews the
criteria for new Director appointments having regard to the
overall composition of the Board.

The Board seeks to ensure that its membership is such that
each Director:

» is a person of integrity;

»  has sufficient time available and abilities to perform his
or her role effectively;

»  brings an independent and questioning mind to his or
her role which enables him or her to exercise sound
judgment;

» enhances the breadth and depth of skills and
knowledge of the Board as a whole; and

» enhances the experience and diversity of the Board as
a whole.

The service term of every Director is 3 years. All Directors
are subject to regular retirement and retiring Directors are
eligible for re-election. The staggered structure enables the
Board to change its composition in an orderly manner over
time while maintaining leadership, stability and continuity,
and allows for regular evaluation of the mix of skills and
experience, as required.
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During the year under review, the Company strictly complied
with the above principles and Code provisions A.4.1 to A.4.3
as described as follows:

A.4.1 Each Non-executive Director (including Independent

Non-executive Directors) receives a letter formalizing
his or her appointment and that letter outlines the
key terms and conditions of the appointment. Each
Non-executive Director (including Independent Non-
executive Director) is appointed for a term of 3 years.

In accordance with Article 120 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors,
including Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors
as well as Independent Non-executive Directors,
shall retire by rotation at each AGM of the Company,
provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least every three years and
a retiring director shall be eligible for re-election.
Pursuant to Article 120 of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Wang Xiao Bin, Mr. Wang Yan, Mr. MA Chiu-
Cheung, Andrew and Mr. SO Chak Kwong, Jack,
retired from office by rotation and were re-elected at
the AGM on 9 June 2020 (the “2020 AGM”).

A42 In accordance with the Company’s Articles of

Association, all new Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or being a new member of the Board of
Directors shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the next general meeting after their appointment
(in the case of filling casual vacancy) or next AGM (in
the case of addition to the Board). Pursuant to Article
98 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Tang Yong, who
was newly appointed as an Executive Director and
the President with effect from 17 December 2019,
Mr. Zhang Junzheng, who was newly appointed as an
Executive Director and Vice Chairman with effect from
17 December 2019, and Mr. Wang Chuandong, who
was newly appointed as a Non-executive Director and
Chairman with effect from 27 March 2020, retired from
office and then were re-elected at the 2020 AGM.
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A.4.3 As at the date of this report, among the Independent

Non-executive Directors, Mr. Ma Chiu-Cheung, Andrew,
Dr. Ch’ien Kuo Fung, Raymond and Ms. Leung Oi-
sie, Elsie, have served more than 9 years. Mr. Ma was
re-elected at the 2020 AGM by a separate resolution.
Dr. Ch’ien and Ms. Leung were re-elected at the AGM
on 25 June 2019 by separate resolutions. The papers
to shareholders accompanying those resolutions
included the reasons why the Board believes he/she
is still independent and should be re-elected: This is
because as Independent Non-executive Directors with
in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations
and business, Mr. Ma, Dr. Ch’ien and Ms. Leung have
expressed objective views and given independent
guidance to the Company over the years, and they
continue to demonstrate a firm commitment to their
roles. The Board considers that the long service of
Mr. Ma, Dr. Ch’ien and Ms. Leung have the required
character, integrity and experience to continue fulfilling
the role of Independent Non-executive Directors.
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¢
A.5 Nomination Committee A5 REZEE

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with REBEE - AQRBER&ESFFANE

Code provisions A.5.1 to A.5.5 as described as follows: XAS51ZEASL5 Batan T -

A.5.1 The Company has established a Nomination Committee ASA ARRIRBREZES  BHAE4
which is comprised of 4 members, including 3 %WE\ F BIES BB ITE
Independent Non-executive Directors and Chairman of EMEELER 75’\:23_13
the Board. In 2020, the Nomination Committee held i REZEGHAZAMRK
two meetings to, among other things, nomination of = W(ERBRRE)RA %ﬁ%%
appointment of new director, review the composition El’\jf}_ﬁ R EEgHAKEE
and performance of the Board and the policy for RUARRBEESHEEK - 185
nomination of Directors. The attendance record of the ZEENERBEFEANL
members of the Nomination Committee during the year JECEEEHIAT -

under review is set out as follows:

Number of meetings

attended/number
of meetings held Attendance
Hjﬁ/%ﬂ'a rate
Nomination Committee REEEE® RE HER
Wang Chuandong (Chairman) (Note 1) F/&#R(EE) (HsE1) 1/1 100%
Elsie Leung Oi-sie RE 2/2 100%
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung BRE 2/2 100%
Jack So Chak Kwong BRZ S 2/2 100%
Li Ru Ge (Note 2) FHE (5 2) N/A TEA  N/A TEA
Note (1): Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as the Chairman of the MEQ): TEREENR_FZ_ZTF=H
Nomination Committee with effect from 27 March 2020. }%th AEZTREEZESE
Note (2): Mr. Li Ru Ge resigned as the Chairman of the Nomination MEER) : TPREEER_T_TF=H
Committee with effect from 27 March 2020. ZTtHBEREEESERE -
A52 The major responsibilities of the Nomination AS2IRBRZEBENETERTEAHIE]
Committee are to formulate and implement the policy NEBERIREABE  BAR
for nominating candidates for appointment of new NAIREBEAEEE K5t
directors or for re-election by shareholders of the Mgkh BERKEESMA
Company based on criteria such as reputation for ﬁu”jEl’JBTFﬁ ERELZAEHE
integrity, accomplishment and experience, professional %IJZL‘ = UAKFH B
and educational background, and potential time #iﬂﬁ%%ﬂ’]ﬁjl‘i REZE
commitments, and to assess the independence of erBEEE(THERN - Jé\
Independent Non-executive Directors. The terms of gﬁ@%%%%ﬁ)ﬂ%ﬁ)\ﬂh”
reference of the Nomination Committee (which is FrEF el E -

reviewed regularly and updated where necessary) have
incorporated the specific duties set out in the Code
provision.
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In considering the new appointment of Directors, the
Nomination Committee follows the nomination procedures
and the process for nomination of directorship under the
nomination policy and assesses candidates on criteria
such as perspective, integrity, independent mindedness,
experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to
carry out duties and responsibilities effectively and makes
recommendations to the Board for approval. In 2020, based
on the above policy and procedures of the Nomination
Committee, the Nomination Committee recommended to
the Board for approval of the appointment of Mr. Wang
Chuandong as a Director of the Company.

A53 The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference
are available on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

A.5.4 The Company ensures that the Nomination Committee
is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties.

Where necessary, the Nomination Committee may seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense, to perform its responsibilities.

Ab55 If the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an Independent Non-executive Director
at the general meeting, it will set out in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting:

» the process used for identifying the individual
and why the Board believes the individual should
be elected and the reasons why it considers the
individual to be independent;

» if the proposed Independent Non-executive
Director will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the Board
believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the board;

» the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

» how the individual contributes to diversity of the
Board.
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The Company has included the above required information
in a circular dated 29 April 2020 for re-election of Mr. MA
Chiu-Cheung, Andrew and Mr. SO Chak Kwong, Jack as
Independent Non-executive Directors at the 2020 AGM.

The Company has established a nomination policy of Board
members in the Board Charter. Pursuant to the nomination
policy, the Company strives to assure that nomination of
candidates to stand for election as Board members must go
through formal, prudent and transparent procedures. The
Board is required to evaluate the overall composition of the
Board and the skills of members on a regular basis, in order
to prepare succession plans, facilitate smooth handover
and to maintain efficiency at all times. Further details of the
nomination policy are available on the Company’s website
(Www.cr-power.com).

The Company has established a policy concerning diversity
of Board members which is available on the Company’s
website (www.cr-power.com). The Company strives to
achieve diversity of the Board by endorsing the principle
that the Board should have a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business. The Company welcomes a very diverse population
of people that reflects the range of cultures and background
spanned by its operations. These differences will be taken
into account in determining the optimum composition of
the Board. The Nomination Committee will consider, and
if appropriate, set measurable objectives to implement the
policy and review such objectives to ensure appropriateness
of the objectives and ascertain the progress made towards
achieving those objectives. The Nomination Committee has
reviewed the policy to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Since the adoption of the board diversity policy in December
2013, the Board has observed the policy and took into
account the objectives set out in the policy in reviewing
its Board composition to ensure that it has a balanced
composition of skills and experience in line with the
requirements of the Company’s businesses, and ensuring
that hiring, promotion, rewards and retaining of the best
people for the job are implemented regardless of their
diversity profile. In particular, when selecting the candidates
for Directors, the Nomination Committee considered the
nomination policy and took into account the diversity
aspects (including without limitation, age, cultural and
educational background) as set out under the board diversity
policy. As a result, the Nomination Committee considered
that the appointment of the Chairman of the Board was
appropriate and that there is sufficient diversity at the Board
level.
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A.6 Responsibilities of Directors

The Board plays a central supporting and supervisory role
in the Company’s corporate governance structure, provides
leadership and guidance to the Group’s activities and
development and oversees the work of the management and
its execution of the Company’s business strategies.

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the above principle and Code provisions A.6.1 to A.6.8 as
described as follows:

A6.1 All newly appointed Directors will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the
first occasion of their appointment in order to ensure
that they will have a proper understanding of the
operations and business of the Company and that
they will be fully aware of their personal responsibilities
under statute and common law, the Listing Rules,
applicable legal and other regulatory requirements, and
the Company’s business and governance policies.

Induction had been provided to Mr. Wang Chuandong,
who was appointed on 27 March 2020.

AB.2 Independent Non-executive Directors actively
participated in Board meetings of the Company. The
Company’s Audit and Risk Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Sustainability
Committee comprise a majority of Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Directors were encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development programs at the
Company’s expense to remain abreast of changes and
developments impacting the business.

The roles of Independent Non-executive Directors
also include providing their independent views to the
Board and management on business proposals and
strategies and supporting the implementation of these
strategies. Independent Non-executive Directors shall
take lead in board meetings in the event there are
conflicts of interest. They also scrutinise and monitor
senior management’s performance in meeting goals
and objectives. During the year, the Independent
Non-executive Directors also examined the Group’s
operations to broaden their knowledge of the Group’s
business.
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A6.3 Directors’ attendance of Board meetings and

Committee meetings is set out on pages 93, 104,
112, 121 and 124 of this Annual Report. Each of
the Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors
(including Independent Non-executive Directors)
ensured that he/she gave sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company.

A6.4 The Company has adopted the Model Code set out

in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors
have complied with their obligations regarding dealings
in securities of the Company under the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines
for senior management and employees in certain
functions in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company for their strict compliance. The Company
issued notices to all Directors, senior management and
relevant employees reminding them to comply with
the restriction on dealing of securities of the Company
under the above code and guidelines 60 days prior to
the publication of the annual results and 30 days prior
to the publication of the interim results.

A.6.5 The Company’s Executive and Non-executive Directors

(including Independent Non-executive Directors)
participated in various continuous professional
development programs to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills to help ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Directors are encouraged to participate in
professional training programs and the Company also
organizes and funds such training programs.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Directors participated in training programs regarding
Directors’ responsibilities and duties and examined the
Company’s operations. The Company has received the
Directors’ training records, which are summarised as
follows:

Wang Chuandong (Note 1) FERFIFED)
Tang Yong EB

Zhang Junzheng oKk I
Wang Xiao Bin (Note 2) BN AC IR
Chen Ying Bk &
Wang Yan FE
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung

(Note 2) HRE(MEE2)
Elsie Leung Oi-sie (Note 2) REF(MIFE2)
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung

(Note 2) RRYE(MFE2)
Jack So Chak Kwong (Note 2)  &R/&3% (FiizE2)
Ge Changxin (Note 3) ERF(MIFES)
Li Ru Ge (Note 4) i E (M5 4)

Note (1): Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board and a Non-executive Director with effect from 27 March
2020.

Note (2): Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Ms. Wang and Independent
Non-executive Directors were unable to leave Hong Kong for site
visits to our power plants in mainland China in 2020.

Note (3): Mr. Ge Changxin resigned as the Non-executive Director and
Senior Consultant to the President of the Company with effect
from 16 February 2020.

Note (4): Mr. Li Ru Ge resigned as the Chairman of the Board and a Non-
executive Director with effect from 27 March 2020.
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A.6.6

A6.7

A.6.8

Each Director has disclosed to the Company at the
time of his or her appointment, and on a periodic
basis, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies
or organisations and an indication of the time involved.
Such disclosures should be made annually.

Independent Non-executive Directors and other Non-
executive Directors actively participated in Board
meetings and Committee meetings on which they
serve. In order to develop a balanced understanding
of the views of Shareholders, the Executive Directors
participated in roadshows and investor meetings to
meet with institutional investors during the year. As laid
out in the attendance table in A.1.1 on page 93 of this
Annual Report, majority of the Directors attended the
2020 AGM. The Company sets the date of the AGM at
the beginning of a year so all Directors are encouraged
to attend the AGM to enhance communication
with Shareholders. For the Company’s report on
communication with Shareholders, please refer to page
125 to 130 of the Annual Report.

Independent Non-executive Directors and other Non-
executive Directors actively participated in Board
meetings and Committee meetings and made a positive
contribution to the development of the Company’s
strategy and policies through independent, constructive
and informed comments.

A.7 Supply of and Access to Information

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code Principle and Code provisions A.7.1 to A.7.3 as
described as follows:

AT

In respect of regular Board meetings and Committee
meetings, the Company’s policy is to provide at least
a 14-day notice prior to the meeting setting out the
intended agenda. An agenda and accompanying Board
papers are delivered in full to all Directors at least three
days before the intended date of a Board meeting or
Committee meeting.
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A.7.2 To enable Directors to make decisions based upon
the related data on hand, management is required to
provide adequate, complete and reliable information
and provide a briefing to the Board in respect of
the matters and issues under consideration. The
Company supplied Directors with monthly management
reports to keep Board members informed of the
latest development and performance of the Company.
The Board and Directors also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

A.7.3 All Directors are entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials. Queries from Directors
also receive a prompt and full response.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND BOARD
EVALUATION

The level and make-up of remuneration and
disclosure

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code Principle and Code provisions B.1.1 to B.1.5 and
the recommended best practices B.1.6 to B.1.9 except for
B.1.8 as described as follows:

The Board has an established Remuneration Committee and
its primary functions are to evaluate the performance and
make recommendations on the remuneration packages of
the Directors and senior management, and to evaluate and
make recommendations on employee benefit arrangements.
All three members of the Remuneration Committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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In 2020, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
to, among other things, review and determine the policy
for the remuneration of the Executive Directors, assess
the performance of the Executive Directors, and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Executive Directors and senior management.
The attendance record of the members of the Remuneration
Committee during the year under review is set out as
follows:

—ToTF HMEZEEARTRMX
G (P el ma bl ERT
EEMHFMECR - FIZRATEFR
B URBABARTESESRERE
ABNFMORANESSRMEREE
R-FHEEeXEREBRFEAN
HERCERE I T

attended/number

Remuneration Committee

Elsie Leung Oi-sie (Chairman) REF(ERE)
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung B
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung Ry

B.1.1 The Remuneration Committee may consult the
Chairman, the President or any independent third
party about the remuneration level of other Executive
Directors. The Company has a policy that the
Remuneration Committee may seek professional advice
from independent third parties if it thinks necessary at
the expense of the Company.

B.1.2 The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
(which is reviewed and updated regularly) have
incorporated the specific duties set out in the code
provision of the Code. Code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) was
adopted by the Remuneration Committee.

B1.3The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are set out on the Company’s website
(www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

B.1.4 The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. The
Remuneration Committee may seek professional advice
from independent third parties if it thinks necessary at
the expense of the Company in order to enable it to
properly discharge its duties and responsibilities.
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BISMBEIERITEENSMNEIEE
Bk EREBNEE T ¢

B.1.5 The emoluments of the members of the senior
management team (excluding Executive Directors) are
within the following bands:

Number of individuals

A

2020 2019
—B=%F T NF

Emolument bands N E

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000/ 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017% T 2,000,0005% 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001% T2 2,500,000 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017% 7t % 3,000,0005% T
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001t % 3,500,0005% T
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001t E4,000,0005% 7T
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001&7T%24,500,000/% 7T
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 725,000,000 7T

ww = =N |
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B.1.6 The Board has no disagreement with the Remuneration

Committee on remuneration or compensation
arrangements with regards to Executive Directors and
senior management.

B.1.7 A significant proportion of Executive Directors’

remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to
corporate and individual performance. The Company
sets its strategic and performance targets on an
annual and three year rolling forward basis. Based
on the Company’s overall performance targets, the
Company assigns responsibilities and sets performance
benchmarks and evaluation methods for each Executive
Director, members of the senior management team
and other managerial staff. The total remuneration of
Executive Directors and senior management comprises
three key components, namely basic salary, annual
bonus and the Medium to Long-term Performance
Evaluation Incentive Plan. The actual performance of
the Company and each Executive Director and senior
management team members’ own performance against
performance targets determine the component paid
under the annual bonus and Medium to Long-term
Performance Evaluation Incentive Plan. Please refer
to Note 12 under the section “Notes to the Financial
Statements” in this Annual Report on page 219 to 222
for details on Directors’ remuneration.
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B.1.8 The Company has not adopted the recommended
best practice to disclose details of any remuneration
paid to members of senior management (other than
Executive Directors) on an individual and named basis
in the Annual Report. Having disclosed Directors’
remuneration and remuneration of the five highest paid
individuals, the Company believes that disclosure of
individual senior management’s remuneration does
not benefit Shareholders. The majority of Shareholders
are concerned with the total amount of remuneration,
rather than on an individual basis.

B.1.9 Board evaluation is conducted on an annual basis.
During the year, this evaluation was conducted by
consulting each Director regarding the attendance of
the Board and Committee meetings, the implementation
of improvements suggested by the Directors in the
previous years. The evaluation report was considered
and discussed by the Board.

C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
C.1 Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects. It is also the Board’s
responsibility to oversee the preparation of the annual
accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group’s
state of affairs, results and cash flows for the year.

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the above principle and Code provisions C.1.1 to C.1.5 as
described as follows:

C.1.1 Directors were provided with financial information and
the related information of the Group enabling them to
make an informed assessment before the publication of
the interim results and the annual results, respectively.

C.1.2 To enable Directors to discharge their duties under
Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, senior
management is required to provide adequate, complete
and reliable information and provide briefing to the
Board in respect of the matters and issues under
consideration. The Company supplied the Board with
monthly management reports to keep Board members
informed of the latest development and performance of
the Group.
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C.1.3 The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility
for overseeing the preparation of financial statements
of each financial period, which gives a true and fair
view of the operating results and financial conditions of
the Group during such period. More information about
the external auditor’s responsibilities is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 132 to 314 of
this Annual Report. In preparing the financial reports for
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors have
selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently; made judgments and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable, and prepared accounts on
a going concern basis. The Company does not foresee
any uncertainties in its ability to continue as a going
concern.

C.1.4 The Chairman’s Statement on pages 10 to 17 of the
Annual Report provides a summary of the Group’s
performance and future prospects on how the Group
will preserve value over the longer term and our
strategies for delivering the Group’s objectives.

C.1.5 The Directors have acknowledged that it is their
responsibility to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment extend to annual and
interim reports, other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, reports to regulators as well as
other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
statutory requirements.

The Company has not resolved to announce and publish
financial results on a quarterly basis and has not adopted
recommended best practices C.1.6 and C.1.7.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems for the Group and to review their
effectiveness to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and
the Group’s assets. To this end, risk management and
internal control systems have been established to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or
loss, and to manage or mitigate risks of failure to achieve
business objectives. The Board oversees the senior
management in design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems and the
senior management have provided a confirmation to the
Board on the effectiveness of these systems for 2020.
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In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the above principle and Code provisions C.2.1 to C.2.5 and
has taken into consideration recommended best practices
C.2.6 to C.2.7 as described as follows:

C.2.1 The Company’s target is to establish an efficient and

effective risk management and internal control system.

The Company emphasizes on professional integrity and
high business ethics. 544 managerial officers and staff
signed an annual declaration on compliance with the
code of ethics for the year under review.

The Company and its subsidiaries provide regular
training to its management and staff. The training
sessions not only cover the technical and operational
aspects of our businesses, but also on business ethics,
Listing Rules, corporate laws and regulations and
internal controls.

The Group has an internal audit department which is
responsible for the monitoring of the Group’s internal
control. The internal audit department has unrestricted
access and authority to review the information on the
business and internal control matters of the Group.
The Chief Audit Officer reports to the Audit Committee,
and may directly report to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee when necessary (where sensitive content
is involved). Also, he administratively reports to the
President. The internal auditors can employ outside
resources when necessary. In 2020, the internal audit
department completed internal audits and follow-
up audits on a number of subsidiaries and branches
of the Group, and presented their findings and
recommendations to the Audit and Risk Committee and
senior management of the Company.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems (including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions) of
the Group. The Board believes that in order to manage
the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s goals and
objectives to the maximum extent, the Group should
improve continuously its risk management and internal
control systems.
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C.2.2 In March 2021, the Audit and Risk Committee reviewed
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s internal audit function, accounting and
financial reporting function and believes that the Group
should monitor on an ongoing basis its total resources
in the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and continue to increase its investment and
budgets for staff recruitment, training programmes and
information technology system.

C.2.3 The Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee,
reviews annually the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries, such review considers:

e the changes in the nature and extent of significant
risks since the last review, and the Company’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and
the external environment;

e the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks
and the internal control system, and the work of
the internal audit function;

e the communication of the monitoring results to
the Board semi-annually that enables it to assess
control of the Company and the effectiveness of
the risk management;

e any possible significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified and the
extent to which they have caused unforeseeable
outcomes or contingencies that had or might
have, or may in the future have, a material impact
on the Company’s financial performance or
condition; and

e the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance.
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C.24 In the year under review, the Company complied
with the risk management and internal control code
provisions C.2.4(a) to C.2.4(e) as described as follows:

(a)

The Board has delegated to senior management of
the Company the responsibility to design, operate
and monitor its risk management and internal
control systems for identifying and evaluating the
risks and probable exposures faced by the Group.
Key risks, control measures and management
actions are continually identified, reviewed and
monitored by the management. The internal
auditor assists and guides the management in
the formulation of risk policies and processes
to effectively identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks. The management has established
a risk identification and management process.

The senior management is accountable to the
Board for providing assurance on managing and
monitoring the risk management and internal
control.

The Group’s risk management and internal control
systems provide a systematic and disciplined
approach to risk management process, which
are embedded as an integral part of corporate
governance. The systems help sustain business
success, create value for stakeholders and
support the Board in discharging its corporate
governance responsibilities by proactively
identifying, addressing and managing key risks
within the Group.

The Board is accountable for overseeing the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing its effectiveness,
while the management and other personnel are
responsible for implementing and maintaining a
robust system of internal controls that covers
governance, compliance, risk management,
financial as well as operational controls to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’
interests. The systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide
reasonable, and not absolute assurance against
material misstatements or loss.
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(d) All findings and recommendations on internal
control deficiencies for each audit engagement
are communicated to senior management who
are required to establish remedial plans to
correct those internal control deficiencies within
a reasonable time period. Post-audit reviews are
performed regularly to monitor those agreed action
plans and to ensure that corrective measures of
previously identified internal control deficiencies
have been implemented as intended and on a
timely basis. Significant deficiencies of individual
audit engagement are reported to and reviewed
by the Audit and Risk Committee.

(e) The Company has adopted a policy for certain
relevant employees who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished inside information
in relation to the Company or its shares, for
instance financial results of the Company.
Relevant employees are required to acknowledge
their understanding of this policy and the list of
relevant employees is updated at regular intervals.
The Group has management controls in place to
ensure that potential inside information can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for
the attention of the Board to decide the need for
disclosure. Furthermore, the Company ensures
that dissemination of inside information strictly
complies with the standards and disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules.

C.2.5 The Company has an internal audit function in place.

In the annual assessment of the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management and internal control
systems, the Company has taken into consideration the
recommended best practices contained in C.2.6 and
C.2.7.

The Company considers the risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate.
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C.3 Audit and Risk Committee

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code Principle and Code provisions C.3.1 to C.3.7 and
recommended best practice C.3.8 as described as follows:

C.3.1 Full minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee

meetings were kept by a duly appointed secretary of
the meeting. Draft and final version of minutes of the
Audit and Risk Committee meetings were sent to all
committee members for their comments and records
within a reasonable time after the meeting.

C.3.2 The Company’s Audit and Risk Committee comprises

four Independent Non-executive Directors and
one Non-executive Director, with Chairman of the
Committee, who is an Independent Non-executive
Director, having the requisite qualification, knowledge
and experience. A former partner of the Company’s
existing auditor shall be prohibited from acting as a
member of the Audit and Risk Committee for a period
of two years from the date of the person ceasing to be
a partner of the firm; or to have any financial interest in
the firm, whichever is later.

C.3.3 The main duties of the Audit and Risk Committee

include the following:

e to investigate any activity within its terms of
reference with full access to all books, records,
facilities and personnel. It is authorised to seek
information it requires from any employee and all
employees are required to co-operate with any
request made by the Audit and Risk Committee;

e to secure the attendance of outsiders with
relevant experience and expertise and to obtain
independent legal or other professional advice if it
considers necessary to carry out its duties; and

e to be primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and to raise
any questions of its resignation or dismissal.
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The attendance record of the members of the Audit EZERRZESKERERE
and Risk Committee during the year under review is set FEANEFLHEHINOT
out as follows:

Number of meetings
attended/number of
meetings held

Fix e W $17  Attendance rate
Audit and Risk Committee BElEEEE E Y8 =

Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung (Chairman) 55 BB%E(EJF)

Elsie Leung Oi-sie RET
Jack So Chak Kwong BB
Wang Yan FE

Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung R

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee
have incorporated all the duties set out in the Code
provision and are reviewed regularly and enhanced
where necessary.

For the period from 1 January 2020 to the date of this
report, the Audit and Risk Committee has performed
its duties, including reviewing the Group’s interim
and annual results, risk management and internal
control systems, the internal control report prepared
by the Company’s internal audit department and the
statement relating to risk management and internal
control systems as set out in this report. The Audit
and Risk Committee also met with the external auditor
without the presence of Executive Directors and senior
management. In March 2021, the Audit and Risk
Committee reviewed the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020, including
the major accounting issues raised by the external
auditor.

C.3.4The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk

Committee are available on the Company’s
website (www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

4/4 100%
4/4 100%
4/4 100%
3/4 75%
4/4 100%
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C.3.5 In 2020, there was no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit and Risk Committee on the selection and
appointment of the external auditor. The Audit and Risk
Committee is mandated to monitor the independence
of the external auditor to ensure true objectivity in the
financial statements. Prior to the commencement of
the audit of the Group’s 2020 accounts, the Audit and
Risk Committee received written confirmation from the
external auditor on its independence and objectivity.
The external auditor is refrained from engaging in non-
audit services except for limited tax-related services or
specific approved items. The Audit and Risk Committee
reviewed the external auditor’s statutory audit scope
and non-audit services and approved its fees.
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Total Bt

C.3.6 The Audit and Risk Committee was provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties in 2020.

C.3.7 The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Committee
have incorporated all the duties contained in the Code
provision.

C.3.8 The Company has established a whistleblowing policy
and system by which employees and others who deal
with the Group can raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the Group. The contents of the whistleblowing policy
are available on the Company’s website (www.cr-
power.com).
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D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
D.1 Management functions

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the principle set out in the Code and Code provisions D.1.1
to D.1.4 as described below:

D.1.1 The Board is mainly responsible for formulating and
approving the business strategies, objectives, policies
and plans of the Group, and monitoring the execution
of the Group’s strategies. It is also responsible for
overseeing the operational and financial performance
of the Group and establishing appropriate risk control
policies and procedures in order to ensure that the
strategic objectives of the Group are achieved. In
addition, the Board is also responsible for improving
the corporate governance structure and enhancing
communications with Shareholders.

The Board delegates its management and
administration functions to management and gives
clear directions as to the powers of management
at the same time, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management should report
back and obtain prior approval from the Board before
making decisions or entering into any commitments on
the Company’s behalf.

D.1.2 The Board Charter has laid out clearly the role of the
Board, including matters which are reserved for Board
approval and the functions delegated to management.
The Board Charter is reviewed regularly and amended
where necessary to take into account of any changes in
law and governance practices as well as any changes
in business operations.

D.1.3 The responsibilities of the Board and the management
are contained in the Board Charter which is available
on the Company’s website (www.cr-power.com).

D.1.4 The Company has formal letter of appointment for all
Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of
their appointment.
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D.2 Board committees

During the year under review, the Company strictly complied
with the principle set out in the Code and Code provisions
D.2.1 and D.2.2 as described below:

D.2.1 The Company has established written terms of
reference for the Committees (namely, Audit and
Risk, Nomination, Remuneration and Sustainability
Committees) of the Board. Details on the duties and
terms of reference of the Board Committees are
available on the Company’s website (www.cr-power.
com) and the HKEx website (www.hkexnews.hk).

D.2.2 The terms of reference of each Board Committee
require it to report back to the Board on its decisions
and recommendations.

In addition to the Nomination, Remuneration and Audit
and Risk Committees meetings held as mentioned on
pages 104, 111 and 120 of this Annual Report, the
Sustainability Committee also held two meetings in
2020. The attendance record of the members of the
Sustainability Committee during the year under review
is set out as follows:.
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Number of meetings

AFEER
Sustainability Committee £ZE®
Jack So Chak Kwong (Chairman) BEN(ERE)
Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung B R
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung ﬁ%%a
Wang Chuandong (Note 1) FEBR(FIEE)
Note (1): Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as the member of the

Sustainability Committee with effect from 27 March 2020.

The major responsibilities of the Sustainability Committee
include reviewing, and making recommendations to the
Board on, the Company’s policy and performance in relation
to the environment, health, safety and community relations.
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D.3 Corporate Governance Functions

During the year under review, the Company strictly complied
with the Code provisions D.3.1 and D.3.2 as described
below:

D.3.1 The Board Charter includes the duties specified in the
code provision.

D.3.2 The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the Board Charter
including determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and duties performed by
the Board under D.3.1.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective communication

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the principle set out in the Code and Code provisions E.1.1
to E.1.5 as described below:

E.1.1 In respect of each substantial issue at a general
meeting, a separate resolution was proposed by
the Chairman of the meeting, including the re-
election of individual Directors. The poll voting results
of the meetings are available on the Company’s
website (www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

Matters resolved at the 2020 AGM

* Received the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 together with the Reports of
the Directors and the Independent Auditor

e Approved payment of the final dividend of HK$0.348
per share for the year ended 31 December 2019

e Re-elected Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Tang Yong,
Mr. Zhang Junzheng, Ms. Wang Xiao Bin, Mr. Wang
Yan, Mr. Ma Chiu-Cheung, Andrew, and Mr. So Chak
Kwong, Jack as Directors, and authorised the Board of
Directors to fix the remuneration of the Directors for the
year ended 31 December 2020
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E1.2

Appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as Auditor of the
Company and authorised the Board to fix the Auditor’s
remuneration

Granted a general mandate to the Board for the share
repurchase of a number not exceeding 10% of the total
number of the Company’s issued shares as at the date
of 2020 AGM

Granted a general mandate to the Directors to issue
new shares of the Company not exceeding 20% of the
total number of the Company’s issued shares as at the
date of 2020 AGM

Approved to extend the general mandate granted to
the Directors to issue new shares of the Company
by addition thereto of the shares repurchased by the
Company

The general meeting provides the ideal venue for
the interchange of ideas between the Board, the
management and Shareholders. We therefore
encourage Shareholders to attend our AGM to discuss
matters of business substance with the Board and
management and to give us valuable advice and
feedback on both operational and governance matters.
At the 2020 AGM, there were a total of 28 individual
Shareholders, authorised representatives of corporate
Shareholders as well as proxies participated and the
number of shares voted represented 81.84% of the
total number of the Company’s issued shares.

As laid out in the attendance table in A.1.1 on page 93
of this Annual Report, a majority of Directors attended
the 2020 AGM. The Directors and management of the
Company took the opportunity to communicate with the
Shareholders present, and answered their queries with
respect to the Company’s operations and industries.
A representative of the external auditor attended the
2020 AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions about
the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report (if any).
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The Company, the Board and management highly value
the opinions and requirements of our Shareholders. The
Company communicates with Shareholders through
various channels including publication of interim
and Annual Reports, circulars, press releases and
announcements of the latest business developments,
operational results, major financing plans and other
developments of the Company on its corporate
website (www.cr-power.com) and the HKEx website
(www.hkexnews.hk) (where applicable) in a timely
manner.

E.1.3 The notices are sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear
business days before the 2020 AGM and there was no
extraordinary general meeting held in 2020.

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), members of the
Company representing at least 5% of the total voting rights
of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings
may request the Directors to call a general meeting. The
request must state the general nature of business to be
dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at the meeting. The request may consist of
several documents in like form and may be sent to the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form and must
be authenticated by the person(s) making it.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the members of
the Company may request the Company to give to members
of the Company entitled to receive notice of the annual
general meeting, notice of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting. The
request may be sent to the Company in hard copy form
(by depositing at the registered office of the Company for
the attention of the Board) or in electronic form (by email:
crp-ir@crc.com.hk) and must identify the resolution of
which notice is to be given, authenticated by the person or
persons making it and received by the Company not later
than 6 weeks before the annual general meeting to which
the requests relate; or if later, the time at which notice is
given of that meeting.
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The Company will give notice of a resolution if it has
received the requests from (a) members representing at
least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the members who
have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50
members who have a relevant right to vote.

Procedure for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director are available on the website of the
Company (www.cr-power.com).

E.1.4 An Investor Relations team has been designated to
maintain purposeful dialogue and ongoing relationships
with investors and analysts. We strive to provide
quality information to Shareholders as well of our many
stakeholders regarding the latest developments of the
Company whilst ensuring that material information is
equally and simultaneously provided and accessible to
all interested parties. The Company has established a
Shareholder’s communication policy which is available
on the Company’s website (www.cr-power.com).

Investor Relations Activities

The Company consistently pays close attention to investor
relations activities and always believes that maintaining
effective communications with Shareholders and provision
of timely and accurate information are critical in creating
shareholder value.

The Company enhances communication with Shareholders
through various investor relations activities. Details of major
investor relations activities in 2020 are set out below.

In 2020, there were over 100 requests for company visits
and teleconferences from different investors. Together with
investor conferences and roadshows through virtual or audio
meetings, we communicated with approximately more than
300 fund managers and analysts. During the meetings with
investors, we explained the development and trend of the
power industry and updated investors on our operational
conditions, strategic planning and future outlook. We also
placed great emphasis on listening to investors’ feedback,
concerns and expectations so we can relay the messages
from investors to our management team.
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Through emails or designated telephone lines, we also
provide Shareholders and potential investors with a channel
to obtain the latest information of the Company and have
their queries answered in a timely manner. We announce
our net generation volume figures on a monthly basis on our
Company’s website (www.cr-power.com) as well as through
announcements on the HKEx website (www.hkexnews.hk).

The Board always welcomes Shareholders’ views and input.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board by addressing them to the Investor
Relations Department of the Company by letter, telephone,
fax or email. Details of the contact information can be found
on page 316 of this Annual Report.

E.1.5 The Company adopts a general dividend policy that
aims to provide Shareholders out of the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders in any financial year,
subject to the criteria set out below.

Such declaration and payment of dividends shall
remain to be determined at the discretion of the Board
and subject to all applicable requirements under the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and the Articles of Association of the Company.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia:

e the Group actual and expected financial
performance;

° shareholders’ interests;

* retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

e the capital structure of the Company;

e the Company’s capital expenditure and future
expansion plans;
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e statutory and regulatory restrictions;
e general business conditions and strategies;

® general economic conditions, business cycle
of the Group’s business and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

e other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if
any, with respect to the Company’s shares on a per
share basis.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in
the form of shares subject to and in accordance with
the procedures set out in the Company’s Articles of
Association.

Except for interim dividend, any dividends declared
by the Company must be approved by an ordinary
resolution of shareholders at the general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board.

The Company will continually review its dividend policy
and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion
to update, improve and/or modify its dividend policy at
any time.

E.2 Voting by Poll

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code principle and Code provision E.2.1. The Chairman
explained the detailed procedures for conducting a poll at
the 2020 AGM and answered questions arising therefrom (if
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COMPANY SECRETARY

In the year under review, the Company strictly complied with
the Code principle and Code provisions F.1.1 to F.1.4.

The role of Company Secretary is taken on by Ms. Wang
Xiao Bin, who is also an Executive Director and Senior Vice
President of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company’s affairs. Her duties as Company Secretary
include ensuring good information flow among the Directors
and that board policy, procedures and all applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed. She advises the Directors
through the Chairman of the Company and also facilitates
induction and professional development of Directors.

In 2020, Ms. Wang attended at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training which complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

In the year under review, there were no significant changes
to the Company’s Articles of Association.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
1 N7 1% B Bl ¥k &5

Deloitte

To the Members of China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on
pages 140 to 314, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment with impairment indicators, mining rights and
related mining structures under construction

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment with impairment indicators, mining rights
and related mining structures under construction as a key audit
matter because of the significant degree of judgement made by
the Group’s management in determining the value in use (“VIU”)
of these assets.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying value of goodwill, net of
accumulated impairment losses, amounted to HK$745,354,000.
Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment assessment and as
explained in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements,
goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) of
the Company’s subsidiaries within two segments, thermal power
and renewable energy, in the People’s Republic of China, for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

Besides, as disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, out of the total property, plant and equipment
amounted to HK$180,816,825,000 as at 31 December 2020,
the Group’s management identified assets with a net book
value of HK$4,637,832,000 of certain thermal power generating
plants and renewable power generating plants with impairment
indicators. Management of the Group performed impairment
assessment in relation to such assets and each thermal power
generating plant or renewable power generating plant is
determined as a CGU.
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As disclosed in notes 18 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, mining rights and related property, plant and
equipment not yet available for use, which are mining structures
under construction, with a net book value as at 31 December
2020 of HK$4,464,641,000 and HK$3,988,717,000, respectively.
Management of the Group performed impairment assessment in
relation to such assets and each coal mine is determined as a
CGU.

The impairment assessment was performed by the Group’s
management using VIU model that estimates the value of each
CGU. The VIU model involves significant judgement in determining
the assumptions used in the calculations as further detailed in
notes 4(b), 4(c), 4(d), 15, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements. The VIU is determined based on the cash flow
projection for the CGUs discounted to its present value and
requires the use of key assumptions include:

e generation volumes of the power plants;

e growth rate of coal prices and output volumes for the coal
mines currently under construction; and

e discount rates that reflect current market assessments of
the time value of money and risks specific to the CGUs.

The VIU was less than the carrying value for certain CGU resulted
in impairment charges of HK$82,000,000 and HK$322,005,000
for goodwill and property, plant and equipment with impairment
indicators respectively during the year ended 31 December 2020.
No impairment charge has been recognised for mining rights and
related mining structures under construction for the year.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of goodwill,
property, plant and equipment with impairment indicators, mining
rights and related mining structures under construction included:

e Understanding and evaluating the Group’s methodology and
the assumptions used in determination of VIU of the CGUs;

e Evaluating the reliability of the cash flow projections
prepared by management in prior year, on a sample basis,
by comparing them to the actual results in the current year
and understanding the causes of any significant variances;

* Assessing the reasonableness of the management’s key
assumptions used in the impairment assessments with
supporting documents on a sample basis as follows:

- Assessing the generation volume of power plants by
comparing them with the generation capacity approved
by the government and historical generation volume;

- Comparing the growth rate of coal prices to the
industry forecast of the coal market trends; and

- Comparing the output volumes for the coal mines
currently under construction with the estimated coal
reserves report and government approved output.

* Involving our internal valuation experts to evaluate the
appropriateness of the methodology and reasonableness of
discount rates by benchmarking the discount rate against
comparable entities on a sample basis; and

e Performing sensitivity analysis on the key inputs, including
generation volume of power plants, growth rate of coal
prices, output volumes for the coal mines currently under
construction and discount rates, to evaluate if any further
impairment charges of goodwill, properties, plants and
equipment and mining rights is required to be made by the
management.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 30
March 2020.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

130 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd =HEE il AR A A

H{ifIZE IR

BEEBEERE_T-NF+_A=1+—HIt
FEMNEHYKRERE S —BZEENETT
it ER - -_TF=A=+HR%ZZ
WMRBEREETER o

HilfE =R

BERRERAHEMERAS - HiER
BRFHRABER(ETNEREE HTHR
REZBENRE) ©

HFE A MM BHREANBR L NREEAM
=B R AHEZFEMESEREN
FEAREEER

ma MY A HYBRERMERT - BAIW
BEECREEMER  EiBiET - ZE
HiE R R G B HYHHRRAKMER
ATBRETTEEN BN FEEREERE
FHEAFERRANBER - EREFIFTH
TOTHE  MREMRBSEMEEFLEE
REERRAL - HPIFERELZFE - HE
I RFPREERNERS -

EERIGHEENS HEHERE
AREINSE

BERAERARARERALGHMASR
i BOCE 8 B 1 S A I B B A Bl Ik
PIREBEEEMTENEHMBRER - X
HERBREEHTBHRROBE I FE
A A BR R Bk 55 AR 1 8 2 A B K 88 RR R AT
TR AR

EREBEHMBERERE  EFRETEE
SEFBELENRS YHEBEBERATR
BEFELEEMNEE  URERSE
RERESHER  RIEFEEHERE
BRHIEFLLL  RPELMERNER
ER

REEAEEEEEEVBHRRIES -

iz



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Lam Ching.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
18 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SHEmE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z_TFT_A=+-HALFE

2020 2019
—g-gF —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000
T T

Turnover EHER 5 69,550,811 67,757,632
Operating expenses DN
Fuels BRE (RERCYMAY  (33,317,542)
Depreciation and amortisation P78 EAE 5 CANaPNEYI) (10,631,129)
Employee benefit expenses EERFAFAX 8 (CROEERY  (5,190,039)
Repairs and maintenance IS TN HETE PRRERLMY  (1,954,437)
Consumables IR (R EXRIN]  (1,035,835)
Impairment charges NERIEE=ES (CEERER)] (2,284,134)
Tax and surcharges i KBt hn (700,722) (765,388)
Others HAh PREYAEPY (2,684,470)
Total operating expenses FER S I N (I K:PIEININ (57,862,974)
Other income E A 6 2,460,379 2,851,010
Other gains and losses HMigzm 7 (1,090,381) 142,790
Operating profit KR HE ICNCRREPN 12,888,458
Finance costs Mi%E A 9 (VPRI  (3,786,511)
Share of results of associates LB E R EEE 21 555,373 192,537
Share of results of joint ventures Bl &EhEEE 22 244,058 358,532
Profit before income tax RR B B0 10 11,470,329 9,653,016
Income tax expense Frsti& R 11 PRCRELEEN (2,311,622)
Profit for the year FRFE 8,676,335 7,341,394
Profit for the year attributable to: FRABHEBER :
Owners of the Company ZINNEIEF DN 7,582,668 6,590,345
Perpetual capital securities holders KABARZBHFFAA 235,327 —
Other non-controlling interests H b FEf I A RS 858,340 751,049

8,676,335 7,341,394

Basic Earnings per share attributable EAXRFERFE BN A QT
to owners of the Company during BEEAZSRER
the year 14 FREY RGNl HKS$1.37/8 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SHERREMEZEERIKANAEL

For the year ended 31 December 2020 i
HE-Z-_TF+ A=+ AHLFE

2020 2019
—E—NE
HK$’000
FET

—g-%%

p—

HK$’000
F87

Profit for the year FRFE 8,676,335 7,341,394
Other comprehensive income (loss) Hih2EKA (E8)
Items that may be reclassified HERJBEEF 7 HE
subsequently to profit or loss Bai)EH
Currency translation differences PE N AERE 8,107,285 (2,271,465)
Share of other comprehensive income JE(REIER AR
of investments accounted for using KEMHMER S W=
the equity method 98,262 (131,779)
Release to profit or loss in relation BEMNBARERER
to disposal of subsidiaries 2,401 (15,146)
Release to profit or loss in relation BERETEERER
to disposal of associates (20,639) 17,401
Items that will not be reclassified to TEEEF HEE
profit or loss Ba i) EH
Fair value changes on equity WAREBEFEAZEH
investments at fair value through FFAE AR S WAy
other comprehensive income, S ERAREE
net of tax 2E)(Hiig) 463,959 30,590
Other comprehensive income (loss) for FAEMEERKRA
the year, net of tax (E518) (Bi1g) 8,651,268 (2,370,399)
Total comprehensive income for the year, FREEMBPALE(BE)
net of tax 17,327,603 4,970,995
Attributable to: EEBR
Owners of the Company PiN/NETEF PN 15,641,711 4,432,883
Perpetual capital securities holders KABRZHFAA 235,327 16,050
Other non-controlling interests H b FE4Z HI) i 2 1,450,565 522,062
Total comprehensive income for the year, FREEMBALE(BER)
net of tax 17,327,603 4,970,995
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SHEIAAE

@ At 31 December 2020

ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE

142 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd %88 i AR A

2020

t et 25

HK$’000
TET

2019
—T-NEF
HK$’000
FHET

Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB MR 15 IR 150,581,102
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 5,703,539 5,377,588
Goodwill EES 17 745,354 773,405
Mining rights g 18 4,464,641 320,628
Exploration and resources rights BRI 19 161,205 151,462
Deferred tax assets RIETR & E 20 861,407 744,390
Other receivables and prepayments HMEUBGRIBRTENFKIE 24 9,541,081 11,937,592
Interests in associates OB & b E R S 21 8,203,530 8,833,069
Interests in joint ventures NEEPENER 22 5,778,918 5,158,844
Financial assets at fair value through NAnEBEFEE2
other comprehensive FTAEMARE WA
income (FVOCI) TRIEE 23 2,383,337 1,934,571
Loans to a FVOCI investee company MUAAAEEFER
gErt AEfiRE
WEHNEHERRER 23 319,223 339,633
Loans to a non- BEZ2E i E N
controlling shareholder 29 14,852 13,954
ALK IPE 186,166,238
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 25 2,911,509 3,171,932
Trade receivables, other receivables JEUBREFR  E b fE W FkIE
and prepayments NSELNE S 26 QRVIRVIN 20,395,018
Loans to associates MEEDEER 21 220,772 32,821
Loans to joint ventures e ETEER 22 300,080 415,059
Loans to a FVOCI investee company MUAREEFTERE
T AEMAR S WS HY
WIRENRER 23 131,519 83,867
Amounts due from associates JrE B i (b EE FROR 27 120,076 27,348
Amounts due from joint ventures B A & EFRIB 28 62,837 21,141
Amounts due from other JiE Uk EL At B s R R FRIR
related companies 29 126,241 89,493
Pledged and restricted bank deposits BRI N ZRHIRITFER 30 300,087 425,503
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFEFEY 31 5,036,484 4,907,306
IVGRERPLE 29,569,488
Total assets BEE IR RIKYM 215,735,726



EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Other reserves
Retained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Perpetual capital securities holders

Other non-controlling interests

Total equity

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred income
Retirement and other long-term
employee benefits obligations
Other long-term payable

BEKEE
BEX KRB
(LN
HAib B
REFH

ARR)HEAE AEEHED

IKABARFBHFRBA
Hofth JEFR I 1M 2

mER

mEeE

FRBEE
g8
aRAE

HERE
ELERAE
BT A

FERTH RN H b 5
(FSEERPEN

H o FH A 3K

41
42

43

37
33
38
20
39

40

24(b)

At 31 December 2020

RZEZTF+=A=+—H

2020

—E-EF

—=<—=

LY
TR

22,316,710
16,906,139

46,579,919

85,802,768
10,827,061

9,320,463

105,950,292

82,109,487
421,748
892,045
608,780
978,306

887,433

2,718,914

88,616,713

2019
“E-NEF
HK$’000
FET

22,316,710
8,225,686
42,381,683

72,923,979
5,681,750
8,210,284

86,716,013

68,763,429
432,157
826,903
480,933
740,073

115,002

71,358,497
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
SHIEIFEIRIAR

o At 31 December 2020
RZZE_ZTF+-_A=+—H

2020 2019
—v—vfﬁ :%E_j-l.qu

HK$’000 HK$'000
T T

Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables, other payables FERTERSR - EAELR
and accruals HIEXREFTER 32 KELRIRE 28,719,884
Contract liabilities aRAE 33 1,720,182 1,309,434
Lease liabilities HEARE 38 183,165 210,811
Amounts due to associates JE B 2 (b FEFRIR 34 1,115,631 468,532
Amounts due to joint ventures A& EEERIE 35 683,231 140,549
Amounts due to other JE A B b B 2 RIFIR
related companies 36 6,458,016 6,747,540
Tax liabilities MIBAE 1,160,066 924,147
Borrowings BE 37 PUREYAEEN 19,140,319
65,064,932 57,661,216
Total liabilities wmes A ERREANYE N 129,019,713
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE PILKRINCRYA 215,735,726
The consolidated financial statements on pages 140 to 314 were ZZE2ER T -—F=A+/\HBEBX
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on EIET|ZEHNE140EE %31459’1/\@?
18 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: MgHmE - WAHTIIEERREZIRE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
= ==
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BHIRERER
ey ez

2020 2019
—2-%F

“T-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Operating activities RETH
Profit before income tax BR PSR AR 11,470,329 9,653,016
Adjustments for: AR
Depreciation and amortisation I B 5 11,712,737 10,631,129
Impairment charges HEEX 599,893 2,284,134
Exchange losses (gains) B 1Bk (s ) 878,392 (69,775)
Interest expense F B 3,422,294 3,786,511
Interest income FBUWA (348,549) (367,750)
Share of results of associates FEIEEE b EEE (555,373) (192,537)
Share of results of joint ventures BIEEELEXE (244,058) (358,532)
Dividends income from FVOCI investee companies UNAREBEFERR
T AE iR A Wi
TREENRIRE QA
B EWA (125,760) (386,627)
Losses (gains) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BE R
and equipment BB () 215,224 (621)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets HESAEEEN KR (27,582) (17,024)
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries HERB A B (1,736) (41,614)
Gains on disposal of associates HER &t (4,891) (33,054)
Operating cash flows before movement LEESEHAN
in working capital RER SN 26,990,920 24,887,256
Decrease in inventories FERD 482,099 60,348
Increase in trade receivables, other receivables FEUER SR - H UK
and prepayments B KT FRIRE N (6,261,275) (3,032,421)
Increase in trade payables, other FERERSR - H e
payables and accruals RIERESEREM 1,511,050 577,629
Increase in retirement and other long-term FERT R R H R
employee benefits obligations B ITRHMAAEM 772,441 58,273
Cash generated from operations RETHEENR S 23,495,235 22,551,085
Income tax paid BERFER (2,792,962) (2,043,506)
Net cash from operating activities RETHELENREEHE 20,702,273 20,507,579
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

Investing activities
Dividends received from associates and joint ventures

Dividends received from subsidiaries disposed
of in prior years
Dividends received from FVOCI investee companies

Interests received
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment,
mining rights and right-of-use assets
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries
Proceeds from disposal of associates
Proceeds from disposal of a FVOCI investment

Loans to associates

Loans repaid by associates

Loans repaid by joint ventures

Loans to joint ventures

Loan to other related parties

Loans repaid by other related parties
Additional investment made into FVOCI

Capital contributions into associates
Capital contributions into joint ventures
Government grants related to assets

Net cash used in investing activities

148 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #=HEE hiZEKARA A
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WA PEER
1) A B B 75 B 3K
Hi@mnEEER
RNAAAEEFER
BET ARMERE
W BEIMEE
T E
ARELETE
A E AT AR

T E

REFBFTANESFE

2020
e

HK$’000
F87

1,055,217

264,888

246,645
36,705

(30,528,698)

204,597

583,786

349,147
(182,591)
256,398
(117,695)
(8,745)

(74,495)

(73,259)
(652,590)

16,501

(28,624,189)

2019
—T-NEF
HK$’'000
THET

1,605,309

241,264
310,682

(22,541,915)

88,683
1,381,584
430,398

11,157

4,095
(370,602)
(221,556)
258,938

(24,757)
(167,954)
(2,444,245)
43,472

(21,395,447)



For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

2020 2019
S A

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TAT

Financing activities MEED
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITBEMEHRE 42,912,951 34,881,749
Repayment of bank borrowings ERROTEE (33,589,910) (41,838,193)
Proceeds from issuance of perpetual capital securities /TR A B RBAFS A 5,257,010 5,565,700
Proceeds from issuance of corporate bonds and BONREFRRE
notes ik 2,274,560 5,519,772
Redemption of corporate bonds and notes BEARERLEE (2,568,454) (5,612,090)
Advances from an intermediate holding company el b UNCTE-E 2,464,380 6,238,035
Repayment of advance from an intermediate EREPREZERATRR
holding company (2,783,279) =
Proceeds from disposal of interests in HEHB A R#ER
subsidiaries without loss of control (R e K124 ) RIS 3R 110,722 1,383,919
Capital contributions by non-controlling interests FEEHI LA 173,103 262,601
Capital reductions by non-controlling interests FEEHIMRE SR E - (121,526)
Advances from (repayment of advances B bR
from) associates (BEHMETERR) 607,147 (850,466)
Advances from (repayment of advances from) REDEIR
joint ventures (BERELERN) 469,660 (481,878)
Repayment of advances to other related companies (8B L AR N R BT (97,749) (107,452)
Repayment of advances to non-controlling interests e )= NGIE 2
of subsidiaries HRER #A R - (20,978)
Principal elements of lease payments EEMEREAS (168,307) (99,981)
Interests paid BRFE (3,975,038) (4,230,420)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BIRAARAREAEARE (2,755,790) (1,938,011)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BT B A R FEER
of subsidiaries =R E (589,773) (635,294)
Interest paid to perpetual capital securities holders B KABARERF L (235,327) —
Underwriting fees for issuance of perpetual TR AKABRBHFEITH
capital securities I (11,059) —
Net cash from (used in) financing activities METEHAE (R REEE 7,494,847 (2,084,513)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BEeRBEEENRLFE (427,069) (2,972,381)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year FHIIRE RELEFEY) 4,907,306 7,977,153
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXREFEEL L FE 556,247 (97,466)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FRESRESZEY 5,036,484 4,907,306
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B (B S ER R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HEZ

1.

ToTHE+AS—AILEE

GENERAL

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited (the
“Company”) is a public company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
intermediate holding company of the Company is China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong. The directors regard
the ultimate holding company of the Company to be
China Resources Company Limited (“CRCL”), a company
registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the construction and operation of
power stations.

The address of the registered office of the Company is
Rooms 2001-2002, 20th Floor, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. The directors of the Company consider
that HK$ is the appropriate presentation currency since the
Company is a public company with the shares listed on the
Stock Exchange where most of its investors are located.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
ERGETERFE 1R BB G ER
EXLACCHIFN)
Amendments to HKFRS 3
BB BMEERE 3% (BRI A)
Amendments to HKAS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
ERMIEMEERFE IR - AL ER
FE 39 - B BMELER
F7HUERTA)

EEUHCZTER

HEBZTER

HEESSTE S

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The
amendments provide a new definition of material that states
“information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the
nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in
combination with other information, in the context of the
financial statements taken as a whole.

Definition of Material

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

IFEE FH 5 1B B s 3l 5 2R R Y
EH P

REFEBRHERNEBYBRESE
BB RT A<

RAFE  NEBBHXEREEHHE
HREERIBE2HERRIEGTRIAT B E
AR A EM BB BmRESE
BIZEETAR - RIRELAHIIERE
BB _TF—H—BzAERA
1A 58 ) £ A BN

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

B T Xt &SN - NEEEBEEYS
BRI 2 AERANNERT R BB
BREERNZAEFTAY A EBERAE
ERBEFE 2 HBRATMR K,
SHNEHAPBHRE HBELEEX

S/,
=

g

EBREESTEREIRREEE
ERIF8HIEEM TR [(IEETF)
Hy &

AEBRANFEREARERELG
HEHE1R LB LT ERIFESHR
(BETAR) - BRI A REEM R THE
& RIRIMRER  SEREAE
HRIBER IR RN E R
MHREREBZFERERBELZSFVHR
K(EHAABTHREENYHE
FOEHREPRE - RIERERBER
B o MERT AR TRE R EAZ EEURR
ERMEE R ARBYBHRRRED
BEEZRE (TR A ER a8 H hE
AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. FEHHEBEIF IR EERIMN
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ST A
(“HKFRSS”) (conmiNuED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet ERMERKRERNHITIREEITE
effective B % & A

The Group has not early applied the following new and REE B ARIBERA Y2 ZMME R
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not REMBFE] BRI BB BRE
yet effective: AR

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments'’
ERVBMEER]E 75K Rbga K RARBERT A

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions*

BERMBEREERNE 165 (BRI A) ez EEEEE R R

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

BBV EHERIE 35 (BRI AR) B ESR A HR i 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2°

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16
EEVBWMEERE 95 FIRERENE —F2RERS
EREGTERIE 395
BEBMBMELEAE 7
BEAMBREREBNE 4R REE
RS ERIE 16 5 (1EE]A)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
and HKAS 28 its Associate or Joint Venture®
EEGHENF 10N LRBEEGHEL REFHABEMPESRSLELE L HANEELNEIEE?
EREEACCHIEN)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"
ERGTEAE 15 (BETA) BESBERABSIERE REBHES S RAEBERT A
—E_TF)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use?

BEEGEERE 165K (BETA) ME - BE RFE— (ERTE RERAM TS RIE?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

ARG R E 37 5 (BT A) EEEHN—BITEHIHIBKA?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 - 20202

BV BREER(EFTAR) BEEMBREEN S N\FE_ZS_TF 7 FEIHE?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 1 R-E-_=ZF A HR2EHBNEES
SR

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 2 R-E - —F - A HR2EHABNEES
SR

E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined 8 AT B IS 2 B FIIA R F E HAR Ak

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 4 RZZE_ZEF A B 2ERBNFEES
L2

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 5 RZE_—F—-—A B zERBENFEH
L2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (conmNuED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use”

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that
were produced while bringing an item of property, plant
and equipment to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management (such as electricity produced when testing
whether the relevant property, plant and equipment is
functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling such
items should be recognised and measured in the profit or
loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost
of the items is measured in accordance with HKAS 2
“Inventories”.

The Group’s existing accounting policy is to account for sale
proceeds on electricity produced during testing as reduction
of cost of the relevant property, plant and equipment. Upon
application of the amendments, such sale proceeds and
the related costs will be included in profit and loss with
corresponding adjustments to the cost of property, plant
and equipment. The directors of the Company will assess
the impact of the application of amendments. However, it
is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the
effect of the amendments until the Group performs a detail
review.

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. [EFES BT IRSEERIN

EFAYINED))

BB M EERERNHETREETE
78 B B R 5 2 Al (a0)

B N E BB R EERANERT AR
S RARIEEEY - ERAMAAEM
el MERT BBV R EERIRN A
R EHEHMBERREKNEKX

By 48R
rE

EBEIERIEICHIY¥  BER
R — AT FH 22 51 89 PR 5 54 B (15
HEA)

ERTARE - YR - BMEMRE
HASEEREERZREEERAN
77 B VRPNV B AR B9 A
B BT EE £ BVMEAAT IR B B9 R AN (Flan
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FET)REEHEY RO SRR
RBEREEEBETERNGTE -
) e BB AR IR BB & 5T 4RI 2B 2 5%
[FEIFE -

AREBBEITOE BRI R
EEMNENHEBAESER®DE
B BS K R R AN R D ETT 8 R R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE—

ERE+_A=+—RALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$24,426,907,000. In
addition, there were outstanding capital commitments
amounting to HK$13,169,359,000 (Note 47). The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
taking into account the current operation of the Group
as well as the banking facilities (Note 37) available to
the Group, the Group has sufficient working capital to
enable it to meet in full its financial obligations as and
when they fall due in the coming twelve months from
the date of statement of financial position. Therefore,
these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes,

value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

* has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-
controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-
generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or
the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-
generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate and a joint venture is
described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. When the
Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a
joint venture may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains
an interest in the former associate or joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when
an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture
becomes an investment in an associate. There is no
remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues
to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to
profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint venture
are recognised in the consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purpose (other than
construction in progress as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction work in progress comprises infrastructure
construction of new power plants, technical
improvement projects of existing power plants and
coal mines being constructed, is carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Bz

—EoEFToASH-HILFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses, and are amortised
using the unit of production method based on the
proved and probable mineral reserves.

Exploration and resources rights

Exploration and resources rights are recognised at cost
on initial recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition,
exploration and resources rights are stated at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Exploration
and resources rights include the cost of exploration
rights and the expenditures incurred in the search
for mineral resources as well as the determination
of the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of extracting those resources. When the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resources become demonstrable and relevant mining
rights certificate is obtained, previously recognised
exploration and resources rights are reclassified as
mining rights or other fixed assets. These assets are
assessed for impairment before reclassifications.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and exploration
and resources rights

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
exploration and resources rights to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and exploration
and resources rights (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, mining rights and
exploration and resources rights are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights and exploration
and resources rights (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories include fuel oil for power generation, coal,
materials for repairs and maintenance and spare
parts, and are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all costs necessary to make sale.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ¥ S {HHilTs Ik ZXAE®E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT B’ZEK SR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHEBE®

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interest of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings and
photovoltaic facilities that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #R# S {H 85 ik XA E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT REAS R @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHBE®

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ¥ S {HHilTs Ik ZXAE®E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT REASF IR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHEBE®

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #R# S {H 85 ik XA E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT REAS R @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHBE®

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE—

ERE+_A=+—RALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the
date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect
of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation before 1 January 2005 is treated as non-
monetary foreign currency items of the acquirer and
reported using the historical cost prevailing at the date
of acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Bz

—EoEFToASH-HILFEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost
of providing benefits is determined using the projected
unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being
carried out at the end of each annual reporting period.
Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset ceiling
(if applicable) and the return on plan assets (excluding
interest), is reflected immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a charge or credit
recognised in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised
in other comprehensive income is reflected immediately
in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to profit
or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the
period of a plan amendment or curtailment and a gain
or loss on settlement is recognised when settlement
occurs. When determining past service cost, or a gain
or loss on settlement, an entity shall remeasure the net
defined benefit liability or asset using the current fair
value of plan assets and current actuarial assumptions,
reflecting the benefits offered under the plan and the
plan assets before and after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement, without considering the effect
of asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic
benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan
or reductions in future contributions to the plan).

3.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

iR 2 O (H Bl R R A B
]S’ziﬁaﬁﬂff('i’ﬁ(as)

3.2 EAXRFEE@®E)

ESHEF
RABENRAX

1 m&LW%ﬁﬂd‘iﬂmﬁm
%H%ﬁ@%@%ﬁaﬂi °

M 7E & A iR K48 A 5+ &l i
CREBEANKATIRAE
ﬂ“ﬁ%ﬁi#i W& F
EHREHRETHEEREBE - E
FiE(BREREREMEE
EELREHMTE(WER)
M8l EEMERCTEEF
ENRRBREHTBRIERR
BRI RA EE A HARE R H b AR
AU E AR IAR - REAM
*mw¥ﬁ%miﬁﬁiﬁk
RIRBFERER - W&
FoEEER -

B 1EBR B B AR Y ET BB 7T 3 #B
UZ HIFNIERER  MEEK
HRAEEREERER - 88
TE 3B 1 AR 75 B 2N Bk 45 B W AR sk
B BERECAEIEE
AR EEIRENBEERR
M ERERMNEBGEHEEF
8 ARGt EERT - MRS
mE R R IBE T SR H a9 18 A
N8l EE MAEEEE L
ﬁiﬁﬁ?ﬁff(ﬁﬂbﬁdfiﬂ Rk ET 2
R TR DTN AR H A E
BN RHIRE)

Annual Report 2020 #%# 179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ¥ S {HHilTs Ik ZXAE®E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ];'ZEK SR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHEBE®

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate
at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit
liability or asset. However, if the Group remeasures
the net defined benefit liability or asset before plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement, the Group
determines net interest for the remainder of the annual
reporting period after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement using the benefits offered under the
plan and the plan assets after the plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement and the discount rate used
to remeasure such net defined benefit liability or asset,
taking into account any changes in the net defined
benefit liability or asset during the period resulting from
contributions or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

e service cost (including current service cost, past
service cost, as well as gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and
L remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents
the actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined
benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation
is limited to the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plans or
reductions in future contributions to the plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third
parties reduce service cost upon payment of these
contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there
will be contributions from employees or third parties,
the accounting depends on whether the contributions
are linked to service, as follows:

e |f the contributions are not linked to services (for
example contributions are required to reduce
a deficit arising from losses on plan assets or
from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the
remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
or asset.

° If contributions are linked to services, they reduce
service costs. For the amount of contribution
that is dependent on the number of years of
service, the entity reduces service cost by
attributing the contributions to periods of service
using the attribution method required by HKAS
19 paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For the
amount of contribution that is independent of the
number of years of service, the entity reduces
service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at
the earlier of when the Group entity can no longer
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when
it recognises any related restructuring costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ¥ S {HHilTs Ik ZXAE®E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ];'ZEK SR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHEBE®

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires
or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

Provisions for the Group’s restoration, rehabilitation
and environmental expenses are based on estimates of
required expenditure at the mines in accordance with
PRC rules and regulations. Provisions are measured at
the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial

recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss, except that at
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” applies.
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVOC/

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the capital reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
“other income” line item in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
including trade and other receivables, loan to/amounts
due from related parties (including associates, joint
ventures, FVOCI investee companies, non-controlling
shareholders and other related parties pledged and
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and financial
guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

iR 2 O (H B SR R AN B
B’zi?(auﬂff(?ﬁ(%)

3.2 EXRFEE@®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

* significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

® an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

3. MESHUIFHEFTNELE

REAR

TR

3.2 EAXRFEE@®E)
2T A H)
ERMEE (&)

EHEERERREEENH
A ERE 95 ] TRl E G A9
EftEE (%)

(i)

BN ER

WW%GT & B I m

P KRB R ﬁ EXNE
1#&@4%%?& RIS
KRN ERBREBAT
RAIREBHAEREA (BT
AEE)ERCRET RALE
B A R ) B %
Ko

Nem LAt - 2@
ECBHEB0H - Al
SERTECHLEN B
FAEBMABEERAX
RENRTERBRIE
HWERE BEE

4>H11}>3

Annual Report 2020 ## 193



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iiiy  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

* significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

* the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contract, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ¥ S {HHilTs Ik ZXAE®E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT REASF IR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHEBE®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the capital reserve is not
reclassified to profit or loss but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #R# S {H 85 ik XA E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT REAS R @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHBE®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual
obligation for the Group to deliver cash or other
financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion
to defer payment of distribution and redemption of
principal amount indefinitely are classified as equity
instruments. The dividends for the perpetual capital
securities are accounted for as profit distribution.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates, amounts due to joint
ventures, amounts due to other related parties and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ¥ S {HHilTs Ik ZXAE®E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT REASF IR @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EXSHEBE®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumption
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

4(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The estimate of depreciable lives of property, plant
and equipment, especially power generating plant
and equipment and mining structures, was made by
the directors of the Company with reference to the
following: (1) the historical usage of the assets; (2)
their expected physical wear and tear; (3) results of
recent durability assessment performed; (4) technical
or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production of similar fixed assets;
and (5) the changes in market demand for, or legal or
comparable limits imposed on, the use of such fixed
assets. When the useful lives differ from the original
estimated useful lives, management will adjust the
estimated useful lives accordingly.

The current estimated useful lives are stated in Note
15. It is possible that the estimates made based on
existing experience are different to the actual outcomes
within next financial period and could cause a material
adjustment to the depreciation and carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (conmnuep)

4. EAEETHIER IG5 AEH
B A %= B0 3 2 ARifR )

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

4(b) Estimated impairment of property, plant and

equipment

In determining whether a property, plant and
equipment is impaired or the event previously causing
the impairment no longer exists, management has
to exercise judgement, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions,including generation
volumes of the power plants and growth rate of coal
prices, to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management to determine the
level of impairment, including the discount rate or the
growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could materially affect net present value used in the
impairment test.

Certain wind power projects approved by government
before 31 December 2018 were not able to complete
the connection with the local power grid by 31
December 2020 and those wind power projects
will not entitle the renewable energy tariff premium.
Management considered that there is impairment
indictor for those wind power projects and performed
impairment assessment on those related property,
plant and equipment.

Impairment charge amounting to HK$422,701,000,
in which HK$322,005,000 is related to those wind
power projects with impairment indicators, were
recognised in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (Note 15). Further
considerations in performing impairment assessment
regarding property, plant and equipment are set out in
Note 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EAEFHIEIRIGE AH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION HiEER N ER= S P
UNCERTAINTY (conminuep)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) A THBAEENETERR(E)
4(c) Impairment review of goodwill 4(c) BERERT

As of 31 December 2020, there was goodwill
substantially arising from acquisition of various
power plants amounting to HK$745,354,000 (2019:
HK$773,405,000) (Note 17). Determining whether
goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which
goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amounts
of each of CGUs are determined based on value in
use calculation. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and any residual value from
disposing the related assets and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.

The details of the assumptions used by management
and the sensitivity analysis are disclosed in Note 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (conmnuep)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
4(d) Impairment review of mining rights

Mining rights are reviewed for impairment whenever one
of the following events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable (the list is not exhaustive).

e The period for which the entity has the right to
explore in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not
expected to be renewed.

e  Substantive expenditure on future exploration for
and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific
area is neither budgeted nor planned.

e Exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area have not led to the
discovery of commercially viable quantities of
mineral resources and the entity has decided to
discontinue such activities in the specific area.

e Sufficient data exist to indicate that, though
a development in the specific area is likely to
proceed, the carrying amount of the exploration
and resources rights is unlikely to be recovered in
full from successful development or by sale.

e Mining right are under development and not yet
available for use.

In estimating the recoverable amounts of assets,
various assumptions, including future cash flows to be
associated with the mining rights and discount rates,
are made. If future events do not correspond to such
assumptions, the recoverable amounts will need to be
revised, and this may have an impact on the Group’s
results of operations or financial position.

At 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of mining
rights is HK$4,464,641,000 (2019: HK$320,628,000)
(Note 18). During the year ended 31 December 2019,
an impairment amounting to HK$190,455,000 (2020:
nil) was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Turnover represents revenue arising from sales of electricity
and heat generated by thermal power plants during the
year. The group is currently engaged in two business areas
- thermal power (inclusive of coal-fired and gas-fired power
plants) and renewable energy (inclusive of wind farms,
hydro-electric projects and photovoltaic power generation).

5.

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

SXRARNEER

EEBIENF MR HET N RUER
BAMEEMYA - AEBRERE
RE &S 5 — A H BB (BERE
EHMARRBR) R BEELR(D
HENBE  KNEBRAMBEE

z)-

2020
—E-BF

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FH&T

HK$’000
TET

Sales of electricity BHEE RKPIWEI 62,613,522
- Sales of power generated from —NEBREEHE
thermal power plants 51,446,200 52,019,375
— Sales of power generated from — A BERREEHE
renewable energy 12,478,535 10,594,147
Heat supply (by thermal power plants) Hpe e (NERER) 5,626,076 5,144,110
67,757,632

For sales of electricity and heat supply, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when electricity and heat is
generated and transferred to the power grid owned by
the respective regional or provincial grid companies or the
customers, respectively.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers (“CODM”). The CODM mainly include
executive directors and members of senior management
of the Company. For the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment, the CODM review operating
results and financial information on a group company by
company basis. Each such group company is identified as
an operating segment. When the group company operates
in similar business model with similar target group of
customers, the group’s operating segments are aggregated.

69,550,811

RENHELMGEMHENS - Wan
EEBN NNV BAESWREE
ERARAFPHANEEIFER -

EEDMIRATELERREERI
[ERE—HH 2R - TELERR
EIXTEREARTNTEERERE
BERE - ERD B RKRBEGE
mE  EBEERRERAAEER
BISEX B ARINEEXE NI HEE
e R EHEBXE R RIIEEN S
—fEEENE - EERBRARALLUE
BRAKEAMIUNBREEFE
B AERENZEN SRV BRE
BEMERS

Annual Report 2020 £# 205



o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EFERNBI&E R @

(CONTINUED)

The Group’s operating and reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are as follows:

()  Thermal power represents sales of electricity,
development, construction, management and operation
of coal-fired and gas-fired power plants (“thermal
power”).

(i)  Renewable energy represents sales of electricity,
development, construction, management and operation
of wind farms, hydro-electric projects and photovoltaic
power generation (“renewable energy”).

In prior year, the segment result analysis for the year ended
31 December 2019 represents the profit by each segment
without allocation of central corporate expenses, interest
income, finance costs, share of results of associates, share
of results of joint ventures, gains on disposal of subsidiaries,
gain on disposal of associates and dividend income from
FVOCI investee companies. During the current year, in view
of the continuing development of the renewable energy
segments, the Group revised the segments result analysis
that segment profits represent the profits earned by each
segment without allocation of exchange losses or gains.
As a result, the segment results for the year ended 31
December 2019 are restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EFIRNABI&ER @

(CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results Pl E S E S

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and J’\/\—F%%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬂ@z&%”&
>%< 3 aN .

results by operating segment. mMREDT

For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZZ-_ZEF+_A=1+—HIHF

5

Thermal Renewable
power energy Total

XE  ABERR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T FET FET

SEGMENT REVENUE 2 EBUA
External sales SNERIEE 57,072,276 12,478,535 69,550,811
Timing of revenue recognition  F&E AU 25 H B S
— at a point in time —RE—KHEE 56,979,696 12,478,535 69,458,231
— over time — BERF I FER 92,580 - 92,580

57,072,276 12,478,535 69,550,811

Segment profit P2l e 7,546,354 4,802,367 12,348,721
Exchange losses & H 1Bk (878,392)

Profit before taxation Bk BT 1S %% B B 11,470,329
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R RS Rl 51

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EFERNBI&E R @

(CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) pas 1 E-IESLE )
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BHE_Z—NF+A=1T—HILF
g
Renewable
energy Total
A& IR Kt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET AT
SEGMENT REVENUE B A
External sales SNERSH & 57,163,485 10,594,147 67,757,632
Timing of revenue recognition F&E AU 25 A fE
— at a point in time —RE—FREEH 57,080,203 10,594,147 67,674,350
— over time — PER R 1R 83,282 — 83,282

57,163,485 10,694,147 67,757,632

Segment profit (restated) SEFE (2 &) 5,031,751 4,551,490 9,583,241

Exchange gains R 69,775

Profit before taxation R PRAS TRT A 9,653,016

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the Ky EPEY E FTIBUR BER 5 3 ATl &Y
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note REBSEHBERMER ©

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by operating and reportable segment:

Segment assets SERE E
— Thermal power —NE

- Renewable energy — A B4R

Total segment assets and MOREEREHEE
consolidated assets

Segment liabilities SEPBE

— Thermal power — K&
- Renewable energy — A AR

Total segment liabilities and woHBaEREHARE

consolidated liabilities

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances
and allocating resources among segments, all assets
and liabilities are allocated to operating segments in the
current year. In prior year, the segment assets and liabilities
represents all operating assets and liabilities excluding
investments in associates, investments in joint ventures,
FVOCI and loans to an FVOCI investee company, loans to/
amounts due from associates and joint ventures, loan to a
non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and other related
companies, deferred tax assets, pledged and restricted
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents, other assets
managed by corporate office, other unallocated corporate
assets, bank and other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities,
tax liabilities, amounts due to associates and joint ventures,
amounts due to other related parties and other unallocated
corporate liabilities. As a result, the segment assets and
liabilities analysis for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
restated.

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

SXARABER @

THEERER

AT RIZAI 2| G & DN AEEE
ERBEDI

2019

E— N
HK$’000
TR FHET
(Restated)

(BE5))

HK$ 000

IREIRIEARCE 124,002,855
126,268,718 91,732,871

PATNRARCKY@ 215,735,726

81,071,618
72,610,027

78,132,703
50,887,010

LR MZEE 129,019,713
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EFERNBI&E R @

(CONTINUED)
Other segment information HihpEpER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_E-FEE+_-_A=+—81I=E

Renewable
power energy

XE  ABERR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TR FTET

Amounts included in BEEDEMER

the measure of segment DEPEEFTENSEE ¢

profit and segment assets:
Additions to non-current FE BN & 2 HIE 10 (i)

assets (i) 6,055,124 31,364,598 37,419,722
Depreciation and amortisation — #7& K # £ 7,452,868 4,259,869 11,712,737
Impairment charges ALK 271,609 328,284 599,893
Net losses on disposal of HEME - BEK

property, plant REREEFE

and equipment 155,914 59,310 215,224

Amounts regularly provided to FHIREZELERRE
CODM but not included in the IREERBEE

measure of segment profit: DEFEFTEN SR ¢
Share of results of associates  JE{GEtE DS 555,373 555,373
Share of results of BIEEEEEEA

joint ventures 73,056 171,002 244,058
Finance costs BB E R 1,909,599 1,512,695 3,422,294
Interest income FEHA 308,864 39,685 348,549
Income tax expense FrisHi &M 2,129,818 664,176 2,793,994
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

PO

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EXgiR A&kl
(CONTINUED)
Other segment information (Continued) HAth 5 &R &R (/)
For the year ended 31 December 2019 23‘:: —NE+-—A=+—HIt=F

Thermal
power

KE

HK$’000
FET
(restated)

(B&E351)

BIRED BHFE R

Amounts included in

the measure of segment DEEEFEN DR ¢

profit and segment assets:
Additions to non-current FETR BN & 2 B9 4E 0 (i)

assets (i) 1,754,168
Depreciation and amortisation 78 K # £ 6,981,951
Impairment charges VEREEEES 2,318,240
Net gains (losses) on disposal HEWE « ME LR E

of property, plant Ml (&R )R8

and equipment 18,598
Amounts regularly provided to EHREZLERRE

CODM but not included in the $REERBIFEDE

measure of segment profit: A d‘imﬁgﬁ :
Share of results of associates  FE{hEE & D EELE 192,537
Share of results of BhEeEtEER

joint ventures 226,211
Finance costs W% M 2,519,741
Interest income F B WA 325,354
Income tax expense Fri5ti& R 1,844,416

Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets and financial instruments. (0

(i)

Renewable
energy

Al ABEIR
HK$’000
FHIT
(restated)

(BE31)

Total
@it
HK$’000
AT

22,993,098 24,747,266
3,649,178 10,631,129
(34,106) 2,284,134
(17,977) 621

— 192,537

132,321 358,532
1,266,770 3,786,511
42,396 367,750
467,206 2,311,622

3Fw§ﬁ§§?@% EHEEERERT
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EFERNBI&E R @

(CONTINUED)

Geographical information ith 15 & B

The Group’s operations are principally located in the AEBNEEFEMRFE - A&

PRC. The Group’s revenue from external customers EMERBIISFEFPHBAEER

are mainly attributed to customers located in the PRC. BURFBNER RZEZTF

The Group’s non-current assets excluding deferred tax +ZA=1+—8 AEE/ERHE

assets and financial instruments, which amounted to E(TEEECHRENEERSRT

HK$213,583,470,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: H.)213,583,470,000 8 (= — A,

HK$174,996,607,000) are located in the mainland China. F :174,996,607,000 7% JT ) fiL 7 A
o

Information about major customers EBETEEFNEHR

Revenue from customers of each corresponding year REEEFERERASEREESS

contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as 10% M B PERIWALAT

follows:

2020 2019
—g-®F —TNF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T

Customer A (note) =P AR RCURPGE 12,013,205
Customer B (note) =P B(KEE) 8,929,209 9,879,182
Customer C (note) X C (M) 6,966,614 8,526,037
Customer D (note) =P D (Ftsk) 8,209,276 7,452,039
Note: Revenue from thermal power and renewable energy. GEIE KENERATBLERRRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. OTHER INCOME

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

HAtfilx A\

2020 2019
S S

—E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHEIT

Sales of scrap materials and by-product $5%€ gl & BIE & 1,113,151 993,591
Government grant (Note) AT 73 B (B 2D 529,191 674,894
Interest income FEBA 348,549 367,750
Service income AR7E & U 315,819 280,597
Dividend income from KELARBET=BEZS)

FVOCI investee companies FFAHAMERE

RE QAR EUA

Others Hfb

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received grants from certain
PRC governmental departments to compensate high operating costs amounting
to HK$21,296,000 (2019: HK$10,336,000). Those conditions attached with these
grants have been met before receipt of the grants and, therefore, the Group
recognised the grants as income upon receipt.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received grants amounting
to HK$34,589,000 (2019: HK$57,148,000) from the PRC government, which were
to encourage certain PRC subsidiaries to close down the coal mines as a result of
the China’s supply-side reform.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group received grants of
HK$287,138,000 (2019: HK$414,823,000), from the PRC government, for
encouraging certain PRC subsidiaries to increase supply of electricity, and grants
for encouraging the development of environmental friendly electricity generation
of HK$129,511,000 (2019: HK$118,965,000). Those conditions attached to these
grants have been met before receipt of the grants and, therefore, the Group
recognised the grants as income upon receipt.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, government grants relating to
assets that are credited to other income amounted to HK$56,657,000 (2019:
HK$73,622,000) (Note 39).

125,760 386,627
27,909 147,551

2,851,010

2,460,379

MeE

HE-ZTZ-FTF+-_A=+—HILFE  ££HE
W B %5 F o B BR A 50 P9 A 4 18 58 4 B AR 38 n
LR MHEL - £8 521,296,000 (=2 — A,
4 : 10,336,000/ 7T) © Z S AEEGE
PR IE AT B EE R - BEit - AN B R GREE
R ARA -

REE-_Z-_TF+_A=+—RALEFE A&
(55 L ) AR B RS B RO 4 B 34,589,000 8 T (=
T —NF 157,148,000 70) - AREEAE TH
I P B A )28 P B AR R R R R R o

RBE_Z_EZF+_A=+—RHILEE &
&= [ U5 B AP B IR B BRAY # Bk 287,138,000 % 7T
(ZZ— 145 : 414,823,000 7T) TR RS B =
FrREH B AR E 258 A KR S BB IR (R
EIE B MR 129,511,000 T(Z T — hF :
118,965,000 7T ) © 5% =5 # B AU MY A5 {51 B A K
EURIBATE BER - At - REBERKREER
HWENBURA o

REE-Z-_TF+-_A=+—RHLLFE ;A
H it W A & & EE 4B B BT 47 B & 56,657,000 7
TT(ZZ—N%F : 73,622,000 7T) (M £ 39) -
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B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Net foreign exchange (losses) gains
(Losses) gains on disposal of

property, plant and equipment
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries
Gains on disposal of associates
Other net losses

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Wages, salaries and bonus

Pension costs - retirement benefit
schemes (Note 40 (i) & (ii))

Termination benefit costs (Note 40 (iii))

Expenses capitalised in
construction in progress:
Other staff costs
Pension costs
Depreciation and amortisation

SN U 25 (518 ) V5 5R
HEME - BERRED
(B518) et
hEEAEEEMN K
HEM B AR
HEBE QR
HAth jE5 185 58

(1,090,381)

«

TE& - Hekits
RIRE A — RIKAE 5T
(B 5E 40 (i) & (i)
21 ER A B A (FiEE 40 (i)

6,000,882

REZTRAENMENER :
Hth 8 TR

B

IrE N

214 cChina Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd %88 fiZi AR A

2020
—E-%F

HK$’000
TET

(878,392)

(215,224)

27,582
1,736
4,891

(30,974)

{ie & il B 5<

2020
—E-%F
HK$’000
TET
4,663,626

1,129,882
207,374

547,703
28,211
140,324

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
T T

69,775

621
17,024
41,614
33,054

(19,298)

142,790

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHEIT
4,323,449

726,724
139,866

5,190,039

535,161
61,619
120,615



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (conminuep) 8. EEfamnl %@
() Five highest paid individuals () EEESFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the FA - AEERAEESFHHA
highest in the Group for the year include one (2019: TEE-—R(ZE—NLF: W
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the Z)EE (M s 12 B4 9 A I
analysis shown in Note 12. The emoluments paid to the HHM) - FAZNTHTEA
remaining four (2019: three) individuals during the year ZE-NF:=ZRB)ATHE
are as follows. Bz -

2020 2019
—E-EE —“ZE-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000
T TAT

Salaries and other benefits e kEMBER 4,452
Bonus TE4T 9,374
Post-employment benefits BB 12 12 143

13,969
Emoluments of these four (2019: three) individuals are HEE(ZE-—AF: =&)A
within the following bands: THEMN T THIEE -

Number of individuals

AE

2020 2019
—EB-EE “ZE-NEF

Emolument bands e EE

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 BT R

3,000,000 7T =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 /B TE

3,500,000 7T -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 /B2

4,000,000 78 7T =
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 BLE

4,500,00078 7T _
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 B2

5,000,000/ 7T 3
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B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. Hifs&EH

2020 2019
—EB-EHE —T—hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
Interests on borrowings EERNE 3,567,921 3,727,120
Interests on corporate bonds and notes R AIfESREEFE 412,389 558,382
Interests on loans from related parties  BH% 5 & A& 145,560 75,196
Interests on lease liabilities HEGENE 49,801 18,801
Others HAth 54,824 89,896
4,230,495 4,469,395

Less: Interests capitalised in B RERIEEAR D
construction in progress (Note 15) FE(HsE15) (808,201) (682,884)
3,786,511

3,422,294

FRDEMEWMEERRRR REF
REREEMBEESREANEEM
& WREBFFHENMENE4.21%
(ZZ—NF : 4.36% )T HEERE
EEEMNF

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on
funds borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining
qualifying assets and on the general borrowing pool which
are calculated by applying an average capitalisation rate of
4.21% (2019: 4.36%) per annum to expenditures incurred
on qualifying assets.

10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BB {S i Al i

Profit before income tax has been

BR TS B¢ A1 A1 B2 HIBR

2020

S =L
HK$’000
FHT

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHEIT

arrived at after charging: 5| & I8 :
Auditor’s remuneration Z BB & 13,216 13,393
Cost of inventories recognised FERAERAX L

as expenses 33,538,099 34,361,365
Depreciation and amortisation EREHE IAAPNEYE 10,631,129
Expenses capitalised in RERIREAENMEMER :

construction in progress:

Depreciation and amortisation ERE#H 140,324 120,515
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

11.FhiSiH&H

2020 2019
—E-%F

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE

—F-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T THT

Current taxation: & HAFR I ¢
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) — R EAAEH
([FELERER]) 2,932,795 2,490,361
Deferred taxation credit (Note 20) EFERE BB (P 5E 20) (138,801) (178,739)
Total A %E 2,793,994 2,311,622

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group had no taxable profit in Hong Kong or incurred
tax losses for both years.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been calculated based on
the estimated assessable profits in accordance with the
relevant tax rates applicable to certain subsidiaries in the
PRC.

Pursuant to CaiShui [2012] No. 10 Notice on the Execution
of the Catalogue of Public Infrastructure Projects Entitled
for Preferential Tax Treatment, certain wind power projects
of the Group, which were set up after 1 January 2008,
are entitled to a tax holiday of a three-year full exemption,
followed by a three-year 50% exemption of enterprise
income tax, commencing from their first turnover-making
year.

Pursuant to CaiShui [2011] No. 58 Notice on Tax Policy
Issues concerning Further Implementing the Western China
Development Strategy, certain entities of the Company’s
PRC subsidiaries, which are located in the western regions
of the PRC, are entitled to a tax holiday of a two-year full
PRC enterprise income tax exemption, followed by a three-
year 50% exemption commencing from their first year of
reporting turnover and can enjoy a preferential income tax
rate of 15% after the tax holiday.

In addition, certain of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries
are entitled to certain tax credit (“Tax Credit”) against their
assessable EIT, which is calculated as 10% of the current
year’s purchases and use of specific environmental friendly,
water and energy-saving, safety-enhanced equipment in the
Group’s electricity generation business. The portion of Tax
Credit that has not been utilised in the current period can
be carried forward for future tax credit over a period of not
more than five years.

ZRER B A PR M 6 A &8 X AT AR
ARBAMBEREEEE WAL ERE
BREHIELEE -

B R PTISI B AR IR E R R BB
J& R B ME B IR R A T R B A B

S
ECE

RIEF B [2012]10 5RCBA BB ~ B
HiSEBERMTARERREEE
CEMGHESAEERMENS
My AEER-_FTZTNF—H—H
MERIZEETREIERR B & EEF
FEEN-FERCBMMEH - M
FEfR = F R FRREEMEN

RIZ 1 [2011158 AR R A E 1
PO AR AR 3% Bk A B TR R R B Y
BA) - RRBE TR EAHN
HEIM B A E B B EENFERNMR
FRHREBATRELEMEN » 2&=
FRBFRREEMSEH - ANEL
HBEER 15% NEEMEHHE

AN - AR BE T BN E R F R E
AMERABHEE —EHRBER
(ITHREEE]) ZHBAERDRA
FEAEBNEEXHEE LA
IRIR ~ ERREER/KEL K 22 2 IR R BRI HY
10% T8 - NEAM I E|E AT
BRI D A BN ARRER - HERR
TEZREEF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

11.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contiNueD)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the profit before income tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as follows:

1

Profit before income tax

BR BT 1S ¢ A1 A1 7B

IR 25%
—ZT—NF :25%)

Calculated at a tax rate of 25%
(2019: 25%)
Tax exemptions and concessions rates

granted to PRC subsidiaries e RER
Other tax credit HiHEES
Income not subject to tax BAT AU A

Expenses not deductible for tax TAIHIFAF X
purposes

Unrecognised deductible RERU R E R ERE
temporary differences
Unrecognised tax losses KRR EE

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax {& FA i@ R R H I8 518 &

losses and temporary differences iy =%

Withholding tax on the earnings

remitted/anticipated to be remitted S 0E H A B R TR A0 A
by certain subsidiaries

Others HA

Income tax expense for the year FAMSHRER

Tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%) is adopted for the taxation
reconciliation as such tax rate is applicable to most of the
Group’s operations in the PRC for the year.

The tax credit relating to other comprehensive income is as
follows:

2020
—ECEE
Tax charge

REX M

HK$'000

TR

Before tax
B
HK$’000
T#r

Fair value changes of FVOCI
qu)KHf&,mAMMEﬁ

AEEED 627,580

(163,621)

218 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd =B E il AR A A

o B Y /B R AT IR

HE THEBARIEL, FEH

463,959

1.FhiSfiE M@

RAFEE  FIEHREREGHERR
FIBR TS AIAEEERA T ¢

2020
B
HK$’000

FEx

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
TAET

—_——

11,470,329 9,653,016
2,867,582 2,413,254
(674,793) (644,884)
(120,300) (20,886)
(233,122) (325,547)
643,972 446,778
145,759 453,653
193,849 157,663
(112,708) (175,958)
64,355
(56,806)
2,793,994 2,311,622
HMIEBHERERA2%(ZZE— N F:
25%)BMEFE  RARFAAKE
REDHBEBRFERZIRE -

EREME S RSN RS HIT

2019
It ik
Tax charge
REX
HK$'000
TATL

After tax
B
HK$'000
TR

After tax
iy
HK$'000
TR

Before tax
Al
HK$'000
TR

40,786 (10,196) 30,690



For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12.85 - EEHTERES
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS BN &
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EENEFYTEMS
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 BHE_Z-_TF+-_A=1T—HILF
December 2020 is set out below: B BEFHNMEEHIINT :

Salaries and Pension
Fees bonus costs Total

wE FEREA  BARX maEr

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$’000
TET TET FiEx TEx

Non-executive Directors: FEHTESR :
Wang Chuandong (ii) FER (i)
Li Ru Ge (iii) 20 (i)
Chen Ying BRIE
Wang Yan TE
Ge Changxin (vi) BERF W)

Executive Directors: WITES:
Tang Yong (iv) BB (iv)
Zhang Junzheng (v) REB (V)
Wang Xiao Bin T

Independent Non-executive B IEITES -
Directors:

Ch’ien Kuo Fung, Raymond BRE
Leung Oi-sie, Elsie REG
Ma Chiu-Cheung, Andrew B5R

So Chak Kwong, Jack =k
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B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12.8% - EEHTERIES
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (conminuep) i EAC))
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) EEREERTEMES @
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 BHE_Z—NF+A=1T—HILF
December 2019 is set out below: B SESOMEeHINET
Salaries and Pension
Fees bonus costs Total
we HekEd  BARKA st
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FHT FHT FHT
Non-executive Directors: FEHTES :
Li Ru Ge (iii) 20 (iii) = = = =
Chen Ying fRE — — — —
Wang Yan TE — - - -
Executive Directors: HITES :
Tang Yong (iv) BB (iv) - - - -
Zhang Junzheng (v) REL(v) — — — —
Wang Xiao Bin T — 5,323 78 5,401
Ge Changxin (vi) B3 (vi) - 1,488 — 1,488
Hu Min (vii) HABK (vii) — 5,348 78 5,426
Independent Non-executive BIEITES -
Directors:
Ch’ien Kuo Fung, Raymond BRE 422 — — 422
Leung Oi-sie, Elsie REF 470 - - 470
Ma Chiu-Cheung, Andrew BB 470 - - 470
So Chak Kwong, Jack =R 470 - - 470

1,832 12,159 156 14,147
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (conminuep)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued)

(i) Salary paid to a director is generally, an emolument paid or receivable in
respect of that person’s other services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings.

(if) Mr. Wang Chuandong was appointed as a Non-executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board of Directors on 27 March 2020.

(iii) Mr. Li Ru Ge resigned as a Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board of Directors on 27 March 2020.

(iv) Mr. Tang Yong was appointed as an Executive Director and the President
of the Company on 17 December 2019.

(v) Mr. Zhang Junzheng was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board
of Directors and an Executive Director of the Company on 17 December
2019.

(vi) Mr. Ge Changxin ceased to be the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Executive Director and Senior Vice President of the Company and was
re-designated as a Non-executive Director and Senior Consultant to the
President of the Company on 15 April 2019. Mr. Ge Changxin resigned
as a Non-executive Director and Senior Consultant to the President of the
Company on 16 February 2020.

(vii) Mr. Hu Min resigned as an Executive Director and the President of the
Company on 17 December 2019.

During the year, no remuneration has been paid by the
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office.

No directors have waived any remuneration during the year.
Directors’ retirement benefits and termination

benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement
benefits or termination benefits during the year (2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2019: Nil).

B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

12.6% - BRYITERIES

Bl € ()

ESRERITEMS (B0

() ZXNFT-REENHFE-—BRARZALE
HEE IR AR R SR EME R R F5E B
HARTE & S R ER OB S -

(i) TERLENR_Z_EF=ZA-_F++tHE
ZEARQRERTESREFTSER -

iy ZFTHEEER-_ZT_TF-_A_+tAE
FRARIFFRITEEHREESER -

vy EBEEER-_ZT-NAF+_A+LREZ
EARBRITESREE -

v REBEER-ZE-—NF+_A+LBEE
ZEARRIEFGRIZRAPITESE

Vi) BR¥FALER-_Z-NENA+HRBEARE
BERRFANEEZGRIER RITEEHR
BRBEERTATARRANIERNTES
FEHERER BRIAERZ-ZZT=-Z
g:ﬁ+ﬁ5§&#ﬁﬁ§$%%ﬁ%ﬁ
AR o

(i) MEEERZZTE-NF+ZAt+tBEE
RARPITERREH -

FR - ARBEYEAEEIAERR
FEA LTSNS - FERIMAREE
RF AR BRI IS - HEQEE
BV -

FR - UTESBERETMAMHE

ESRARENRERER

FA AT F YRS KA ER A
BAENHBEREN (T —NF
&) o

RERHEERFOE=ZFREZR
1

BE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HUILHF
fE  ARBIWEGEIREEFERE A

EAE=TXMHRE( =T —NF:
&) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z-TF+_A=t—RHIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 12.E5 - HREHITERIES

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (conminuep)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

As at 31 December 2020, there is no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors (2019: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2019:
Nil).

D99 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd # /88 fiZi AR A&

Bl € ()

LEE RESRH 2 ZEREZSE
EESRRECERAERAZER
BEERIEMIZ 2ER

RZZF-_EF+_HA=+—H0 " I#E
NEE -  XESFEH 2B REZE
EEERECERASSAZER
EERXEMRZILTH(ZZE—N
FfE) o

ESRRG  ZHEREVNEAER

PR F 2 48 SR R 6 2 A AR B
B WEARRRERBHAIL - AR
AAEENEFERLAREREEKX
BENEARS ZHEREHZE
—NEF &) e



13. DIVIDENDS

Dividend recognised as distribution
during the year:
Final dividend for 2019 of HK$0.348
(2019: for 2018 of HK$0.203)
per share on 4,810,444,000
(2019: 4,810,444,000) shares

Interim dividend for 2020 of HK$0.225
(2019: 2019 of HK$0.2)
per share on 4,810,444,000
(2019: 4,810,444,000) shares

Dividend proposed after the end of
the reporting year:
Proposed final dividend for 2020 of
HK$0.406 (2019: HK$0.348)
per share (Note)

Note: A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of
HK$0.406 per share, amounting to a total dividend of HK$1,950,717,000
is to be proposed at the annual general meeting on 7 June 2021. The
consolidated financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

13.1RR

2020
—E-%F

HK$’000
TR

FRERB/DIRE :

25 4,810,444,000 &
—EFE—NE
4,810,444,000 i%)
BB hE
REAME B =% 0.348 BT
“E-NF:ZE-N\F
/% 0.2037E7T)

254 4,810,444,000 f%
“E—NF:
4,810,444,000 i%)
BTN F
R EARE B A% 0.225 T
—E—AF :028T)

1,674,034

2,756,384
REFERERT RS :
BER_ZE_TFERAKS
FR% 0.406 78 IT
— TN :0.348787T)
(F3E)

1,082,350

1,950,717

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHIT

976,520

962,089

1,938,609

1,674,034

Wad HEZZT-_TF+-_A=+—HLFE
HIREIIR B AE0.40678 7T » % B 48%8
1,950,717,000 TR —ZE = —F <A
tHNBRRAFARG FEHESIR - 505

BRI B RRZENAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

14. BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BIhEG IR Bl
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit ERERAZN T RAAGESR AES
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted FEBRAF AL BT EBREINEF
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year BHE(ARRBEIRHEETRGN D
excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Company and LBARERIN FTE o

held as treasury shares.

Profit attributable to owners of NARIER AT

the Company (HK$’000) (F%&7L) 7,582,668 6,590,345
Weighted average number of B 317 E AR A I T 2

ordinary shares in issue (thousands) (F5) 4,810,444 4,810,444
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.90% ~ lRERRE
Motor
Power vehicles,
generating furniture,
plant and Mining fixtures  Construction
Buildings  equipment  structures  and others in progress
AE KA
EERR RE 3
BT B TERE REM  ERIE @it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
T T TEL T T T
At 1 January 2019 R=E-1%-A-H
Cost AR 39,274,766 144,189,673 930,378 9,167,209 21,033,012 214,595,128
Impairment W (324,296)  (336,870) (56,830) (1,375)  (565,780) (1,285,151)
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZFHTE (13,645,084)  (53,121,090) (51,179)  (1,220,147) —  (68,037,500)
Net book amount FRFE 25,305,386 90,731,713 822,369 7945777 20,467,232 145272477
Year ended 31 December EBZE=Z-hEF
2019 tZA=t-ALEE
Opening net book amount ~ FHIRAFE 25,305,386 90,731,713 822,360 7,945,777 20,433,210 145,238,455
Exchange adjustments R AR (528,133)  (2,171,595) (16,034)  (177,323)  (436,362)  (3,329,447)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR (242) (286) - (1,606)  (422,702)  (424,836)
Additions RE 120,256 1,207,318 - 336,939 19,427,478 21,091,991
Transfer i 2,340,042 16,288,602  (531,756)  (7,025,154) (11,071,734) -
Disposals HE (31,775) (18,701) - (4,663) (4,030) (59,169)
Impairment B (33,928)  (199,908)  (250,038) (5,957)  (1,009,829)  (1,499,660)
Depreciation charge FERY (1,797,522)  (8,404,363) (24,541)  (209,806) — (10,436,232
Closing net book amount ~ ERREFE 25,374,084 97,432,780 = 858,207 26,916,031 150,581,102
At 31 December 2019 RZB-hE
t-A=t-H
Cost KA 40,422,872 157,639,110 380,304 2,183,016 28,477,880 229,103,182
Impairment B (229,238)  (303,338)  (305,674) (6,518)  (1,561,849)  (2,406,617)
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZFHTE (14,819,550)  (59,902,992) (74,630)  (1,318,291) —  (76,115,463)
Net book amount EHEE 25,374,084 97,432,780 - 858,207 26,916,031 150,581,102
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 403 ~ B @
(CONTINUED)

Motor
Power vehicles,
generating furniture,
plant and Mining fixtures Construction
Buildings  equipment  structures  and others in progress

RECBE

E4 kE Rf
gF R REER kit  HERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TER TER TER

Year ended 31 December EZE-Z-FF

2020 TZA=T-HLEE
Opening net book amount ~ FHIEAEFE 25,374,084 97,432,780 858,207 26,916,031 150,581,102
Exchange differences ERES 1,693,259 6,753,321 44,408 2,002,706 10,493,694
Additions E 457,919 3,811,641 217,997 27,868,082 32,355,639
Transfer 8% 2,328,362 16,580,434 11,068 (18,928,864) -
Disposals HE (106,668)  (498,115) (25,055) (88,827)  (718,665)
Impairment B (RED) (50,040) (272)  (321,203)  (422,701)

Depreciation charge FERY (1,807,651)  (9,440,823) (223,770) (11,472,244)
Closing net book amount ~ EREAFE

At 31 December 2020 RZBZEE

+ZA=1-H
Cost B 45,663,619 187,389,420 2,463,624 38,983,983 274,500,646
Impairment WiE (210,132)  (227,164) (35,941)  (1,536,057)  (2,009,294)
Accumulated depreciation 2TE (17,565,368) (72,564,058) (1,545,101) (91,674,527)
Net book amount REFE
Note: The construction in progress as at 31 December 2020 included certain Wi - RZZEZZTF+A=1+—RH E#EIRE
assets under development and not yet available for use, which are mining BIEEERERATEFERNE TEERD
structure under construction, amounted to HK$3,988,717,000. @@ﬁéﬁ}%%%) " %875 3,988,717,000 7%
e
The above items of property, plant and equipment other TR TREANNNYE - BB RE
than construction in progress are depreciated on a straight- HBEER TR EAFHRNRERE
line basis over the following useful lives: E -
Buildings 18 - 45 years
g5 18 2454
Power generating plant and equipment 15 - 18 years
LB N R 15E 184
Mining structures 5 - 20 years
PR 22 5F220F
Motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures, and others 3 - 10 years
EE I BB RHAM 3Z10F
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs
amounting to HK$808,201,000 (2019: HK$682,884,000)
(Note 9) on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs were
capitalised at the weighted average rate of the borrowings
of 4.21% (2019: 4.36%).

Depreciation charges of HK$11,423,905,000 and
HK$48,339,000 (2019: HK$10,389,783,000 and
HK$46,449,000) has been recorded in operating expenses
or capitalised in construction-in-progress, respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, total net book value of property,
plant and equipment pledged as collateral for the Group’s
bank borrowings amounted to HK$2,141,512,000 (2019:
HK$2,106,542,000) (Note 37).

As at 31 December 2020, the ownership certificates of
certain buildings (“Building Ownership Certificates”) of the
Group with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$5,258,969,000 (2019: HK$4,559,662,380) had not
been obtained by the Group. After consultation made with
the Company’s legal counsel, the directors of the Company
consider that there is no legal restriction for the Group to
apply for and obtain the Building Ownership Certificates and
it should not lead to any significant adverse impact on the
operations of the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, management identified property,
plant and equipment of certain thermal power generating
plants and renewable power generating plants with
impairment indicators. Management performed impairment
assessment in relation to such assets. Each thermal power
generating plant or renewable power generating plant is
determined as a CGU. The impairment losses attributable to
these CGUs was then allocated to write down the assets in
the CGU on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset (including right-of-use assets (Note 16), mining
rights (Note 18) and related property, plant and equipment)
in the CGU.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

15. 403 ~ BRER& @

RER AEBEERNLAEERE
& B A /X 808,201,000/ L (= &
— 714 : 682,884,000/ 7T ) (M 5%
9) - BEERAREEBENMETFY
KA21% (ZZT—NF : 4.36%)EXR
1t o

I & R 11,423 905,0005% T &
48,339,000/ 7T = — h F:
10,389,783,000 ,% 7T N 46,449,000
BIT)DAIABRREERI NERT

=

RZE_ZEF+-_A=+—H &
BAEAXEBRRTEEERRLOY
¥ BELRENEDEFES
2,141,512,0008 T(Z & — N 5F :
2,106,542,0007%8 7T ) (M5E37) °

A\—E-ZEF+-_A=+—H " &&E
EHAESAEES TEFHMERE
B(EFREERZ)(RARLENR
5,258,969,000& T(— & — N &F
4,559,662,380/87C)) c NABESE
EFRARNDREARERE  RELSE
EEE%&Z%%%@?%E%MITEE
EEDERERS - B AgHAEEANL
%iﬁz&ﬂikTﬂ?&;

RZZEZZF+-_A=+—H E&
B#EnlE T NNEEMKE ] BERR
BEMNYE - BB MR EERED
R BREEBEMNZEFEELETRERN
e BRNBEERITBERIRES
BEER—ERESELEMN - ZFH
SEAEMBIEHRERXEERE
ReEFBURNSEE(BREEAE
BEME16) - HKEE(ME18) &
HEYE - BEEREB)NEREER
A D B AMSEIR @ EE BN ARNE
BE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE—

ERE+_A=+—RALFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, impairment
charges related to property, plant and equipment amounting
to HK$422,701,000 (2019: HK$1,499,660,000) were
recognised, in which HK$322,005,000 (2019: nil) is related
to projects with impairment indicators and has been
recorded in operating expenses. The net book value of the
property, plant and equipment with impairment indicators
amounted to HK$4,637,832,000 (net of impairment charges
for the year of HK$322,005,000) as at 31 December 2020.

The Group made impairment charges of certain thermal
power generating plants of HK$89,090,000 (2019: certain
coal mine assets of HK$1,066,171,000 and thermal power
generating plants of HK$433,489,000), which were reported
in thermal power segment for the year ended 31 December
2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain
thermal power generating plants were determined to be
closed down and certain power assets were planned to
be retired or obsolete to follow the change in technology
and regulating environment, consequently the Group has
made an impairment charge of HK$100,696,000 (2019:
HK$433,489,000), after considering any possible benefit
receivable during the disposal process. The recoverable
amounts of these assets are based on their fair value less
costs of disposal.

The impairment charge of coal mine assets reported in
thermal power segment for the year ended 31 December
2019 mainly related to property, plant and equipment
held by subsidiaries located in Jiangsu, Henan and Hunan
Province. The impairment provision of HK$1,066,171,000
(2020: nil) made mainly resulted from the Group’s shutdown
plan of some of its coal mines gradually according to the
government policy of reducing overcapacity in coal industry,
after considering any possible benefit receivable during the
disposal process. The recoverable amounts of these assets
are based on their fair value less costs of disposal.

228 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd =B E hiZKARA A

15. 405 ~ BER& @

HE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—H1
FE - RVE - BELRREERR
{18 422,701,000 T (ZZE—Hh
£ :1,499,660,0003 7T ) H
322,005,000/ jt(=— & — L F :
H)ﬁiﬁfﬁﬁ@ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬂ
RELEREARAR - RZZT =
¢+ A=+—8" tuiﬁ/mﬁfar%
MME - BMEAXEEBFEAE
4,637,832,0007% jT(E 1 B F AR,
{E185< 322,005,000/ 7T) °

HE—_Z - ZF+_A=1+—HIF
B XEERET A NBEEHTIR
MEE;’&% 090,000 L(ZZ— N
F: /T K& E1,066,171,000
/an&)\jj %% B | 433,489,000 78
TL) RN NBEEDERNER -

HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=1+—HIHF
B BRAEEEREEEAETAN
BEMARTEBE TENEKES
BEWME  NREEGEMAEERIE
MES) At AEENEEHEBIE
fRE (] A] REUR B B9 FI) 2= 18 FHZ BORUE
8% A100,696,0008 L(—Z—Hh
F 1 433,489,000 7L) - ZFEE
R EIFEIEE QAR EER LS
FAETE ©

HE-_ZT—-—NF+-A=+—81t
FERANNBESDHEHRHERE
EREBEXFEZEHMGNI&HE - 4
MANMAEENWEB R MENY
* BWMELEZEBEBA  TIRBE
1,066,171,000/8 JT( =& — T F :
ENFEREARAEELEELS
BIRR AT AT BE R IR S - FT &R
BERITEEERBRTBREZESEE
BTHE ZEFEEMA LRI
BHAFEBEBRHEKNAGTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain wind
farms approved by the government in the PRC on or before
31 December 2018 have not completed the connection to
the local power grids and those projects will not receive the
tariff premium of renewable energy. The management of the
Group concluded that there were impairment indicators and
conducted impairment assessment of certain property, plant
and equipment with carrying amounts of HK$809,474,000.
The recoverable amount of property plant and equipment
has been determined based on a value in use calculation,
using cash flow projections covering a period of operating
period with a pre-tax discount rate ranging from 7.3% to
7.8% as at 31 December 2020. The other key assumption
for the value in use calculations are the generation volumes
of those wind farms power projects referring to market
expectation. The management assumed no sales growth
in the operating period because there is no change in
the wind power generation capacity of those projects.
Based on the result of the assessment, management of
the Group determined that the recoverable amount of the
CGUs are lower than the carrying amount, an impairment of
HK$322,005,000 (2019: nil), has been recognised against
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment.

The movement on the provision for impairment of property,
plant and equipment of the Group by segment is as follows:

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

15.40% ~ BRER&E@®

@§_$_§¢+:HE+—E¢¢
B ATR=ZFE—N\F+ZA=+—
HpiE T BB A IEREEIE B AL
TEREEHERANEE  Z5EE
Bre=Za BERREEME - K
SEEEERAEEHBRENSR - I
Y ARTEI{E & 809,474,000 8 T & T
Y - BEMEREETRENR - B
—E-FF+-_A=1+—H ®W*.
JRE MR AT YR B & 2B iR 5T B
BEET MEBEBBENREEERD
IR & m =78 8 £ BB &4 By AL IR K
73%E7.8%BEIREH - sTEFEHBE
ENEMERBRRABREMISERZ
ERNEEBEENEEE - TEER
“m%%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ HAEZE
HEMNRNBEASWEZE - AR
FHEEER - $%IEEEFEEEF
AN AU E S BEEREREE - I
ME - BERRENEEERERR

{E322,005,000/8 T(ZF — L& :
) o

AEBZRDHMEIDOWE - BB MR
BRERENEZZWT

Thermal power
segment

XS

Renewable energy
segment
A BERERD
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZBIRF —_TNF ZBIEF —_TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TET TR TET

At 1 January B—HA—8 PRIV 1,285,151 - —
Exchange differences PE =R 96,634 (48,907) 26,600 —
Provision of impairment VERIEEE ] NN 1,499,660 IEKEKNP —
Disposals HeE (CERPLIN  (329,287) - =
At 31 December BR+=-—A=+—H 1,649,082 RO NANA 360,212 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

COST
As at 31 December 2019
Carrying amounts

As at 31 December 2020
Carrying amounts

For the year ended
31 December 2020
Depreciation charge

For the year ended
31 December 2019
Depreciation charge

Expense relating to short-term

and low-value leases

Total cash outflow for leases

Additions to right-of-use assets

Leasehold

land

BELH
HK$'000
TARL

A
R-B-NE+-A=1+-H
FREME

RZE-ZF+-A=1+-H

FEE

BE-Z-EF
+ZA=t-HILEE

FERY

BZ-2-1%
+ZA=1+-HILEE

FERY

BRI X

EREEERE
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4,496,335

4,858,209

130,754

HEHLEEERE

HERR SR H A

16.{FHIgE=E

Power
generating
plant and

Buildings  equipment
BT REBRRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TER

475,954 392,044

410,669 398,444

139,894 26,366

Year ended
31.12.2020
BE-Z-ZF
+=—BR=+—H
LtFE
HK$’000
FERT

56,212

268,320

608,628

and others

RERAM
HK$'000

Motor

vehicles
Total
et
HK$’000

TiEn TiEgn

13,2656 5,377,588

5,703,539

4,922 301,936

Year ended
31.12.2019
HE_ZT-hF
+t=—A=+—8
EFE
HK$’000

FET

16,816
135,698

1,340,253



16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (contiNueD)

As at 31 December 2020, land use right certificates (“Land
Certificates”) of certain parcels of land of the Group with
an aggregate carrying value of HK$81,200,000 (2019:
HK$168,735,000) had not been obtained. After consultation
made with the Company’s legal counsel, the directors
consider that there is no legal restriction for the Group to
apply for and obtain the Land Certificates and it should not
lead to any significant adverse impact on the operations of
the Group.

The impairment charge of HK$77,152,000 (2020: nil) for
the year ended 31 December 2019 was provided for certain
prepaid lease payment held by subsidiaries engaged in coal
mining business, mainly resulted from the Group’s shutdown
plan of this subsidiary. The recoverable amounts of these
assets are based on their fair value less costs of disposal.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, amortisation
of HK$288,832,000 (2019: HK$227,871,000) and
HK$91,985,000 (2019: HK$74,065,000) has been recorded
in operating expenses or capitalised in construction in
progress, respectively.

The Group leases various buildings, power generating plant
and equipment, land use rights, motor vehicles, furniture,
fixtures, equipment and others. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 to 50 years but may have
extension options as described below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
Leased assets other than leasehold land may not be used
as security for borrowing purposes.

Extension options are included in a number of property
and equipment leases across the Group. These are used
to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing
the assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

16. 1 FHIEEE@®

RZE-_ZTEF+_A=+—8"
AEBHMARESET LI RO LM
FREZ(IHE]  FEHLE
#81,200,000/%8 7T( = & — N F ¢
168,735,000/ 7T ) - EEEEBA
NEERERE  REAEESRD
ESLEW N ETMEERES
BTrgHAEENEEENERNER
THFE -

BHE-_Z—-—hF+-_A=t+—HI#FE
fEHREIB K 77,152,000 8 T (=&
TEFE\)ERNERERARER
B ARFAENE THENHEEEZR
EE M EE  TERRAEEBEZ
MEBARKFTEIFTE - ZFEEMT
W B 5R78 T3 A B E R H SR A
BE-_Z-_ZEF+=-_A=+—H
IF % E - # $4288,832,000/% T
(ZZ — N 5 : 227,871,000/ 7T )
91,985,000/ (= & — N F -
74,065,000 70 ) B 9 Bl ET AL &
ST RIERETIR °

REBEHRATREREEY  BER
KGR - L (ERE - A8 - RFL
®E RENEM - HEAHNBRES
1ES50FWEEHR - B AR
NPTl O RE H R s o

HEGRFIRE R EERE - FR—F
SSRGS 6t - HEEERIBET
BE R {EIE KA PE R o

AEERETHENMEHRE Y LT
BHEREE ZFEBENRBTER
SEXGE=MANEE L AHER
BRI EMBERN - HEMTEEE
EEBRAH N EHAKEITRE
WIFHEHBEATTE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conminuep)

The Group assesses at lease commencement date or date
of initial application whether it is reasonably certain to
exercise the extension options. The management concluded
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise all leases
with renewal options considering all relevant facts and
circumstances including economic incentives for exercising
the options.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
buildings and motor vehicles. As at 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019, the portfolio of short-term leases
is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

17. GOODWILL

The movements in the carrying amount of goodwill during
the year are as follows:

16. (FHIEEFE@m

AEERBERG BN ERERA
HHE RS A ERERITECERE
EERE-BEERS  BRIMEME
BEEMBR(BRTEEEENK
BNE)  AEBAERERBITEMR
BHAONBELERERE

AEETE BT RTER A
E-RZBEZEF+_A=1t—HBK
—T-hF+=-A=+—H0 SHA
EHGHE EXHBERHASERSTMNE
HHEMEEHEE -

17. 52

BENERIERSFENZESHNT

HK$’000
TET

COST R
At 1 January 2019 RZF—hF—H—H 2,675,089
Exchange adjustments bE 5 38 (20,188)

At 31 December 2019
Exchange adjustments

bE H 38 &
At 31 December 2020

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES Z:iHREsE

At 1 January 2019

Impairment charge VERERCES
Exchange adjustments bE H 38 B

At 31 December 2019

Impairment charge VERIEREES
Exchange adjustments bE H 38 &

At 31 December 2020

CARRYING VALUES BRHEE
At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2019
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R—_ZE—-—hF+=-_A=+—H

R-Z2-_Z2F+-A=t+—H

RZZFE—hF—HA—H

R—ZE—-—hnF+=-A=+—H

R=—ZB=-2F+t=-A=+—H

R-B-Z2H+-A=+—H
R_FB-NFE+=-H=+—8H

2,654,901
58,126

2,713,027

1,387,947
495,000
(1,451)

1,881,496
82,000
4,177

1,967,673

745,354

773,405



17. GOODWILL (coniNueD)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the CGUs of the Company’s
subsidiaries within two segments, thermal power and
renewable energy, in different provinces in the PRC. The
carrying amounts of major goodwill allocated to individual

CGUs are as follows:

Year ended B2-E-%f
31 December 2020 TZA=t-BLFE
Thermal power segment KHBELE
- Shenyang China Resources —BHEBAN
Heating Co., Ltd. BRAR
(“Shenyang Power ([EEEHLRE])
Company’) 98,774
- China Resources (Jiangsu) - EBEN(1H)
Investment Co., Ltd. REBRRA 193,924
- Xuzhou Huaxin Power —-BMERRE
Generation Co., Ltd. BRARA 158,177
- Other companies ~EAH 312,082
762,957
Renewable energy segment AEEERD 10,448
Total st 773,405

1 January
2020

b 7 bl 7 E
-A—-H
HK$’000
TER

(82,000)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

17. & @
BERENRE

BESREARRRFETRE A
ERN=N ﬂlﬂﬁl“*ﬁ(kjﬁé%&TE
HRERIANREELEN - DECE
BERRTELBEUNTEREREE
LUNNE

31 December
2020

— ? —= ﬁ
+=ZA=+-H
HK$’000
THER

Exchange
adjustments

Impairment

wiE EHA%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL

98,774
222,159

(82,000) 96,001
- ) 317,972

(82,000) 734,906
= 10,448

745,354
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE—

ERE+_A=+—RALFE

17. GOODWILL (conTiNueD)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

1 January
2019
T-NF
—A-H
HK$'000
FAT
Year ended HE-Z-h%
31 December 2019 TZA=t+-HLEFE
Thermal power segment KHBELH
- Shenyang Power Company - EWING 198,774
- China Resources (Jiangsu) -EBEH(IH)
Investment Co., Ltd. REBRRA 448,730
- Xuzhou Huaxin Power - HMEERE
Generation Co., Ltd. BRAT 315,062
- Other companies —EfAR] 314,128
1,276,694
Renewable energy segment EERRD 10,448
Total st 1,287,142

In addition to goodwill above, property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets that generate cash flows
together with the related goodwill are also included in the
respective CGUs for the purpose of impairment assessment.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group performed impairment
test for goodwill based on pre-tax cash flow projection
covering a period of operation period of each of the CGUs.
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are
generation volumes of thermal and renewable power plants,
coal price and discount rates. The first 5 years cash flow
projection derived from the most recent financial budgets
approved by management, while the forecast beyond 5
years is compiled by extrapolating the projection based
on the financial budget, assuming no growth. The sales
growth rates, mainly contributed by the generation volume
of the power plants, are ranging from -14% to 3% (2019:
-12% to 13%) for thermal power segment and ranging
from 0% to 26% (2019: 0% to 8%) for renewable energy
segment which are based on industry growth forecasts.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates
ranging from 8.9% to 13.7% (2019: 9% to 14%) that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGUs. Management believes that
any reasonable change in any of these assumptions would
not cause the carrying amounts of the CGUs to exceed its
recoverable amount.
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17. 2@

AERENR @

31 December

Exchange 2019
adjustments “ZT-NE
HfE ERAZE +t-A=t—AH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TAT T THT

Impairment

(100,000) - 98,774
(245,000 (9,806) 193,924
(150,000) (6,885) 158,177

— (2,046) 312,082
(495,000) (18,737) 762,957

= = 10,448
(495,000) (18,737) 773,405
FUREREMS - RLAEmEN - ¥
% ﬁ}%& 1% FEIEEE/MLEE}]TQ

AEEEERBBRETTAZTEN
REELEN -

R-ZZE-ZTF+-_A=+—0 ' K&
BRESBCELEMNNELHRE
B AIRESRETER - SRBET
BEANR - STEFEAEENERRR
BNORTBERREEMNES
5 @rﬁ%&%ﬁi BREEA
EXEE@F%@%?ﬁ%W&E
B miRE A F A TER TR I B S
FEEEREAMmER - IR i
R -HERRXRTE RGBT
B2 ANBESILANT-14% =
3%<_2?\ NEFE:-12%E13%) »
AIBERERESHBAEN T0%ZE26%
TERF0%ES%) SHERD
TERETEA - BEEE G ATEL
ENF89%E13.7%(ZFE—Ah
F9%E14%) * IR E BT 5
HEBREERASEEEUFAR
eyt - EEREREZERENE
MeEREFHFITeFREELENMN
FREEBaEA LS -



18. MINING RIGHTS

At 1 January B—A—H
Cost DN
Impairment BIE
Accumulated amortisation 25T 5K

Opening net book amount FHREFEE

Exchange differences MEH Z5R

Additions =S

Impairment BB

Amortisation charge B

Transfer from exploration HE A B RERE
and resources rights

Closing net book amount FRIREFE

At 31 December R+=—RAR=+—H
Cost DN
Impairment BE
Accumulated amortisation 25T 5

Net book amount REFE

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
mining rights using the unit of production method based
on the proved and probable reserves of the coal mines.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, amortisation
of HK$13,475,000 (2020: nil) and impairment of
HK$190,455,000 (2020: nil) have been recorded in operating
expenses.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s mining rights and
related property, plant and equipment under development
and not yet available for use, which are mining structure
under construction, amounted to HK$3,988,717,000.
Management performed an impairment assessments on the
Group’s CGUs of which mining rights and related mining
structures under construction belong to and there was no
impairment charge being recognised for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

18. HR i

2020 2019
—EEHF

—E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHIT

1,197,890 1,210,516
(680,343) (522,748)
(196,919) (207,163)
320,628 480,605
82,922 (15,907)
4,061,091 —

(190,455)
(13,475)
59,860
4,464,641 320,628
5,231,531 1,197,890
(558,983) (680,343)
(207,907) (196,919)
320,628

4,464,641

BRI IRAREAEES
RAEEBLMAETIAGIE  AMEE
BHEXKN -B#E-_ZT—HLE+_-A
=+—HIFE - #3513,475,000
B ZE_Z2F: &)L BE
190,455,000 8 L (ZE-FF : #)
EABRGERKA o

NRZZE_TFF+_A=+—H *&
(5] F) R TR AR DA 2 A B8 T 1 K 1 R AT
FRNME  BELIEBITEER
281 ) 53,988,717,000/8 7T ° &
1 SRR MR R R AT
BN AEBRSES BN EITRER
& FAVBBERERDBREBRZL

Annual Report 2020 F# 235



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

18. MINING RIGHTS (conminuep) 18. FRIEIE a0

The impairment charge of HK$190,455,000 in 2019 RZZE—N4F - REBZK 190,455,000
(2020: nil) was provision for certain mining rights located BIT(ZZEZTF : &|)RLMANNE -
in Hunan, Jiangsu and Henan Province, mainly resulted IER NN A 2B TERERERE - =+
from the Group’s shutdown plan of certain subsidiaries, ZHRAEERNLEREREEER
after considering any possible benefit receivable during the AR N T BIERAE THEA
disposal process. The recoverable amounts of these assets RIFTEN - 5% F & E/ A YL EI RIB THiR
are based on their fair value less costs of disposal. HERATFEERHEMARTTEHE -

19. EXPLORATION AND RESOURCES RIGHTS 19. &R EERiE

HK$’000
TET

At 1 January 2019 R-ZE—-—NF—H—H 216,025
Transfer to mining rights (Note 18) I E SRR (fYsE18) (59,860)
Exchange adjustments b H B (4,708)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-h&+=A=+—8H 151,462
Exchange adjustments M 5 S 9,743

At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-_ZEF+=-A=+—H 161,205

20. DEFERRED TAXATION 20.JELEFH 1A
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax BEREBBEERMELERIBEEN DN
liabilities are as follows: R

2020
—E-®FF  —FHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAT

Deferred tax assets EERIBE E 861,407 744,390
Deferred tax liabilities FEMRIBERE _ (e08,780) (480,933)

Deferred tax assets - net EEREEETE 252,627 263,457
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (contiNuED) 20. JEREFH 1A )
The gross movement on the deferred income tax is as RIEFTSHHER B MREFHIT -
follows:

2020 2019
—E-EHE —ZT—hEF

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TATT

At 1 January MR—B—H 263,457 103,665
Exchange adjustments b B 13,990 (8,751)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) RiBmRET A1) 138,801 178,739
Charged to other REAERE W Bk
comprehensive income (163,621) (10,196)
At 31 December BR+=-—A=+—H 252,627 263,457
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during UTAEAFNELEMEREENREERN
the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of BHE) o Wt RE G AR
balances within the same tax jurisdictions, are as follows: B 45 BRI ¢
Fair value
changes of
FVOC!
NARER
Retirement  Impairment Rtk 4]
Accurred benefit and Government AR
Deferred tax asset expenses  obligations  provision grant  RAUEMN Others Total
BLfEHER EiRx BABNER HEREBE DAY AAEERE 2t szt
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
ThT ThR ThR THR TER THR ThR
(Note (i))
GiEE0)
As at 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-F-H 166,035 28,643 113,287 190,256 = 399,741 897,962
Exchange adjustments EiAE (4,397) (264) (2,362) (4,159) - (7.217)  (18,458)
Credited (charged) to profit or loss ~ WNEREHZTA (B 27,984 (5,126) (6,370) 43 - (18233 (61,702)
Credited to other REMEERERA
comprehensive income = = = = 27,689 = 27,589
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-AETZA=1-H 189,622 23,253 104,555 186,141 27,589 314,231 845,391
Fxchange adjustments EiAE 788 4,406 36,636
Credited (charged) to profitorloss ~ REZEREA (%) (12,604 (41,285) 48,431
Charged to other REMGRWRTA
comprehensive income (25,549) (25,549)
As at 31 December 2020 R-B-BE+ZA=+-H
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B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

20.BAETHIA (@)

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (contiNuED)

Distributable
profits of PRC
subsidiaries,
Fair value associates
Fair value Fair value changes of and
of prepaid of property FVOCI  joint ventures
lease plant and HAREE Accrued
Difference of payments  equipment  EASH HEAR interest
depreciation BRE 0% ER ARl BELER income
Deferred tax liabilities life EERN ET L] BANEN AELEN  Mining fund st Others Total
EEFEHER TEEHER MEE MEE AMEERD IHRAE FBES HEKA b Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx Tén Thn Tén ThR T TER T TET
(Note i}
(Bt
As at 1 January 2019 R=F-n%-A-A (139,122) (43,360) (68,282) (106,963) (69,258) (220) (328,566) (38,526) (794,297)
Exchange adjustments EXRE 2,480 - - 2,499 - 5 3411 1312 9,707
Credited (charged) to REREETA (%)
profit or loss 31,505 3,336 13,765 = 6,168 = 212,097 (26,430) 240,441
Charged to other REftRE NS
comprehensive income - - - (37,785) - - - - (37,785)
As at 31 December 2019 W=2-7E+=A=t-8 105,17) 40,024) (54,517) (142,249 (63,090) (215) (113,06 (63,644) (581,934)
Exchange adjustments EigZ (4,961) (8,873) (5,254) (3,544) (22,646)
Credited to profit or loss RE&ETA - 31,376 90,370
Charged to other REftRE Nk
comprehensive income (138,072) (138,072)
As at 31 December 2020 R=%-2F+-A=1-A

Notes: MisE

(i) Others represent mainly deductible tax losses, deferred heat supply income (i) HEMFERE NN EEE  REHR
and depreciation differences generated from commissioning test. WARARAEENITEEZR -

(ii) Pursuant to certain regulations of the mining industry in the PRC, the (i) BEPERBETENS THBER &

(iii)

Group is required to transfer an amount to a specific reserve and such fund
is not available for distribution to shareholders (see Note 42(c) for details).
Such amounts are deductible for tax purposes when they set aside but are
expensed for accounting purposes only when they are utilised. Therefore,
deferred tax liabilities are recognised for such temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2020, the Group did
not recognise deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses amounting to
HK$19,113,374,000 (2019: HK$18,025,087,000) and deductible temporary
differences amounting to HK$6,020,389,000 (2019: HK$5,591,433,000).
Included in unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2020 are losses of
approximately HK$17,997,530,000 (2019: HK$16,805,610,000) that will
expire within 5 years from the year of origination, in or before 2025 (2019:
2024).
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(ii)

FEENE—ERBEEHERE A%
FESTAHETRRGHEBESHME
42(0)) - HRER BRETMB - EEE
BRETIY - Bl ARSENERER
BERBEME -

BEFMBHAEC R BEBEEE T U
R EENAEFERMESEBER
ROERHEFNEREAR - R=FT =
TE+-_A=+—8B MALEELE
52019,113,374,000 8 T F i E B (=
Z — A £ :18,025,087,000% T ) & A&
£6,020,389,000 78 7T & 7] 4005 B B = 58
(ZZ — L% : 5,591,433,000%8 7T ) FE R
B EBHREE - W-_ZE -2+
=+—8 AERBHEEBELEBRE
ARFERFREFARR-Z-_RAF (=
T-NF: DT -NF)R AR HAE
184917,997,530,000/8 (= Z — IL4F :
16,805,610,000% 7T) °



20. DEFERRED TAXATION (conminuep)

Under the Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) Law of PRC,
withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect
of profits earned subsidiaries in the PRC with effect from
1 January 2008 onwards. The directors of the Company
consider that the Group has sufficient funds in overseas
companies and therefore the earnings retained by the certain
subsidiaries in the PRC are expected to be reinvested in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised withholding tax in respect of the unremitted F
earnings of certain subsidiaries in the PRC amounting to
HK$32,403,358,000 (2019: HK$23,893,149,000) for the
years from 2008 to 2020 (2019: 2008 to 2019).

ASSOCIATES

Interests in associates

21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

20. BAETHIA (@)

BEPRHCEMSHRIEENS
MDFE BAZZTEENF—A—H
B P EE AR RRAFEE
IKEIRR BZEBMTERNT - NARIES
RE KEBREBINAABERR
B At PEMBARKRERN
BAEHNAREREFKRE - B
—EENFE_ZE_TEF(ZE—N
ZEENFEZE—NF) T
M|t E T R BB A B A A E & T
32,403,358,000/8 (= ZF — L F :
23,893,149,000 /8 7t ) i R IR AE 4 18
afE-

21. iR 1 52 AV s 12 o B

SIE =
SRS L

HK$’000
TR

At 1 January 2019

Transfer from investment in a subsidiary
Capital contributions to associates

Disposal of associates

Share of profits

Dividends

Impairment charges

Share of other comprehensive losses

Share of other equity movement of associates
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2019

Capital contributions to associates

Transfer to a joint venture

Disposal of associates (Note)

Share of profits

Dividends

Impairment charges

Share of other comprehensive losses

Share of other equity movement of associates
Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2020

Included in the Group’s cost of investment in associates is

R-_ZE—N&F—HA—H 9,480,198
#EREaN—HNBARMER 20,496
mEErEFE 173,865
HER S (377,255)
FEAG 7 192,537
@< (390,318)
AR (44,526)
FE(E Efb 2 T ESHE (69,765)
NEEE RN A ER S E) (1,649)
bE 5 S (150,514)
R-ZB-NEF+=-A=+—8 8,833,069
M EPETE 77,095
ERE-—HALnh¥ (22,352)
S B 1 2 (BT aE) (854,756)
FEAG 7 555,373
e (588,076)
VERIEEEES (100,000)
E(REMmEEER (61,465)
DA RN A MRS E) (20,636)
b AR 385,278
R-B-ZEF+=-HA=+—8

goodwill of HK$500,958,000 (2019: HK$600,958,000).

8,203,530

AEBRBECENEEXNABIER
£500,958,000 c(—ZZE— L& :
600,958,000787T) °
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B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO  21. RRHSHES 1P % ANIilE 25 52 [ s

ASSOCIATES (conminuep) ErESR@®

Interests in associates (Continued) REEDENERS (|

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the RZB_TF+_A=+t—HBKRZZE
principal associates of the Group, all being accounted for —NWF+ZA=+—8H xEEXZ
using equity method, were as follows: BErE(HRARREZE)NT

Issued and fully paid
share capital/
Place of registered capital
incorporation and paid-up capital
and 2020 & 2019
operation “ECEERCE-NE

Name of associate HRRLR BRTHERE/ Percentage of equity interest held Principal activities
Betsin Gend AMEAR AR ER FisRNRER D ITER
2020 2020 2019 2019
TRCRF CRCRF CFNF CEONR
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ER B E% i3

China Resources (Xuzhou) Electric PR Registered and - 42,65  Qperation of
Power Co., Ld. HE paid-up capital a power station
BHERENERAR RMBB63,110,000 gE=Y
i RSRER
AREH863,110,0007C
Funeng Guizhou Power Corporation ~ PRC Registered and 49 —  Operation of
B (ENEEERAT & paid-up capital a power station
RMB1,300,000,000 2ES
iMRAREAARS
1,300,000,0007C
Jingneng (Xilinguole) Power PRC Registered and = 30 Operation of
Corporation ks paid-up capital a power station
RN ETARAA RMB1,916,000,000 gEEY
iMRARERARS
1,916,000,000 ¢
Fuyang China Resources Power PRC Registered and 40 —  Operation of
Co., Ltd. G paid-up capital a power station
ESRERENERLA RMB1,263,265,000 SESY
iMRARERARS
1,263,265,0007
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ASSOCIATES (conminuep)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Name of associate

BELRLR

Hunan Taohuajiang Nuclear
Power Co., Ltd.
At EERAR

Jiangsu Zhenjiang Power
Generation Co., Ltd.
(“Jiangsu Zhenjiang Power”

THETESARAT
(NI#EIES))

Yangzhou No. 2 Power
Generation Co., Ltd

NE_REAREEAT

Guodian Changzhou Power
Corporation (Note)

AEFNEEARAR (HiE)

Place of
incorporation
and
operation

AMRIR
Sy

PRC
P

PRC
P

PRC
Gl

PRC
il

Issued and fully paid
share capital/
registered capital

and paid-up capital
2020 & 2019
ZRIRERZR-NE
BRITERRA/
AfERRAREA

Registered capital
RMB,025,704,000
Paid-up capital
RMBT,149,227,000
iMERARY
1,025,704,0007
HRARARE
1,149,207,0007

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB1,482,200,000
iR RERARS
1,482,200,0007C

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB,692,000,000
MRS RERARS
1,692,000,0007

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB1,000,000,000
it RERARE
1,000,000,0007

21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO

Percentage of equity interest held

2020

Zg-%f

Directly
ER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

21. IR 1P 52 AVl & J2 o sk

SrESR@
REFEERNER(E®E)

Principal activities
FEENRER A IERK
2020 2019 2019
“ECEF CENF CE0F
Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
F3 B% ik

Operation of
a power station

LB

Operation of
a power station
2ES

45 Operation of
a power station

2B

Operation of
a power station

LB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

2].]3"{‘. 5 S5 {0 5 PORE 7 |52 [l Hsé
SEPESR@®
REtEENERE)

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO
ASSOCIATES (conminuep)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Issued and fully paid
share capital/
registered capital

and paid-up capital
2020 & 2019
CRCRERCS-NE
BRAHREL/
ifEARMEES

Place of
incorporation
and
operation

AMRIR
Sy

Principal activities

IEER

Name of associate

BELRLR

Percentage of equity interest held

FEENRERA L
2020 2019
= e
Indirectly Directly
L BE

2020
3
Directly
ER

2019
“INE
Indlirectly
Rk

Zhengzhou Huayuan Coal Mining PRC Registered and = 30.67  Exploration and
Co., Ltd (Note) # paid-up capital sale of coal
INEBREARANA (M) RMB750,000,000 BRRAERR
MRS RERARS
750,000,0007¢
Shanxi Zhonglv China Resources PRC Registered and = 20 Operation of
Company Limited HE paid-up capital a power station
WP RE R AR AT RMB1,641,750,000 gEEY
iMRARERARS

1,641,750,0007c

FRAEE  ARBHEERBECXEE

Note: In the current year, the Group disposed of 25% interest in an associate,

Guodian Changzhou Power Corporation, to an independent third party
for cash proceeds of RMB527,054,000 (equivalent to HK$583,786,000).
In addition, the Group disposed of 30.67% interest in an associate,
Zhengzhou Huayuan Coal Mining Company Limited, through capital
reduction amounting to RMB 229,115,000 (equivalent to HK$250,574,000).
The Group recognised a gain of HK$4,891,000 in profit or loss in relation
to these transactions.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group entered into an
equity transfer agreement with an independent third party, Jointo Energy
Investment Co., Ltd. Hebei., to sell the 25% equity interest in Hengshui
Hengxing Power Corporation (Hengxing Power) owned by the Group, at a
consideration of RMB164,363,625 (equivalent to HK$182,959,726) and the
Group entered into an equity transfer agreement with a third party, Guodian
Huabei Co., Ltd., to sell the 25% equity interest in Heibei Hengfeng Power
Corporation(Hengfeng Power), at a consideration of RMB222,288,700
(equivalent to HK$247,438,444) owned by the Group. The two equity
transfer were completed in December 2019, and Hengxing Power and
Hengfeng Power ceased to be the Group’s associates.

D42 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd /88 fiZi AR A

BMNENERRAN25% ERETFTBELE =
7 Be S RIEA AR 527,054,000
JC(#8 & 172 583,786,000 7T ) © Lt ob -
A EE B E AN RK229,115,0007T
(A& 1K 250,574,000 7T ) H & H R B &
ESMNERFEEBRAFAS0.67%#E
&= ARBERZERZRBHEAERKE
4,891,000/& 7T °

HE-_Z—-—NAE+-_A=+—HItEE -
AEEBRF=FWILBEEREERD
ERANRIGREERAEBRA ZEKE
BMEEERETLAR(EEEH)H25%
RIEFT IR EEZGE  REAARE
164,363,625 T(1H & 7 182,959,726%
L) MAEBEEE=ZFHEEEILEGRA
At MEEEASE A 2L EEE N
ERAR(ELEE N )N 25% RAE] LI
EiERE - REARARM222,288,7007T
(FBE TR 247,438,444 787 ) ° ZmM 1D Mt
HEGFEN T F+=-A=K ' E
HENRELENDTBEAEAEENEE
==



21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO

ASSOCIATES (conminuep)

Interests in associates (Continued)

The above table lists the principle associates of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results of the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other associates would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

All above associates are limited liability companies.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided guarantees
amounting to HK$378,367,000 (2019: HK$849,088,000)
to secure bank loans of its associates. Note 45 provides
for details about the credit risk arising from the financial
guarantees.

The impairment charge of HK$100,000,000 in 2020 was
provision for the Group’s investment in Yangzhou No. 2
Power Generation Co., Ltd of which management concluded
there were impairment indicators. The concluded impairment
assessment on recoverable amount of interest in Yangzhou
No. 2 Power Generation Co., Ltd. was determined based
on value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections covering a period of operation period of the
associate with a pre-tax discount rate is 13.14% as at 31
December 2020. The first 5 years derived from the most
recent financial budgets, while the forecast beyond 5 years
assuming no growth. Based on the result of the assessment,
management of the Group determined that the recoverable
amount of the CGU is lower than the carrying amount.

The impairment charge of HK$44,526,000 in 2019 was
provision for the Group’s investment in Guodian Changzhou
Power Corporation of which the group planned to dispose,
after considering any possible benefit receivable during the
disposal process. The recoverable amounts of these assets
are based on their fair value less costs of disposal.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

21. 3B S 18 5% AV 8 7 F2 (el i

SrESR@
REFEERNER(E®E)

ARPERRR - ERAIIAEEE
EHRECXEHAREFERERE
K%%j%%$%.$§FZI #
c RRAEFRR - Wﬁﬁ@%%
m%%ﬁ#Aéﬁﬁﬂ BRITE -

FIEBECXIR/AREER

AZE-ZEF+-_A=+—H" K
EERMH A#378,367,000 B TR
R(=Z— 1L : 849,088,000/% 7T)
DAERE B Z RN BIMIRITE R  MisE
AS M B IEREENEERR °

— - TFHYRETE X 100,000,000
/%EZ?!;AEEFWEEdeﬁ/)ﬂﬁﬂj?ﬁm
$%E%%M%f%$ﬁ@fE
WEMREE - HHEME 8 ﬁ@f
ERRIEZRA AU E 5B TR AR
@&ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂ“#i F
—?—EE‘E—'— )E] —|— E' u/<|:l =S
*ET)% P%‘ﬁé%k /Hﬂﬁﬁéimiﬁim
ETERIRHATEE IR T 13.14% BLIR1S
ﬁ BRFTEATIR B &I INTE

- MBARFATER T ERR I &g
E ERTHER  AEEETEERS
ERSEABMMITIEEREERE
HE -

—F— NF /R E 1 K 44,526,000
BILAEAEBRREEMENEARA
Al (NEBEFEILEZ AR NIRE R
B BEYEZEEHEBEFRNEMA]
REFEIFIZE - ZEEEM KB FRIE
TR N EEROEKATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R RS Rl 51

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND LOANS TO

21. iR = 1 52 AV 5 12 o B

ASSOCIATES (contiNueD) Er¥ESxm
Interests in associates (Continued) REEDENER(®)
Summarised financial information for immaterial TFTEABELEN N BEEFRE

associates

According to the assessment of directors of the Company,
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, no
individual associate is material to the Group, therefore, no
information on individual associate is disclosed.

Set out below are the summarised financial information for
the immaterial associates which are accounted for using the
equity method.

BEBEAQNFESNTE  RZZTZF
F+-_A=+—HERZ-ZE—hF+=
A=+—H ' & E R &S hEHAK
SEmMEBEE At - WEFEE
RIEEENER o

PAN SR IME A 2R ARREY N B KB
LRENVBERMRE -

2020
=

HK$’000
TET

2019

—E-hE

HK$’000
TET

Profit from continuing operations

Other comprehensive loss Hip2mEIE
Total comprehensive income EHEKR AL

Loans to an associate

Rt

Loans BZ

As at 31 December 2020, loans to an associate are
denominated in RMB, unsecured and bearing interest rates
ranging from 0% to 3.85% (2019: 0% to 4.35%).

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, due to
short-term nature of the loans to an associate, the carrying
amounts approximate the fair values.

D44 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd # /88 i AR A A

RERERTNNE

555,373 192,537
(61,465) (69,765)
493,908 122,772

2020
—EEHE
HK$’000
FHERT

220,772

R-ZE-_FTEF+-_A=+—H0" A
BMECEBERUAREIE AE
- BN T 0% = 3.85% K F F| &
ZE-NF N FR0% E4.35%)
TR e

2019
—T-hEF
HK$’000
FET

32,821

RZE-TEF+_A=+—HEZ=Z
—NF+-A=+—H BmEe
NEEFROGEEE  BEEHNSER
HEAREE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS 22.IRGEFENERKRMDS

TO JOINT VENTURES Er¥EaE

Interests in joint ventures REELENER
HK$’000
FERx
At 1 January 2019 R-—ZE-h&—HF—H 3,678,437
Capital contributions to joint ventures (i) m&EPEEE (i) 2,444,745
Share of profits FEEFE 358,532
Dividends (ii) BB (i) (1,231,330)
Share of other comprehensive losses EhEMEEERE (62,014)
Exchange adjustments PE W AR (29,526)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZB-NE+=A=+—-8 5,158,844
Capital contributions to joint ventures AaERETE 652,090
Transfer from an associate BRa-AHetE 22,352
Share of profits T 244,058
Dividends (ii) B 8. (i) (611,466)
Share of other comprehensive income FEEEar e s 159,727
Exchange adjustments BEE 5, 3 153,313
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-BF+=A=+-—H 5,778,918
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BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS 22. RS E{ERMNiEmRMS

TO JOINT VENTURES (coninuep) ErESR@®

Interests in joint ventures (Continued) REELENERS(E)

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the RZEZTEF+A=T—HEZ=ZZ

principal joint ventures of the Group, all of which were —NF+ZA=+—H  x&EEFXEZE

accounted for using equity method, were as follows: BETE(HORARREAR) EEMN
T

Place of
incorporation Issued and fully paid
and operation share capital/registered
Name of joint venture i capital and paid-up capital Percentage of equity interest held Principal activities

RELRAR REERY  CRAERRA/EREARARER FEEHRERDL TEXR
2020 2019 2020 2020 2019 2019
i Zg-nF ZRCRE CRCRE CTAE CTNE
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indlrectly
ER B B itk

Resources J Energy Investment — HK Share capital Share capital 66 — Investment holding
Limited (‘Resources J') i &% USS266,599,544 IRUSYA et REER
BN RRERRAT k& R&
(RERR ) 266,599,544 %7 AREERITESD
China Resources Power Orignt HK Share capital Share capital = 66 Investment holding
Co., Limited (‘Orient’) i & INPRIREIN  US8265,311,808 RERK
EEENRAARAAEA i Bx RA
265,311,808 %7 [AGRIEKCES
China Resources Power (Hezhou) ~ PRC Registered Registered = 66 Operation of a
Co., Limited (‘CR Hezhou') i)~ FE and paid-up and paid-up power station
EHEN(EM)BRAA capital RMB capital RMB 2ERY
(TEEEM i 1,724,000,000 1,724,000,000
AMRMRES
AR% AE%
INPZXON G 1,724,000,00070
Summit Plus International Limited UK Share capital Share capital = 40 Operation of a
(*Summit Plus’) & (GBP580,000,000  pISIEE OO power station
Summit Plus International Limited R R 2EEY
(T'Summit Plus)) CLOIES 580,000,000 3%
China Resources Power PRC Registered and Registered and = 50  Operation of a
(Jinzhou) Co., Limited hE paid-up capital paid-up capital power station
EEEN(BN)ERAT RMB1,030,922,500 NRRSI(TRPREN gEEl

HMEARES IR
AR¥ ARH
1,039,022,5007 [ETRZZA0N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS

TO JOINT VENTURES (conminuep)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

Notes:

i In February 2019, the Group made capital contribution of GBP232,000,000
to Summit Plus, after this capital contribution the Group’s guarantee
amounting to HK$2,312,414,000 to CRC New Energy (UK) Limited was
released.

ii. During the year ended 31 December 2020, dividends of GBP15,440,000
(equivalent to HK$157,568,000) (2019: GBP84,191,000 (equivalent to
HK$857,362,000) was declared and paid by Summit Plus, from its capital
reserve.

jii. The Group holds 66% of the interests of Resources J. As certain key
financial and operating matters should be approved unanimously by the
board members appointed by both the Group and the other shareholder of
Resources J, the directors of the Company consider that Resources J is
jointly controlled by the Group and the third party. Orient and CR Hezhou
are 100% directly and indirectly held by Resources J, respectively.

All the entities above are limited liability companies.

According to the assessment of directors of the Company,
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, no
individual joint venture is material to the Group, therefore,
no information on individual joint venture is disclosed.

Set out below are the summarised financial information for
the immaterial joint ventures which are accounted for using
the equity method.

Profit from continuing operations FE R E TSR T
Other comprehensive income (expense) HihZEKRA(FAx)

EEBARE

Total comprehensive income

B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

22. REEEXENIERRMS

SrESR@
REELENER@E)
fE -

i. RZZE—NF=A - A&EERSummit Plus
JE#232,000,000 8 - RNz EE% - A&
EFCRC New Energy (UK) LimitedfEH
¥E1R2,312,414,00078 TLIE R -

ii. BE_Z-_ZE+_A=+—RHILtEE
Summit Plust & & AN G R 5k ROR %
2.15,440,000% 4 (8E K 157,568,0007%
7t) (ZZ—N4F : 84,191,0005 & (EE
857,362,000/ 7T) ) °

ii. REBFEHREER6% MG - 5 TEE
BB REEERREAEEARE=THAZ
EMEFGRE—BULE B ARAES
RAREERE=7THBREERDTERLR
I o R REBEMOZMBAESD B H
HREERE R REERSE

LA BRI ABREERA -

BREARNRESNTG  RZTZZ
F+-_A=+—BE=ZE—NF+=
A=+—8 TEERNEGELEHARN
SEBEEX Al TEFEERE
BENER o

AT &SRB EDEARNIFERS
BEENPHEERBE

2020 2019
=

—“ZE-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET

244,058 358,532
159,727 (62,014)

403,785 296,518
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z-TF+_A=t—RHIEFE

22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS 22 BETTENIEmROE
TO JOINT VENTURES (continuep) SErESRm@m

Loans to joint ventures MEETEER

2020 2019
—v—vfﬁ :%@—j‘Lf‘E

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Current: BNHA -

Loans to joint ventures mMEEtEER 300,080 415,059
As at 31 December 2020, loans to joint ventures are RZE-ZEF+_A=+—H" A&
denominated in RMB, unsecured and bearing interest rates BEEEERUAARBTE - EEF R
of 4.35% to 4.75% (2019: 4.35%) per annum. WERRKL35%E4.75%(ZZF—H

F:4.35%)FHE o
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, due to RZEZTEF+ZA=+T—HEZ=
short-term nature of the loans to joint ventures, the carrying —NF+ZA=+—H Bam&
amounts approximate the fair values. TENERBEHMEE - ﬁﬂ(’&fﬂgﬁ

HENEIREE °

248 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd ZEHEHZERERA A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23. Dﬂﬁﬁﬁgfﬁﬁfgﬁggﬂﬁ*
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE NHitZZ S I aNEME
INCOME AND LOANS TO A FVOCI INVESTEE EROAAREEHSEH
COMPANY Z2#) 5t \Hih iz S URm A
k&R OISR

FVOCI WA AEENEEBBHARLES
&

FVOCI represent equity investments in unlisted limited AABEFEBEH T AEMERE U

liability entities registered in the PRC which are not held HIERPEELIELTERETE

for trading. These are strategic investments and the Group BHRERE  WIESIEEE - FH

considers this classification to be more relevant. Movement HERAKRIKE  AXERRBMEY

of FVOCI is disclosed in Note 45c. HE AR MAABEFEAEY
S AE AR A Was &) B B 7R B 5T 45¢
HE o

On disposal of these equity investments, any related balance HEZSERIEER  LAREBER

within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to retained earnings. BT AEMFE REREANRD
FAREEHRBETH>EERBA
F o

2020 2019
—B-BF T NF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET AT

Company A ~aA 537,672 562,533
Company B A7B 1,266,235 525,286
Company C ~alC - 351,893
Company D ATD 212,289 181,324
Company E AR E 112,305 112,338
Company F NGNS 30,502 45,546

Others HApth 224,334 155,651

2,383,337 1,934,571

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, FVOCI are all RZEBE_EFR_ZE—-NF+_HA
denominated in RMB. =+—H  UAREBEEBEE:
AEMGEKREZHINANARBETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R RS Rl 51

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME AND LOANS TO A FVOCI INVESTEE
COMPANY (conTiNueD)

Loans to a FVOCI investee company

Non-current IERH
Current mED

As at 31 December 2020, loans to a FVOCI investee
company, are unsecured, denominated in RMB, bearing
interest rate published by the People’s Bank of China. The
loans are repayable in 2021, 2022 and 2023 (2019: 2020,
2021 and 2022) respectively.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the loans
to a FVOCI investee company, due to the short-term nature,
the carrying amounts approximate their fair values. The fair
values are also not significantly different from their carrying
amounts of non-current portion of loans to a FVOCI investee
company.

250 china Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #BE ARG RA

23. UK A (EiHsT S B2 85t

N\HithizS X E S
ERMIAARGESSEH
2851 /\ Hithix S X &5 A4
(= VAT = ENE))
BAA A BB B BB B A SR
Al B BIRE D R

2020 2019
= i i

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THT

319,223 339,633
131,519 83,867

450,742 423,500

RZZEZZF+_A=+—H |
ARBEFEBEEF AEMERE I
IR E R R ERAEER - LA
REE - RPBRARRITRMEE
HEREENERAE - ZZERES
AR _—F ZFT__FR-F
—EF(EENEF 2T TF
TECFRIFEFIEE-

RZZE-TEF+_A=+—HEK=Z
—NWF+-—A=+—H8 aREEH
Mg - MUAAREBETEEESA
HiGREWRaEmwiRE AR ERMED
MO RMENEREAAEBE [
AARBESEBEH T AHMES
WS IR E AR BRI EE D 1Y
AAEBEEFEASHENEREER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Consideration receivable for
the Disposal of Shanxi
Coal Mining Assets

(Fi7E (a))

(as defined below) (Note (a))

Input VAT to be recovered

Prepayments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Prepayments for acquisition of

75 442 [0 HE TR AR (A 7

CORE N/ OE]

mining rights (Note (b)) (Pt =E (b))
Others HAth
Notes:

The Group disposed of certain subsidiaries engaging in coal mining
business during the year ended 31 December 2018 (“Disposal of Shanxi
Coal Mining Assets”). On 26 December 2018, the Group entered into an
equity transfer agreement with an independent third party, Guoyuan Shidai
Coal Asset Management Company Limited (“Guoyuan Company”), in
relation to the transfer of its 100% equity interest in China Resources Coal
(Group) Co., Ltd. (“CR Coal”) and all its equity interest in four of the coal
companies under CR Coal (collectively, the “Target Coal Companies”), and
all their respective coal mines, at a consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to
HK$1). On the same date, the Group also entered into a debt restructuring
agreement (the “Debt Restructuring Agreement”) with Guoyuan Company
and agreed that all shareholder loans and accounts receivable in the
total amount of approximately RMB21.9 billion owed by CR Coal and/
or the Target Coal Companies to the Group (the “Target Debt”) shall be
transferred to and assumed by Guoyuan Company for a consideration of
RMB11 billion. Guoyuan Company or its designated entity shall pay the
first installment of RMB6 billion of the Target Debt and pay the remaining
RMBS5 billion and all outstanding interest accrued to the date on which the
consideration is fully paid based on The People’s Bank of China prevailing
benchmark lending rate of the same tenor to the Group before 31 October
2021. In 2018, the Group has received the first installment of RMB6 billion,
and in 2019, the Group has received the second installment of RMB1
billion. According to the Debt Restructuring Agreement, Guoyuan Company
should pay the third installment of RMB1.5 billion before 31 October 2020
and the fourth installment of RMB2.5 billion before 31 October 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Guoyuan Company agreed
with the Group deferred the third installment of RMB1.5 billion and agreed
to pay the third and fourth installments of total RMB4 billion before 31
October 2021. The Group does not provide any loss allowance for the
consideration receivable as the management consider the impairment on
the consideration receivable is insignificant.

L EILTREEE
EBEREERR T

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

24, H{h FEUXERIA TR TR i 7K IA

2020
—EEHE

Y i SRAE I RV TR (I 5RIR

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FET

HK$’000
TET

— 2,790,875
4,969,197 3,907,466
4,253,847 3,867,505

= 1,301,664

318,037 70,082
9,541,081 11,937,592

REE-_Z—\E+-_A=+—HILF
B ARBEHENREREERNS THWEB
AR(THELARKEE]) - RZT—N
FH+-A-+ 8 FEEEF=HER
BRAEREEEEBRAR(TEREREAR])
RN AR R NS R ERE
¥E&EE)ERARTEBHEEDNEI
BERFEEREEETOREXRARNE
HEEFEREABEEERARDEESE
ERER REARBITHEERN 1S
L) e FER—A - ANEEINEBRA A
vEBEARZE((EBEABZ]) - TR
Bl EEER B ZERARERE
EENHARE219EB TN BREER L
R esE([BEER])  BEEEY
BEURA AW HEAE  REAARE110
B BRARSEETEREAINEE
BEE—HARB60ET IR -_T——
F+A=+—HAMAKREZNHTAR
BE0BTEMBEEREBEEEZNER
MR EEEFE - DIRBHAREERN
FPRARBRITHRATELEERFEFE - B
ZE-N\F - AEEEREEHERA
REE0EIT MRZE—HhE A£EEP
W B = BN RARBA0ETT - IRIEER
ElHE - BRARER=-ZZ=2F1+ A
T+ HXNEZHRBAREISE
TR E——F+A=+—BHAXN
FEVERFIBARKE 25BTT ©

RBE_T-_TF+-_A=+—HILF
& BRA R EALE T IELSE = BT
FARBASEBT UHER=_Z=—F+
A=+ BrXNE=HEFNSEHES
HARBARBT - AR EEERABKE
FHUREREAX - A% B & E R
FEHR AR E R -

Annual Report 2020 F3# 251
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

In January 2008 and December 2011, the Group entered into agreements
with a local government authority in the PRC to acquire the mining
right of a coal mine located in Inner Mongolia at a consideration of
RMB5,782,130,000 (equivalents to HK$6,599,087,000). Due to the local
government’s policy change on resources pricing and the redefinition
of resources scope, the Group entered into a supplemental agreement
with the local government in November 2019, revising the consideration
to RMB5,504,590,000 (equivalents to HK$6,145,049,000). As at 31
December 2019, deposit amounting to RMB1,166,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,301,664,000) which is refundable was paid by the Group. The
remaining consideration payable of RMB4,338,590,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,843,385,000 (Note 47)) was disclosed in the capital commitments
as at 31 December 2019 and will be paid by instalment during the validity
period of the mining right starting from 2021 to 2049.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group made certain
additional payments and completed the acquisition of the mining
right pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated November
2019. Subsequent to the acquisition of the mining right and as at 31
December 2020, the Group had an outstanding refundable deposits of
RMB835,725,000 (equivalent to HK$993,369,000 is presented under “trade
and other receivable” (note 26)) from the local government and outstanding
consideration payable of RMB4,338,590,000 regarding to the acquisition of
the mining rights. As date of acquisition, the fair value of the consideration
payable of RMB4,338,590,000, which will be paid by instalment starting
from 2021 to 2049, amounting to approximately RMB2,325,005,000
(equivalent to HK$2,755,991,000) was determined based on the present
value of the payment schedule discounted at 4.9% per annum and the
amount due for settlement after 12 months, amounting to approximately
RMB 2,173,155,000 (equivalent to HK$2,582,056,000), was presented
under “Other long-term payable”.

252 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #BE ARG RA

24, H{h FEUXERIA R TR {7 IR

(%8)

fia -

(o)

(&)

RZZEEZNF-—ARZE——F+=
B A& @ B BT RS R 3L 1
& AR E AR %5,782,130,000 7T (48
£ 1#46,599,087,000% 7r ) W B 2 A A =
HE—EEEORBEE o AR BUT
HERTEBRENAERETZEER
HE AEER -_E-hF+—-AEHE
RN wE WEREARAARKE
5,504,590,000 7t (#H & 7 6,145,049,000
Bl BHE-_ZFT—NLF+ A
“t+—H AEBCINEEARE
1,166,000,000 7T (#8 & 7 1,301,664,000
L) o B B AR 4,338,590,000 7T
(¥ &7 4,843,385,00078 7T (M 5£47) ) A
EARAEPEE BT —FE2_F
TNFRIRERE BER D BT -

BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—HIEFE -
REERBEARA-_E-NF+— A8E
Tk VR B T R IMS 3R R Tk U B R
RN BETE+_A=+—HWKEF
TR - NEBEKBE M RTH R KE
AR B3R & B AR 835,725,000 7T (18
& 12998,369,0007% 7T+ A FE U BR 3R &
Hib kB I T25(M5E28)) ME
AUNBHERENNAINERREAAR
# 4,338,590,0007T » AW HE B H - R
REHAREERARE4,338,590,000
T BRI EZ—FETRNAFSHX
0 %) A R #2,325,005,000 7¢ (A8 & 7
2,755,991,0008 7T ) JH AR IR FUEE I R 1Y
RERTFII%MREE - M12@A%
EEENEBHAR2,173,155,000 7T
(#8E 7 2,582,056,000 78 70) A Hfb K HA
JERRIBIT 25 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

25.INVENTORIES 25. 78

2020

—BCEHF

HK$’000

FHT
Coal <874 2,220,330 2,574,311
Spare parts and consumables HRAZHAERER 647,488 550,859
Fuel oil Wil 43,691 46,762

2,911,509 3,171,932

The cost of inventories recognised as operating MRAAKLEILNGFEKRAERR
expenses amounted to HK$33,538,099,000 (2019: $33,538,099,000/& t(=Z & — N
HK$34,361,165,000), the majority of which are recognised % : 34,361,165,00087T) *+ AKX
in fuels. D RIRE P 1R o

The impairment charges related to inventories amounting 7 81720,000%8 T(Z T — N F:
to HK$720,000 (2019: HK$7,788,000) has been recorded 7,788,000/ 7T ) KA B 17 B R RL(E
in operating expenses. The movement on the provision for BRERKESTHAR - A&EERFE
impairment of inventories of the Group is as follows: W EREZEBNT

2020 2019
—ECEH —“ZE-NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAT

At 1 January n—HA—H 9,709
Exchange adjustments PE 5 AR (190)
Impairment charge to profit or loss Ri8 RN AR E 7,788
Utilisation e (3,928)
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—8H 13,379
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BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

26.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS

26. FEUXBRFR ~ HithFEIXFRIA
RIAIRIA

2020 2019
—2-BF —TAF

HK$’000 HK$’000
F87 Fi

Trade receivables from contracts RERFEA M EUERK
with customers
- Accounts receivable — FEURER K IR 14,218,995
- Notes receivable —RWEE 1,002,828 474,376
20,437,913 14,693,371
Less: loss allowance of R FEUBR BRI B 2
trade receivables (75,095) (78,187)
Trade receivables - net PE W BR TR B PRIV 14,615,184
Input VAT to be recovered and 15 LT [0 3 TR BB (B 75 K

prepayment for income tax FriS B BUIR 2,914,938 1,894,205

Prepayments for coal and fuel xR TR I8 971,509 612,783
Consideration receivable for the MEELAEREEE
Disposal of Shanxi Coal Mining FEURAB (FH7E 24(a))
Assets (Note 24(a)) 5,029,554 ENCYINLT
Dividends receivable from JIE Ui B i R A AR B
other companies 57,373 434,480
Loans to employees mEEERK 1,472 1,685
Refundable deposit for acquisition WS B E A PR [
of mining rights (Note 24(b)) = (M1 24(b)) 993,369 —
Others HAth 1,363,772 1,427,268
11,331,987 6,044,946
Less: loss allowance of B B RN IB R (B L
other receivables (266,385) (265,112)
20,395,018

All the trade and other receivables are denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS (coniNnuep)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice
date is as follows:

0 - 30 days 0Z30H
31 - 60 days 31E60H
Over 60 days 60 H A

As at 31 December 2020, included in trade receivables was
an amount of HK$311,636,000 (2019: HK$593,814,000)
which is due from fellow subsidiaries or associates and is
aged within one year.

The Group’s trade debtors are mainly the local grid
companies arising from sale of thermal power and renewable
energy electricity. The Group generally grants about 60
days’ credit period to customers from the end of the month
in which the sales is made, except for the tariff premium
for renewable energy projects. The collection of such tariff
premium is subject to the allocation of funds by relevant
government authorities to local grid companies, which
consequently takes a relatively longer time for settlement.

B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

26. FEUXARFR ~ HithFEUZFKIA
SN ENETE))

WERZEA I D ERERERE D
Wanw -

2020 2019
—7—7£E :%E_j_hﬁz

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THT

8,990,210 6,426,672
1,106,344 604,875
10,341,359 7,661,824
14,693,371

20,437,913

RZE-ZEF+-_A=+—H  EBK
R BIE—ERURE XM B A B B
&N \E 311,636,000 T (Z &
— L4 : 593,814,000/ 7T ) * BR %
B—FN -

$’$@E’Jfﬂﬂlﬁa§% EREWEMS

NEINBENAIBAERERESE - K&
IL%%S%%)EHUGOEIE’JE«%?!E,HH(@
EHE AERFAR) (A BERERIA
B EE AR o %f‘iﬁﬁﬂiﬂ’]@
WESTHRARNREREHEAA
AERESHRMBRME  BHH
i e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE—

ERE+_A=+—RALFE

26.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND PREPAYMENTS (conmiNnuep)

On 28 December 2020, the Group entered into a contract
with China Resources Shenguotou Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR
Trust”), a fellow subsidiary and pursuant to which the
Group has agreed to entrust CR Trust with the accounts
receivables of renewable energy segment amounting
RMB1,453,262,000 (equivalents to HK$1,726,708,000)
for the purpose of issuance of a debt financing instrument
backed by the cash flow generated from the accounts
receivables. Management of the Group assessed that,
through the contract with CR Trust, the Group has
transferred all the contractual rights to receive the cash
flows and therefore transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the accounts receivables to
CR Trust. Accordingly, the Group derecognised the related
trade receivables upon completion of the transfer on 28
December 2020.

Pursuant to Caidian [2012] No.102 Notice on the Interim
Measures for Administration of Subsidy Funds for Tariff
Premium of Renewable Energy A B4 8RR E B inwh BH &
S EBREITPHE) jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance,
the National Development and Reform Commission and the
National Energy Administration in March 2012, standardised
procedures for the settlement of the tariff premium came
into force in 2012 and approvals for the inclusion in a
national register of qualified renewable energy projects
(“Register Inclusion Approval”) on a project by project basis
are required before the allocation of funds to the local grid
companies.

As at 31 December 2020, certain operating projects of the
Group have obtained such Register Inclusion Approval for
the tariff premium and certain projects are in the process
of applying. The ageing analysis of trade receivables over
60 days excluding those tariff premium receivables is as
follows:

Over 60 days ##i1Be0 H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND PREPAYMENTS (coniNnuep)

Movements on the provision for loss allowance of trade
receivables of the Group are as follows:

At 1 January B—HA—H
Reversal of provision for loss allowance i B % & & & [0
Written off T 3H

Exchange adjustments b B
At 31 December R+=RAR=+—H

Movements on the provision for loss allowance of other
receivables of the Group are as follows:

At 1 January ®—A—H
Reversal of provision for loss allowance i {B % & # & # [0
Written off &8

Exchange adjustments M 5, 38 B
At 31 December R+=B=+—H

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Note 45
provides for details about the calculation of the allowance.

Information about the expected credit loss of trade
receivables, other receivables and the Group’s exposure to
credit risk can be found in Note 45.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair
values of trade and other receivables approximate their
carrying amounts due to the short-term nature.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2020 2019
—v—vfﬁ

“ZE-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET

78,187 114,676
(5,056) (29,931)
(3,625) (5,295)

5,589 (1,263)

75,095 78,187
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2020 2019
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FERT FET

265,112 281,075
(472) (516)
(4,712) (5,973)
6,457 (9,474)
266,385 265,112
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

= EXAIA
2020
—=—=q£

27 . FEUXES

HK$’000

Dividends receivable from associates
Interests receivable from associates

Others Hh

The Group does not provide any loss allowance for amounts
due from associates as management considered the
financial background and good credit ability.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair

values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-
term nature.

28. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

Current: BNER :
Dividend receivable from a R EEERE
joint venture
Interests receivable from A& RERNE
joint ventures
Others Hh

The Group does not provide any loss allowance for amounts
due from joint ventures as management considered the
financial background and good credit ability.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair

values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-
term nature.
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115,489 13,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. AMOUNTS DUE FROM OTHER RELATED
COMPANIES AND LOANS TO A NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Amounts due from other related companies

Non-trading related: IEE S HE
Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
Amounts due from a FVOCI
investee company

NN 6ty

RILE R AIFRIA

The amounts due from other related parties of the Group are
unsecured, denominated in RMB, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the
fair values of the amounts due from other related parties
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term
nature.

Loans to a non-controlling shareholder

As at 31 December 2020, loans to a non-controlling
shareholder are unsecured, denominated in RMB, with an
interest rate of 4.9% (2019: 4.9%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the loans
to a non-controlling shareholder, due to the short-term
nature, the carrying amounts approximate their fair values.
For the non-current portion, the fair value are also not
significantly different from their carrying amounts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
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29. [RUXE B E A B FRIATR
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2020 2019
= i

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T

6,196
14,970
94,488 68,327

126,241 89,493
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R RS Rl 51

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

30. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2020, deposits amounting to
HK$262,305,000 (2019: HK$378,855,000) had been
pledged to secure bank acceptance bills. Deposits
amounting to HK$37,782,000 (2019: HK$31,912,000)
were restricted for environmental protection and industry
transformation compliance purpose with the approval of
certain governments. As at 31 December 2019, deposits
amounting to HK$14,736,000 (2020: nil) were restricted by
PRC court order.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the
pledged and restricted bank deposits are all denominated in
RMB and the fair values approximate their carrying amounts.

31.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

RITRFHERE

Cash at bank and on hand

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are
denominated in the following currencies:

RMB AR
HK Dollars BT
US Dollars ETT
Others HAh
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2020 2019
—2-2F —TNF

HK$’000 HK$’000
T TAIT

5,036,484
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HEHE

4,907,306

2020 2019
—2-2F _—TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAIT

4,505,291 4,448,604
116,587 444,057
414,596 14,437
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4,907,306

5,036,484




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
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32.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND

ACCRUALS

Trade payables
Other payables

Ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date is as

follows:

0 to 30 days
31 to 90 days
Over 90 days

The average credit term for purchase of goods is 90 days.

Other payables include:

Payables in respect of purchase of
non-current assets

Accrued wages

Other tax payables

Interests payable

Retirement and other long-term
employee benefits obligations
(Note 40 (iii))

Others

RIEsT&EH

2020
—

HK$’000
TET

32. FE{IBRFR ~ HithfE{{ IR

2019
—TNF
HK$’000
THET

e BR IR 9,127,741 8,989,679
H b fE A 518 24,459,112 19,730,205
28,719,884

33,586,853

LI

2020
—E-FF
HK$’000
TET

REE B HE 0 AR R D AT

2019
—FE-NF
HK$’000
FH&TT

0Z&30H 4,092,339 3,406,975
31Z90H 3,392,367 2,077,496
90 HIA 1,643,035 3,505,208
9,127,741 8,989,679
BEEYHNFIEEHRAQQH -
Hi e FIBEE

2020
—

HK$’000
TERT

2019
—TNEF
HK$’000
THET

EHABEERDEE

) FE 1 5RIR 19,767,461 16,266,430
fEstE & 1,751,755 1,181,964
H b fE IR 1,220,597 1,006,561
FERTFI B 450,914 490,069

RN EHEMRET

& Mk A (B 5 40 (iii))
73,420 85,095
Hh 1,194,965 700,086
PIWLREPE 19,730,205
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R RS Rl 51

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

32. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (conmiNnuep)

Other payables are unsecured, interest-free,
demand and mainly denominated in RMB.

repayable on

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair
values of trade and other payables of the Group approximate
their carrying amounts due to the short-term nature.

33. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

FERED
e

Non-current
Current

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$1,659,920,000.

Majority of contract liabilities are from heat supplies
customers which are usually transferred into revenue within
one year.

34. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES

As at 31 December 2020, except for deposits amounting
to HK$1,066,624,000 (2019: HK$370,024,000) which are
market-rate-interest bearing, the remaining carrying amounts
due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand. The amounts due to associates are mainly
denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair
values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-
term nature.
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—
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FHE T

HK$’000
Fi857%

421,748 432,157

1,720,182 1,309,434
2,141,930 1,741,591
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
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35. AMOUNTS DUE TO JOINT VENTURES 35.FEMaE{rFERIE
As at 31 December 2020, except for deposits amounting to RZZEZTF+ZA=1T—08 " K&
HK$579,515,000 (2019: HK$28,064,000) which are market- 579,515,000 7T(=F — A4
rate-interest bearing, the remaining carrying amounts due 28,064,000 7T ) & T 3% A E 5 B
to joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on SN B TENEECEREAEAER

36

demand and are denominated in RMB.

- BERBRERFERE - ZFK
BEIUAARETI|E -

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair RZZE_ZF+_A=+—BRkZ=
values approximate their carrying amounts due to the short- —NWF+=—A=+—8" EEEAEEHE

term nature.

HE - ARBEHSNHEERE -

. AMOUNTS DUE TO OTHER RELATED 36. FE{T HL{ilBA E A Tl 5K IR

COMPANIES

Loans from an intermediate
holding company

Amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due to an intermediate
holding company

2020 2019
—E-BF —TNF

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET BT

e —HEFEERATNER
5,951,763 6,233,010
FE B B 2 R FEFE AR AR B Rk IE
239,068 228,440
Fiﬁlﬂ%ﬁﬁ% NS E] 3,704 24,444
& AR R AR A RIFRIB
263,481 261,646

6,458,016 6,747,540

Except for the loans from China Resources (Holdings) RZE-ZEF+-_H=+—8" BT—
Company Limited (“CRH”) amounting to HK$5,951,763,000 FREEZERAFEBSEE)ERA
(2019: HK$6,233,010,000) as at 31 December 2020, an ([#=B5&E])E 55,951,763, ooo
intermediate holding company, bearing an interest rate of TT(ZZ — L F :6,233,010,000/8
0.96% (2019: ranging from 2.76% to 3.70%) per annum, TR FRNEKR0IBRTE(ZZE—H
amounts due to other related companies are unsecured, F:NTF2.76%E£3.70%) 50 FEFT
interest-free and repayable on demand. They are mainly HMEEARFIEAEER  REX
denominated in RMB and HKD. AMERFER - ZFRBEENUA
R R EESI|ME -

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the RZZBE_ZEF+_A=+—BKZ
fair values of amounts due to other related companies —NE+ZA=+—H" EEEA%%,HE
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term MY - ENEMBEEAFRBENARL

nature.

BEASNERKREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

37.BORROWINGS

Non-current JEBNER
Bank loans IRITE
- Secured —BHEH
- Unsecured —

Corporate bonds and notes (Note)

Current BN &R

Bank loans IRITER
— Secured — B HEH
- Unsecured — R

Corporate bonds and notes (Note)

Total borrowings BEHBE

The bank loans of the Group were secured by:

Buildings and equipment (Note 15)
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RAVEZFEREE (M)

RAVEHFLER ()

BF RERE(IFE15)

37.166

82,109,487

20,157,788

102,267,275

2020
—E-%F

HK$’000
TET

2,367,163
71,662,836

8,079,488

324,671
13,892,317

5,940,800

2,473,817
55,349,382
10,940,230

68,763,429

522,282
16,067,177
2,550,860

19,140,319

87,903,748

AEBRRITERATHNIER EE

i

2020
—g-%f

HK$’000
TR

2019
—E—NF
HK$’000
FHEIT

2,106,542



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
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37.BORROWINGS (conrinueD)

The bank borrowings were repayable as follows:

37 [=] E(ma
BERINTHEES

2020
—ECEHF

HK$’000
Fi85

2019
—FE-NF
HK$’000
FH&TT

Within 1 year —FRN WCWAGKEEN 16,589,459
Between 1 and 2 years fRiE—FENEBME 5,588,716 5,239,624
Between 2 and 5 years BEMEENBRBRSF 35,615,084 [EIR:lolNek]e]
QOver 5 years BiEAF 32,826,199 22,777,536

74,412,658

88,246,987

The corporate bonds and notes were repayable as follows:

2020
—ECEF

HK$’000
FET

Within 1 year — R 5,040,800 [EERTIN:E0)

Between 1 and 2 years R —FETEBME 5,703,168 5,581,750

Between 2 and 5 years BBEMFEBETBBERSF 2,376,320 5,358,480

14,020,288 13,491,090

As at 31 December 2020, the fair values of bank loans B’\\\ TEF+A=+—H " #8]17
approximate their carrying amounts. The fair values are EXMAnBEEREERS - A

based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on
benchmark lending rate of the People’s Bank of China or ﬂ”?jﬂﬁﬁﬁllﬂﬁﬁ
LIBOR rate. ATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Bz

—EoTF+-AS+ALSE

37.BORROWINGS (continueD)

The fair values of the corporate bonds at 31 December 2020
were HK$12,805,988,000 (2019: HK$13,479,611,000).
The fair value measurement with a principal amount of
RMB11,800,000,000 (2019: RMB9,800,000,000) corporate
bonds are categorised within level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy as they are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange
and Shenzhen Stock Exchange. As at 31 December
2019, the fair value measurement with a principal amount
of RMB2,285,000,000 (2020: nil) corporate bonds are
categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as
they are private placements and are calculated based on
the discounted cash flows of the principal and interest
payments.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in
the following currencies:

RMB AR
HK Dollar BT
GBP HeE
EUR BT
US Dollar ETT

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had the following
undrawn borrowing facilities:

—FREIH
— 1% 5 B

Expiring within one year
Expiring beyond one year

During the year ended 31 December 2020, bank borrowings
carry average interest rate at 3.87% (2019: 4.39%) per
annum.
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NEfBER - E-_ZF+_A=1+—
BHH QB 1E A12,805,988,000 7
TT(ZZF— L% : 13,479,611,00078
JC) ° A& A AR 11,800,000,000
T(Z E — L F: AR &
9,800,000,000 7T ) H#J A ﬁ%#ﬂ@f&
REEFESEALAABEELAMNE
—% - RAABEBEA Tﬁ%m@b
BEZSMRINEEZ ST LT -
R-—E—-NF+=-—A=+—8" $$
A AR #2 285,000,000 (=& =
TF\EINRRIESFNAREBER
ENHEARNABEERNE=ZH "R
AEEBEAGEHFBLARE - Wik
e EFENRMAIBRESRAHE o

EEMNRIENNTERIIE :

2020 2019
—

—ZT—NEF
HK$’000
FHEIT

HK$’000
TR

82,894,821 68,417,712
17,896,116 17,887,807
1,439,519 1,632,775
13,233 12,659
23,586 52,795
87,903,748

102,267,275

R-ZZE-FF+-A=+t—H &%
BARBAMERERELT

2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$’000
FERT THETT

87,202,992 62,017,829
LOPRVTN 107,668,310
169,686,139

189,259,658
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.BORROWINGS (continueD)

In January 2010, CR Power Investment issued notes with a principal
amount of RMB1,785,000,000 (equivalent to HK$1,992,685,000), bearing
an interest rate 4.70% per annum and will mature in January 2020
(“Tranche 1) and RMB500,000,000 (equivalent to HK$558,175,000) bearing
an interest rate 4.95% and will mature in January 2020 (“Tranche II”)
respectively. In January 2020, both Tranche | and Tranche Il were repaid.

In June 2016, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds with a
principal amount of RMB5,000,000,000 (equivalent to HK$5,581,750,000),
bearing an interest rate of 3.49% per annum and will mature in June 2023
(“Bonds I”). The Bonds | were listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange.

At the end of the fifth year from the issue of Bond I, CR Power Investment
has the right to adjust the coupon rate (“New Coupon rate”) and holders of
Bond | have the right to sell the Bond | held by them, in whole or partially,
to CR Power Investment at a consideration equivalent to the face value
of the Bond | within 5 business days after the announcement of the New
Coupon Rate.

In March 2019, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds with a
principal amount of RMB3,000,000,000 (equivalent to HK$3,349,050,000),
bearing an interest rate of 3.65% per annum and will mature in March 2022
(“Bonds 1I”). The Bonds Il were listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange.

In August 2019, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds with a
principal amount of RMB1,800,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,009,430,000),
bearing an interest rate of 3.40% per annum and will mature in August
2022 (“Bonds III”). The Bonds Il were listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange.

The September 2020, CR Power Investment issued corporate bonds with a
principal amount of RMB2,000,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,274,560,000),
bearing an interest rate of 3.19% per annum and will mature in September
2023 (“Bonds IV”"). The Bonds IV were listed in Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

M

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

38. LEASE LIABILITIES

AT 51 BR B A FE A &Y

Lease liabilities payable:

38.THEGIE

2020
—E-%F

HK$’000
TET

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
T T

MEAE:
Within one year —FR 183,165 210,811
Within a period of more than fEiE—FETEBBMRE
one year but not more
than two years 196,377 188,253
Within a period of more than HREMEENBERRFE
two years but not more
than five years 695,668 643,650
1,075,210 1,087,714
Less: Amount due for settlement with ~ J& : AR EE T 2R
12 months shown under 12 & A A e 4
current liabilities B 5KIE (183,165) (210,811)
Amount due for settlement after RIERBBETZIIRN
12 months shown under 128 A& EEERRIA
non-current liabilities 892,045 826,903

39. DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income mainly represents subsidies granted
by certain PRC governmental departments related to
assets. As at 31 December 2020, government grants of
HK$56,657,000 (2019: HK$73,622,000) was amortised to
the consolidated income statement (Note 6).

208 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #EBE AZERAERA

39. IEIEURA

BEWAEERE THBEBMAIMS
FREEEHEBOE RZZE=F
F+=-A=4+—H " 56,657,000/
T(=Z — N5 : 73,622,000 7T )
BB E B & fF U st 7= 255 (Fft
FE6) o



40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS

The Group has various retirement benefit schemes, including
PRC retirement benefit scheme and Hong Kong retirement
benefit schemes, and termination benefit schemes as
following:

() Retirement benefit scheme - PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
schemes is to make the specified contributions.

In 2019, the Group set up a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all qualified employees
(“Corporate Annuity Plan”). They usually need to service
over one year in the Group to be qualified. The Group
contribute 5% of the salary of participating employee to
the scheme each year.

(ii) Retirement benefit scheme - Hong Kong

The Group operates various defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all Hong
Kong employees. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salary of
employees and any forfeited contributions in respect of
unvested benefits of staff leavers are used to reduce
the Group’s contributions.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM 40. ;B Hith R HA{E & #& il
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (continuep) R AN )
(iii) Termination benefit (iii) RIEZEER

(a) For certain selected employees of China @ MREZENKEBEHRER
Resources Power Hunan Liyujiang Co., Ltd., B RENNEERER
Shenyang Power Company, and Hunan China TERAR Y BHEEIR
Resources Coal Mining Company Limited AR EEEEERES
employed by the vendors of the businesses RAAIEERES([KE
as at respective acquisition dates (the “Pre- AIEE]ME AKEM
acquisition Employees”), the Group has offered HeaTETCEARERE
early retirement packages to those who met BEXH RO WKEREER
certain specified criteria and accepted voluntary HIBRRKGTE - BHEL
redundancy. Such arrangement required specific HEEASBEEREEAR
approval granted by management of the Group. k- REEEFEEMZ
The Group is obliged to pay such termination ZRFPEMNES (AIRNEE
benefits to those early retired employees (i.e. RIRFER AR ) (T #R 8
retired before their statutory retirement age), who B=TFHIRBARA S
had been working for more than 30 years or in BRI BRIREGK)
accordance with the respective entities’ early SRR IEZERS 2T
retirement policy. These early retired employees BREEREEREINE
are entitled to certain monthly benefits up to their ERARFREEATEA
statutory retirement age. HAE A o
These obligations were provided for by the Group ZEETHAEEILTEST
at the present value of the total expected benefit BN BB R E
payments. Where the obligation does not fall due ReWMABETILER
within twelve months, the obligation payable has + @ ARENE - B
been discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects B E 5 A B WA A X Bh
management’s current market assessment of B ZBERREEER
the time value of money and risk specific to the ERNEEELREBEET
obligation (the discount rate was determined with B E R R E TR E BT T
reference to market yields at the balance sheet BE g BRI KRB
date on treasury bonds in the PRC). BEFNEEAGBRAN

mIZWEEMETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

40. RETIREMENT AND OTHER LONG-TERM 40. ;B Hith R HA{E & &l
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (continuep) AN )
(iii) Termination benefit (Continued) (i) RIEZEFF @)

(b) In 2020 and 2019, certain coal mining entities (b) E’\\\_j_gﬁ)} —N
closed down coal mines and offered a termination F :Fk%ﬁ);%ﬁﬁf Faﬁ'ﬁ‘u‘ﬁ
benefit package to their employees. These DEELMEESRME—
obligations were provided for by the Group at BERIEZERAETE - %
the present value of the total expected benefit EEAHAEERESRE
payments. Where the obligation does not fall due AR AEBERIRBEFIE
within twelve months, the obligation payable has WBBEEL RN+ =
been discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects AREE - ERNEERA
management’s current market assessment of BREIATAIEALER - A B X
the time value of money and risk specific to the RMEREHEERREE
obligation (the discount rate was determined with BERBEBEENRFERR
reference to market yields at the statement of EITHE R M SRS - B
financial positon date on treasury bonds in the REAZ2BPHBEESR
PROC). B SIR &R B 80T 5 W

41.SHARE CAPITAL 41. %7K
Number of
shares Share capital
gng ¢ [N
HK$’000
FExT
Ordinary shares, issued ZER BRITRARE:
and fully paid:
At 1 January 2019, R=—F—h&F—H—H"
31 December 2019 —E-NAFt+-A=1+—H
and 31 December 2020 RZTZTF
+Z-A=+—8H 4,810,444,000 22,316,710
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

42. OTHER RESERVES

Nature of the component in other reserves are set out as
below:

(a)

General reserve comprises statutory surplus reserves,
enterprise expansion funds and reserve funds of
subsidiaries in the PRC. Pursuant to the provisions of
their respective Articles of Association, certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC shall
make appropriation from their profit after tax to the
general reserves. The general reserves shall be used
for making up losses and capitalisation into capital of
the respective subsidiaries.

Special reserves of the Group represent the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital
issued by the Company and the nominal amount of the
share capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
group reorganisation for the purpose of the preparation
of the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange.

The movement of the capital reserve is as follows:

Opening balance at 1 January
Changes in fair values of FVOCI,
net of tax

42, H it fzE
E A AR E S PO M E I T

(@)

K—HA—BE0&e
UNARBEFEAZD
AEAEMARS W

RABEES(FHER)

Change in ownership interests in
a subsidiary without losing control
Share of other equity movement of
investments accounted for using
the equity method

I EAR B HIENIERT
HEMBEAREE AR
ZRREDENRNRE
M E S 2 B0

Transfers (Note (c)) =R (M5E ()

Transfers upon utilisation (Note (d)) {5 FF BF 8= % (Bt 5% (d))

Transfer upon disposal of a FVOCI HERAFETAEM
2 TR Wt 2

Closing balance at 31 December

D772 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd # 88 il AR A

Rt ZA=t—HFR&EH

—RRFEE BN T E N B
RAMAEBHRERE  BER
RESMFHEBES RERSF
FEHABERMABMMGKI - K
RAETRNPEHE R
BRRRENBED BE— R
e —REBKAIFEERR
fIERRNEERETER

AEENFHHEREARBE
BTRAREEREREEBA
NARDER BB LW
ETHEESEEBANNB R
AIRAHEZENERE -

BEARFENESHOT
2020 2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
THETL

—g-%f

[ p—

HK$’000
FERT

881,504 571,500
490,221 20,722
11,585 295,792
(18,123) (1,401)
- 6,303

(470) (11,412)
(56,069) —
881,504

1,308,648



42. OTHER RESERVES (continuep)

(c)

Pursuant to certain regulations in the PRC governing
the mining industry, the Group is required to transfer
annually an amount being calculated at the tonne
volume of coal ore extracted that year, multiplied
by the applicable rate. Pursuant to these relevant
regulations, the fund can only be used for future
improvement of the mining facilities and enhancement
of industrial safety measures. The fund is not available
for distribution to shareholders of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
HK$470,000 (2019: HK$11,412,000) had been utilised
for expenditures incurred in the qualified assets as
stated in Note (c), and therefore the corresponding
amount was transferred from the capital reserve to
retained earnings.

43.PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES HOLDERS

In December 2019, China Resources Power Investment
Company Limited (“CR Power Investment”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued two batches of perpetual
medium-term notes amounting to RMB5,000,000,000
(equivalent to HK$ 5,581,750,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, CR Power
Investment issued two tranches of perpetual corporate
bonds amounting to RMB2,500,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,920,561,000) and RMB2,000,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,336,449,000) in October
2020 and December 2020, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

43. PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES HOLDERS

(CONTINUED)

Key terms and conditions relating to the above equity

instruments are as follows:

The principal on the notes and bonds has no fixed
term for repayment and CR Power Investment has the
option to call the notes. If CR Power Investment does
not exercise the call option, the notes and bonds will
survive;

The notes and bonds offer no redemption option to the
investors so that investors cannot require CR Power
Investment to redeem their notes and bonds anytime;

CR Power Investment has the option to defer interest
payment, except in the event of mandatory interest
payments, so that at each interest payment date, CR
Power Investment may choose to defer the interest
payment to the next payment date for the current
period as well as all interests and accreted interests
already deferred according to the related terms, without
any limitation with respect to the number of deferrals.
Mandatory interest payment events are limited to
dividend distributions to ordinary equity holders and
reductions of registered capital;

The priority over repayment of these notes and bonds
is subordinated to CR Power Investment’s general
debts.

The first two batches of perpetual medium-term
notes’ initial couple rate is 4% and 3.93%. If the
issuer chooses not to redeem the perpetual notes, the
coupon rate will be adjusted to the current benchmark
interest rate plus initial spread and a solid 300 basis
points every 3 years starting from the 4th interest-
bearing year.
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43.

44,

PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES HOLDERS

(CONTINUED)

e The first two batches of perpetual corporate bonds’
initial coupon rate is 3.99%. If the issuer chooses not
to redeem the perpetual corporate bonds, the coupon
rate will be adjusted to the current benchmark interest
rate plus initial spread and a solid 300 basis points
every 2 years starting from the 3rd interest-bearing
year.

The perpetual medium-term notes and perpetual corporate
bonds issued by CR Power Investment are classified as
equity instruments, and recognised under equity in the
consolidated statement of financial position. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group paid on interest on
perpetual medium-term notes amounting HK$235,327,000.
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, there was
no interest on perpetual medium-term notes and perpetual
corporate bonds that had been approved but not yet paid.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure in
order to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors its capital based on gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings and loans from related
parties less cash and cash equivalents, and pledged and
restricted bank deposits.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
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44, CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (conTiNueD) 44 EhEIRETE @

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2020 was as follows: RZZE_ZF+_A=1+—HHER
BELERNT

2020 2019
—EIEF

—E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHIT

Total borrowings BE®E PRy @yd W 87,903,748
Loans from an intermediate KB —EFREZER AR

holding company FER 5,951,763 6,233,010

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReERRESEEY (GRRGREIN (4,907,306)

Pledged and restricted mEEECY S

bank deposits IRITIER (300,087) (425,503)

Net debt BEFR ((PR:EPRIyM 88,803,949

Total equity B WERLPLP 86,716,013

Gearing ratio BEAXRBELE 97% 102%

BRI FEBFRER - PRERAR
EFORZ R B & B EARERITFRIA K
AehREFEEBY ARAEFRA
Ao AREENERB B R GERNIE

Net debts equal borrowings, loans from an intermediate
holding company less restricted and pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents. The directors of the
Company consider the Group’s gearing ratio has been

maintained at a comfortable level.

Loan covenants

Under the terms of the major borrowing facilities, the Group
is required to comply with the following financial covenants:

e The consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less
than HK$20 billion; and

e The ratio of consolidated adjusted EBITDA to
consolidated interest expense in respect of each
relevant period shall not be less than 3:1.

The Group has complied with these covenants throughout
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

A5. 2Rl T H
45a. BT AEH

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

45a. Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
—E-®F  —TNHF

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAIT

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEBHEKATENSREE IRIRICRVYE 24 244 155
Financial assets at FVOCI UWAREBEFTEAEE

AR MERE WS

MEemEE 2,383,337 1,934,571
Financial liabilities cRBE
Amortised cost B IHA A ESWGCLEEN 121,670,633

45b.Financial risk management objectives and 45b. R EREE B ERBEK

policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central Group
treasury department under policies approved by the
board of directors. The department identifies, evaluates
and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units.

AEEXHEEZES AR
@ s AR (BEIMNERK
ARABENXERNMRERE
MERER)  EERRMEESHE
TR - AEBEERRER
ArEIRFRERTHH A A
RAMRBERERDHAEE
MBRANEBEINZE -

MRAMEHMRIBEZTSHIEN
BRETE RS E - %&b
EAREEGEMET S FH
A~ FHE RS R E R
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

The majority of the Group’s operations are in the
PRC and transactions are mainly denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) which is the functional
currency of the respective group entities. Foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from certain cash
and cash equivalents and borrowings which
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (HK$).
However, the Company and certain subsidiaries
are located in Hong Kong and their functional
currency is HKS$, the foreign exchange risk for
them mainly arises from balances denominated in
RMB and borrowings denominated in RMB and
GBP. During the year ended 31 December 2020
and 31 December 31 December 2019, the Group
did not enter into any forward exchange contracts
or currency swap contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

In addition, given there are different functional
currencies within the Group, there are still foreign
exchange risk which arises from the transactions
and balances within the Group even though
they are eliminated. The carrying amounts of
the foreign currencies denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities before elimination
(excluding the amounts denominated in HK$ or
US$, of which the functional currency is US$ or
HK$) at the reporting date are as follows:

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

45. € T B
45b. ¢ RIE EE B ERBE(E)

45 B B ()
() SMNERB ()

o ERAEBATRE
TR EEE® - AL
REBANRZ 5 K AEHK
HiH - DFEEEL/NIN
FERfR - RE|BEBR - HH
RIASMNESEN BB B E
EEBAE(TNEE AT
EERTIMER R ITH B T
SNEBENBE)WERME
LU

2020 2019
—E-FF  —TNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets BE

Us$ e

RMB AR

HK$ BTT

GBP Hix
Liabilities =L

RMB AR

GBP 87

uUSD SSTE

Euro (“EUR”) BT (BT ))

The Group is primarily exposed to changes in
RMB/HK$ and GBP/HK$ exchange rates. The
sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in the
exchange rates arises mainly from non-functional
currency denominated financial instruments.

FRERT TR

738 12,516
14,415,100 18,596,090
96 828

10 207

7,723,040 6,140,235
1,439,519 1,632,775
27,955 52,795
13,233 12,659

AEEEBEHARER
T R B4 S T R
B ER - B2 ER S
B BUTUE £ Bk A b3
DM S EN SR T
B o
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B R RS Rl 51

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep) A5. € T B

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

45b. S RIEMEE B ER K (E)

45 /B B2 (4%)

(i)

Impact on
post tax profit

HERHRR B

2020
— =
HK$’000
TET

RMB/HK$ exchange rate AR B TER
— increase by 10% - FH10% (556,752)
- decrease by 10% — T ¥ 10% 556,752

GBP/HK$ exchange rate  H85 X B TER
- increase by 10% — EF10% (107,963)

- decrease by 10% —T&10% 107,963

The Group’s exposure to other foreign exchange
movements is not material. This sensitivity has
been determined assuming that the change
in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
statement of financial position date.

(i)  Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-
term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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2019
—NF
HK$'000
TR

SN LR (48)

Impact on other
components of equity

HHAESZSINSE
2020 2019
—E-EFE —ZAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET

(22,074) pREARKYYE 1,275,018

22,074

(114,958)

114,958

(i)

ARARRIYY (1,275,018)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

45. € T B
45b. ¢ RIE EE B ERBE(E)

Market risk (Continued) A AC )
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk iy BensELAABEDNT

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, except for
HK$88,142,193,000 (2019: HK$57,885,411,000)
of long-term borrowings and HK$5,951,763,000
(2019:HK$6,233,010,000) of loan from an
intermediate holding company whose interests
were charged at floating rates, interests on all
remaining long term borrowings and loans from
related parties were charged at fixed rates.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for
borrowings at floating rates which are not hedged
with hedging instruments. The analysis is prepared
by assuming the financial instruments outstanding
at the end of the period were outstanding for the
whole year.

At 31 December 2020, if interest rates on long-
term borrowings at that date had been 10 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year or net
assets as of 31 December 2020 would have
been approximately HK$70,570,000 (2019:
HK$43,414,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest expenses on floating rate
borrowings.

KE\k (&)

T T F A+
— B B 5
HFEMmEHEE
88,142,193,000# 75(_
T—N4F : 57,885,411,000
B kRBE —EFHE
R 2 R B E XK
5,951,763,000% T (= &
— 1 % :6,233,010,000
BIT)AN - FTESRTREE
BErmBEE S REERS
BETEFEGS o

4]

1 5%
+‘r§+—|—||

A
g

._N

=

AT 8URE 0 A Th 3R 0% B
fE 5 (UM LA SR T /RS
R RRAREE - R
s BT TS AR HIR
RAEENSRTARE
FRIDARER

RZZE-_ZFTF+ - A
:+ g - Wﬁ\MEIE’JE
HIEERIR FF+ 10
([EE=%- ﬁﬁﬁﬁtﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁé
MRFTE  FRFZFE
@@§_7_$¢+:H
ZT—HWEFEEBR
A/ 10 4970,570,000
B oo(Z T — 1 i
43,414,000 7T ) °
mﬁ@?%\%%‘\a‘q%u,ﬁﬁi
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—RHILFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
bank deposits, trade and other receivables, loans
from related companies and amounts due from related
companies. The maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 December 2020 in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

()  Risk management

Credit risk for the Group is concentrated on
a limited number of power grid companies,
associates and joint ventures. However,
management of the Group, having considered the
financial background and good creditability of the
power grid and related companies, and operating
prospects of associates and joint ventures,
believes that there is no significant credit risk.

Bank deposits are mainly placed with state-owned
financial institutions and reputable banks which
are all high-credit-quality financial institutions.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Other than above items, the Group also
expose to credit risks arising from financial
guarantees provided to its associates. As at 31
December 2020, the Group provided certain
guarantees amounting to HK$378,367,000
(2019: HK$849,088,000) to its associates (Note
21). The maximum amount that the Group has
guaranteed under the respective contracts was
HK$378,367,000 as at 31 December 2020
(2019: HK$849,088,000). At the end of the
reporting period, the management has performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that there
has been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group
is measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL.
No loss allowance was recognised in the profit
or loss because the management considered the
related parties are of strong financial strength and
the related loss allowance are immaterial to the
Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

A5. 2t T B

45b. & B B

EEEREREK#)

= E/m k(&)
() REBREE(E)
Br EatIE B SN 0 AEE IR

45k B A B R
PHEERNEERR - ©
—E-EF+_A=+—
B A&EER[EEED
% 12t & 81378,367,000
BT T — h &
849,088,000/ Tt ) E’J A
THEREF21) - R=ZF
—EF+-A= + =i
REBRESAELHERD
&S % %8 /378,367,000
BT T — h &
849,088,000/ 7T ) ° 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model as
following:

Trade receivables JE WL BR 3K
Other receivables (excluding

receivables from related parties) JFEE LAt e e
parties (including associates, joint
ventures, FVOCI investee
companies, non-controlling
shareholders and

other related parties)

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables from initial recognition.
The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables balances
individually.
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Hip e sks (e iE
FKIE)
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45. € T B
45b. ¢ RIE EE B ERBE(E)

EE /()

(i

1,295,600

R E ER(E

REBE=ZHLRMEE "
DEBRAREHEEEEE
R -

Gross carrying amount

fRE4E

2020

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHEIT

=
HK$’000
TET

20,437,913 14,693,371
7,705,247 3,537,958
1,023,316
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

For trade receivables in related to sales of
electricity, the debtors are local grid companies
and the management considered the impairment
on the trade receivables generated from sales of
electricity are insignificant to the Group.

The Group assesses the impairment for its
customers in relation to its heat supply individually
by considering the debtors’ historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable, supportable and available without
undue costs or effort. As at 31 December 2020,
the expected losses rate of these non-credit
impaired customers in relation to the operation of
heat supply is minimal, given there is no history of
significant defaults from customer and insignificant
impact from forward-looking estimations. The
assessed ECL for non-credit impaired customers
are not significant. ECL of HK$75,095,000 was
provided on credit-impaired balance as at 31
December 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

45. € T B
45b. ¢ RIE EE B ERBE(E)

EE/mfE (1)

(i)

TREEREGE)
FEW AR (48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The loss allowances for trade receivables as

at 31 December reconcile to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

45. € T B
45b. ¢ RIE EE B ERBE(E)

EE /R (E)
(i) SHMEEREE)

FEW AR (48

R+ A=+—HMHEK
AR SR (B 2 8 B 2R W1RLE
EFBERRIMT ¢
2020 2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FH&TT

S B L

—=

HK$’000
FET

At 1 January ®—B—H 78,187 114,676
Decrease in loss allowance FARNBRERD

recognised in profit or BB ZE R

loss during the year (5,056) (29,931)
Receivables written off during F M SEAY T A]

the year as uncollectible Y B FE R IE (3,625) (5,295)
Exchange adjustments ME H, S B 5,589 (1,263)
At 31 December R+=—HA=+—H 75,095 78,187

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against
the same line item.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include loans to/amounts due from related
parties (including associates, joint ventures,
FVOCI investee companies and non-controlling
shareholders) and other receivables (excluding
receivables from related parties).

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the
Group has made periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables,
based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also forward-looking information,
as appropriate, for example, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default
rate in connection with payments, and concluded
the credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
other receivables other than those credit-impaired
other receivable is insignificant.

In determining the ECL for loans to/amounts due
from related parties, the Group has assessed
the financial position of related parties as well
as the economic outlook of the industry in which
the associates and joint ventures operate, and
concluded that there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The
ECL on loans to/amounts due from related parties
are considered to be insignificant.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

45. € T B
45b. ¢ RIE EE B ERBE(E)

Credit risk (Continued) = E R (%)

(i)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) =HMEEREGE)
Other financial assets at amortised cost HEBHEELTAENREME
(Continued) BEEE)

Rt+t-—A=+—BE2E&
BB H 1R B SH R AR R E Y
H & B & B B H R
MR EREH RN T -

The loss allowance for credit-impaired other
financial assets at amortised cost as at 31
December reconciles to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

Loans to/
amounts
due from Other
related parties receivables
],/ el
BEA Httr
B%/ %8 W @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEn TEx TER
At 1 January 2019 R-E-nE—A—A — 281,075 281,075
Decrease in the allowance recognised  FRRIBRHEZH
in profit or loss during the year BERD - (516) (516)
Receivables written off during ERME AR
the year as uncollectible 10 e W 3B - (5,973) (5,973)
Exchange adjustments B 5 A - (9,474) (9,474)
At at 31 December 2019 R=B-n#%
+=A=1+-H 265,112 265,112
Increase in the allowance recognised ~ FRRME RS FERL
in profit or loss during the year BEEm (472) (472)
Receivables written off during R AT IR A
the year as uncollectible FEMRIR 4,712) (4,712)
Exchange adjustments 5 HE 6,457 6,457
At 31 December 2020 R-BZEF
TZA=t+-H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Net impairment losses on financial assets
recognised in profit or loss

During the year, the following impairment losses
(reversal of impairment losses) were recognised
in profit or loss in relation to impaired financial
assets:

Reversal impairment losses

FE W AR SORE 18 K 3 T

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

45. € T B
45b. S RIEEEIE B ER K (E)
EEm R ()
(i) SBMBEEREE)
REZERANEHBEER
EEXFEHE

FA-RERHEEREE
RBHFERUTRERK
CR{E1EXRD)

2020 2019
—ZT—NEF
HK$’000

TAET

—g=%%F

—_——

HK$’000
FB7

on trade receivables (29,931)
Reversal impairment losses H i m & ERE

on other financial assets BB E (516)
Net reversal impairment losses TREERBEBRX

on financial assets e EIpE R (30,447)

Liquidity risk

The Group operates a central treasury function at
corporate level that surplus cash of operating entities
within the Group is gathered in a pool. The cash
balance is then advanced to entities within the Group
with cash needs. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with borrowing covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions in order to meet the liquidity
requirements of the Group in both short and long
terms.

REBE LR

AEBHERRBERAFTRY
BE AEEAKEEENA
HRREEFRESM - 2RI
THEBBNTHEREFBROAL
SEANER - AEBBRR/TE
HERBRMEHRNRDES
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmiNuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

As stated in Note 3, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$24,426,907,000 and outstanding
capital commitments of HK$13,169,359,000 at
31 December 2020 (2019: net current liabilities
of HK$28,091,728,000 and outstanding capital
commitments of HK$26,802,363,000), which exposed
the Group to liquidity risk. In order to mitigate the
liquidity risk, the Group had obtained sufficient short
and long-term bank facilities at the end of the reporting
period. In addition, the management will undertake
close monitoring process to control the timing of
the expected cash outflows associated with the
construction of new power plants and the purchase of
power generation equipment or other new investments.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s liquidity risk has been significantly
reduced and they are satisfied that the Group will be
able to meet its financial obligations in full as and when
they fall due for the coming twelve months from 31
December 2020.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities, computed on the earliest
date when the Group would be required to settle them.
The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are computed at
floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep)

45b.Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted
average
interest rate

it

RLIES

On
demand
REX
g
HKS$'000
TEn

At 31 December 2020 R S
+ZA=1-A
Non-derivative FiEeHas
financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing Tit8 21,715,198
Fixed interest rate Bk
Variable interest rate 2yl
Lease liabities HERE
Financial quarantee contracts HERAG
At 31 December 2019 R_E-NE
+-A=1-A
Non-derivative financial FiiEEREE
liabilities
Non-interest bearing T8 - 18,090,127
Fixed interest rate EefE 362 -
Variable interest rate LR 397 -
18,090,127
Lease liabiltes HERR 469 -
Financial quarantes contracts HBERRN 849,088

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group did not

have any derivative financial instruments.

45.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

Ert T Ha

45b. ¢ RIE EE B ERBE(E)

Less than
1 year

OR-F
HKS'000
TR

11,130,998
6,431,398
23,936,607

9,479,748
10,817,628
17,683,082

37,980,458

229,145

BB E R (H)

1-5years

-E1f
HK$'000
A7

8,636,820
41,307,686

11,678,059
42,353,602

54,031,661

205,722

\—E-F

N—= —

=

Total

Over undiscounted

E

BENE
HKS'000
TR

32,821,540

10,004
25,766,232

25,776,326

731,416

cash flows
KBRS
REAE
HK$'000
T

32,846,196
15,068,218
98,065,833

1,194,722
378,367

27,569,875
22,506,781
85,802,916

135,878,572

1,166,283
849,088

Carrying
amount

BEE
HK$'000
&7

32,846,196
14,125,081
94,093,956

1,075,210
378,367

27,569,375
21,263,013
72,847,745

121,670,638

1,037,714
849,088

FRN_FE—NF+=A

=+—B  AEETEEFAITESHE
TH-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep) 45. 2 T B
45c. Fair value estimation 45c. X AR fEEMET

The table below analyses financial instruments carried TRAMUBEEZAAER

at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels M ER T A - EENT

have been defined as follows: FRZEHT :

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F—H— AUHRNEEXEER
for identical assets or liabilities BTSN HRECK

)

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included F_H— BEEEZEIE®R)K
within level 1 that are observable for the ME(AIREER)A]
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as BREEXBENG
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from ASB(E-—HBRE
prices) KRB RRIN)

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not F=— WIRBEAEEMS
based on observable market data (that is, ERETHNEEXSE
unobservable inputs) EEVETDNE G GRS

A B R ABUR)

The following table presents the Group’s financial TRBINAREBER _Z_ZTF

assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at +—RA=+—HEAABER

31 December 2020: EMNeMEERAR

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F—® & BE=% et

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
F#x  FER TR TER

Assets BE
FVOCI LWAREBERTE
B#E#t A
H iR & W — 2,383,337 2,383,337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep) A5. € T B
45c. Fair value estimation (Continued) 45c. P R BEEMEH (&
The following table presents the Group’s financial TREWNAEBRZ-_Z—NLF
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at + - A=+—HEAAREBEL
31 December 2019: ENEHEENMEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—1 F-® F=R e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Assets BE
FVOCI NARBERFE
BE#E A
Hsre e - — 1,934,571 1,934,571
There were no transfers among level 1, level 2 and level RER - B—HRK F_HEKRE
3 during the year. = B AR o
(a) Financial instruments in level 1 and level 2 (a F—RRE-—FKL@MTA
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, RZZEZFTF+ A
the Group held no such financial assets. =+— —E-NF
+: + B AEE
WEEEEHEEMEE -
(b) Level 3 instruments (b) F=ARTA
Level 3 instruments mainly included equity F-MITETEBIEIL
investments at FVOCI in unlisted equity securities. MRABHOANRAAEE
As these investments are not traded in an active STEREHTFAEMES
market, their fair values have been determined Wik - AR ZFIREWE
using direct comparison approach. RERBMEEE HAAR
BEFEAEZLBIAERE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuep) A5. € T B
45c. Fair value estimation (Continued) 45c. A R EE M (&)
(b) Level 3 instruments (Continued) (b) F=ARTAH

The movement of level 3 instruments for the year
ended 31 December 2020 is as follows:

At 1 January B—A—H

Exchange adjustments ME 5,

Gains recognised in other REAZEKA
comprehensive income R Wz

Additions NE

Disposals HE

At 31 December Rt+t=—A=+—H

Fair value of certain FVOCI has been determined
using estimated direct comparison approach with
significant unobservable input including price-
to-book ratio, which is 0.83, and estimated exit
price.

294 china Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #BE ARG RA

=t BF ¥

[ —

2,383,337

BE_ZT-_FTF+=-A4
=+—HLFE EF=H
TAMERHNT
2020 2019
—T-NF
HK$’000
FHEIT

HK$’000
T

1,934,571 1,877,311
91,867 (8,283)
627,580 40,786
78,466 24,757
(349,147) =

1,934,571

BETEHEAABETAEM
ZHEWEMREZ ARE
BERGBFEELEE
Er HEXTHEER
BASBRETEREXR(A
0.83) R FEHRR H{E ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

46.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Loan

from an
intermediate Amounts Amounts
holding due to due to
company Borrowings  Lease liabilities associates joint venture

RE—H
HEER EfiE  EARE
AFANER fé BEAR  OXRE GERHE
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
TER TR TRn TR T

As at 1 January 2019 R=F-NE-A-A - 06675187 - 1,370,208 648,770
Cash flows Reng 6238035 (7,048,762 (118,782) (830,466) (481,878)
Foreign exchange adjustments [ 5 5% (5,025) (1,796,485) (9,508) (61,210) 26,343)
Dividend declared BERRE - - - - -
Interest accrued Rt FIE - - - - -
Other non-cash movements EYLESTE O - 73,858 1,166,004 - -
As at 31 December 2019 RZB-1%

+ZB=1-H 6,233,010 87,903,748 1,087,714 468,532 140,549
Cash flows Reng (318,899) 9,029,147 (218,108) 607,147 469,660
Dividend declared BEERE - - - -
Interest accrued FERHHIE - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustments (B 555 37,652 5,334,380 65,195 73,022
Other non-cash movements LYY ) 190,409

As at 31 December 2020 RZB-%%
t2A=t-H

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

A6. pELEIEENG R R

MRALAEEREBEZDHNEE
BRRAEKIFRGES) - @A
ABEENBEDNRREREMN
B IREREREHNAEE S G
RenERTOBAREDDMEAR

=1
EZLeE ©

#eh

2

Amounts
due to

other related
companies
R
EfhRE
AAFE
HK$'000
Tn

8171
(107452)
(53,622)

438,993

286,090
(97,749)

78,844

Amounts

due to
non-controlling
interest of
subsidiaries
A

HEAR
FERERHE
HKS'000
TEn

284,139
(20,978)
(34,721)

228,440

10,628

Interest Dividend
payable payable Total

EfHE  EfiRS it
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TR T Thn

565,574 - 99551999
(2304200 (2573,308)  (9,194,008)
= - (1976914

— 2573305 2573305
4,154,915 - 415491
= - 167885

490,069 96,788,152
(3975038 (3345563 2,150,507
- 33556 3345563
3,935,883 3,935,883
5,661,254

166,828
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

47. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 47 . 1K1
Capital expenditure contracted but not yet provided for at RIEBRREETOERKREENER
the end of the reporting period is as follows: AT :

2020 2019
—E-TF  ZEFNF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR BT

Capital expenditure in respect of ME - BEKF
property, plant and equipment BEENERRAT WEREEREYS 21,930,599
Capital expenditure in respect of Uit B R A N S R e
the acquisition of mining rights and BEANEARARAX
exploration rights 4,843,385
Capital expenditure in respect of W AEEE
the acquisition of right-of-use assets EHENBEARAX 30,205 28,379
13,169,359 26,802,363
48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 48. oY R &1&
In addition, there were certain pending litigations and claims AN BEZEZEFF A= —
against the Group as of 31 December 2020. After consulting A BHEASEENE T RRFLR
the legal counsels, the directors are of the view that the RE - RVAEERZRARE  EFR
likelihood of any further material financial impact to the RASB XA (Ef#E—FERPBR
Group is remote, therefore, no further provisions have been ZHr K - At - WEE—F
made in light of such litigations and claims. MZFFDRREED EAERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B Bl RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

49. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 49 B EE
(a) The Group entered into two trademark licence (a) XEEBR_ZZE=F+A++t
agreements dated 17 October 2003 with CRCL and BoRl B ZERREBRE
CRH, respectively, under which the Group was granted B MIBRZET A BE - &
irrevocable, royalty free and non-exclusive licences to - AEEERTITHE - £
use certain trade marks and the rights to sub-license ERRREBRANEAET
the same to any member of the Group in consideration PR - LA Jo M) 2N 52 B A A {A] K
of a nominal amount of HK$1 each. ERRoEBTERETEEY
EF - REARESTESE 1S
T o
(b) Key management compensation (b) FEEEAERMH
Key management includes directors (executive FTEBEBABBRETHTR
and non-executive) and senior management. The FEHIT)RBRERE - HEES
compensation paid or payable to key management for REENKENETEEREAS
employee services is shown below: B R 20 N FTR ¢

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E—NF

HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TAIT

Salaries and other short-term e hEMmLHESEA

employee benefits 51,947
Post-employment benefits BEE 2R A 392
Amortised cost HSHRCR 52,339
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE_Z-TF+_A=t—RHIEFE

49. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conmiNuEp) 49. B I 1R EE ()
(c) Material related party transactions (c) EXEBARZ
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the BReEMBRREMBOHEE
consolidated financial statements, the following BN RERNEBEB FETT
transactions were carried out with related parties T3R5 -

during the year:

2020
i

Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’000

BEQRER & RatE TR

CRH Intermediate holding  Interest expense paid (Note 36) 145,560
company

EREE hREHERR A R ERFSERA (M 36)

Certain subsidiaries of CRH Fellow subsidiaries Supply of direct power

EREENETHELR FRKEAR BEMHE

Providing retail power agency
services (Note)

RUETEENRIERS ()

Providing integrated energy
services

RALER A RR IR

Providing agency service fee

REREREE

Software maintenance expense
paid

BN 4EER

Trade mark use fee

HEERE

Purchase of consumables

BEHERED

Professional fee

EXER

Purchase of fuel

BE A

Purchase of materials

BEMH

Rental expense

MeF%

Management fee

EEE

Advertisement expense

BERX

Insurance expense

RBF X

Other expense

A fbF

298 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd =B E il AR A A

2019
ki
HK$'000
THER

75,196

139

16,868

571

162

29,612

2,026
1,050
658
8,338
188

9,070

4l
35

506



For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

49.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conminuEeD) 49 BB PR IRE @
(c) Material related party transactions (Continued) (c) EXBEBARZ (&)

2020 2019
—B0RF TR

Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
BEARER % XaHE THT TR

Certain joint ventures of Joint ventures of Providing retail power agency 1,523
CR Cement fellow subsidiary services (Note)
ERKENETAELE EESH-VN! RUETEENRIERS ()
ZRERE
Certain subsidiaries of China Fellow subsidiaries Providing maintenance 1,731
Resources Land Ltd. service
EREMERLAN EELENG! REEERS
ETHBRAR
Rental expense 71,349
HeEH
Transportation fee 149
TBE
Management fee =
EEE
Renovation fee -
KEER
Other expense 15
Hin &M
China Resources Energy Fellow subsidiary Contract environment 12,095
Service Co., Ltd. management fee,
contract energy
management fee and
exclusive operation fee
ERRRREER AT EELENG| BRARRERER  SHKR
ERERARETREER
China Resources Bank of Fellow subsidiary Interest expense paid 3
Zhuhai Company Limited
HBERRITROERAA EELNG! ENMEER
Interest income 3,682
MEWA
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o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

49. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conmNuep) 49 BB A IRE @)
(c) Material related party transactions (Continued) (c) EXBEABARZ (&)

2020
==L

Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’000

BEARER 1ES RatE TR

Certain associates Associate Sales of electricity 385,006
of the Group

AEENETHERR Batx HEE N
Sales of coal 825,711
HERK
Sales of heat 64,911
izl
Sales of materials
HEYH
Purchase of fuel
BEMA
Electricity trading fee
BNR5E
Providing agency service fee
RUEREREE
Providing maintenance service
R ERY
Service income
RBEWA
Rental income
HEKA
Short term lease expenses
EHHEER
Transportation fee
RE
Interest expense paid (Note 34)
ERFSER(HE34)
Interest income (Note 21)

MEBHA (Kt 21)

300 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd ZF=HEHZKRER A

2019
“T-NE
HK$'000
TAL

384,981

838,343
44
72,751
106,088
1,211
46,034
58,121
2,439
162
59

24
10,175

446



For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

49. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (conmiNueD) 49. B FI 1R EE ()
(c) Material related party transactions (Continued) (c) EXBEBARZ (&)

2020 2019
—B0RF TR

Name of related company Relationship Nature of transactions HK$’000 HK$'000
BEARER XaHE THT TR

Certain joint ventures of Joint ventures Sales of electricity 2,635 2,283
the Group

AEENETEERE RERE HEE N
Sales of coal 50,946 484,895
HERK
Sales of materials 210,203 740,045
HEME
Sales of heat 84,773 91,997
HEHAY
Sales of by-products 4,547 6,375

HERIEM

Purchase of fuel 71,582
BEME
Purchase of materials 25,230
BEMH
Purchase of coal transportation 66,015
service
KRBT R R
Providing agency service fee 36,729 3,267
REREREE
Providing maintenance service 11,519 3,102
Rtk 4 IR
Providing integrated energy 7,885 10,537
services

REES RRG
Service income 26,368 27,540
RBERA
Management fee income 88,854 13,862
ERERA
Maintenance expenses 131,549 106,948
HEER
Interest expense paid (Note 35) 13,473 5,563
ENFEE A (i 3s)
Interest income (Note 22) 5,570 5,741
MEHA (FE22)

Certain non-controlling Non-controlling Interest income (Note 29) 706

shareholders of the Group shareholder
AEERE THERRR FEFERRAR R MEMA (KT 29)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

49. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (contiNuED)

(c)

(d)

Material related party transactions (Continued)

Note: The amounts disclosed are commissions charged to these entities
by the Group for the provision of agency services for bidding/
acquiring electricity supply from the national open market (the
“Market”). The total trading volume of electricity that the Group bid/
acquired on behalf of these entities over the Market is 5.08 billion
kWh (2019: 3.22 billion kWh) in 2020. The power plants operated
by the Group also contributed electricity to the Market through the
national electricity grid of China.

Transactions/balances with other state-
controlled entities

As at 31 December 2020, included in cash and cash
equivalents was an amount of HK$353,244,197
(2019: HK$307,658,000) which is deposited in China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd, a fellow subsidiary
of the Group, with interest rates ranging from 0.35% to
1.61% (2019: 0.35% to 1.50%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2020, bank borrowings amounting
HK$27,238,000 (2019: nil) was drawn from China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd, a fellow subsidiary
of the Group, with interest rates of 4.90% per annum.

The Group operates in an economic environment
currently predominated by entities directly or indirectly
owned or controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the Chinese government (“state-
controlled entities”). In addition, the Group itself is part
of a larger group of companies under CRCL, ultimate
holding company of the Company, which is controlled
by the PRC government. Apart from the transactions
with the parent company and its subsidiaries which
have been disclosed in other notes to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group also conducts business
with other state-controlled entities during the ordinary
course of its business.
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A9 BANKTIHREE

(c)

(d)

€))

EXBBMERXZ (#)

ik P BECEANERNZEER
RHEZBAAMSH( M5 3H
B ERHENKRERENES
rEBE-_T_TFRZEE ”E
W%EPRRTE/EHXT& B AL 2%
2R508EBTRK(ZZE— h¢
R2BTEE) AEBEMEES
H&;T ABPREBREAM TSR
B8,

HEEMBFESNE
R

WNZE_ZTEF+_A=+—
B st ARERBASEEMN
% H353,244,197%8 (= &
— N4 : 307,658,000 It ) 17
MR AL B R R EAQRKE
ZEHRTROHBRRA - F A
N F035%E1.61% (= =
—NFE : 0.35% F1.50%)) °

BHRS

R-TE-_TF+ A= —I——
B ERAEERZRNER
WEEBRITERODARA TT;:E

HY 4R 17 & B 27,238,000 T
(Z2E—h&F: &) FRXAE

4.90% -

AEBEBRENBFRHBAE
B Mg wEAa TS - LR
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o WHN s AEBEAXRF B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (contiNuep)

(d) Transactions/balances with other state-

controlled entities (Continued)

The Group operates power plants in the PRC and
sells significant volumes of its electricity to the power
grid companies which are state-controlled entities in
the PRC. The Group also purchases/sells significant
amounts of coal from/to certain state-controlled
entities. Furthermore, the Group has certain borrowings
and deposits with certain banks which are state-
controlled entities in its ordinary course of business.
The Group has also entered into various transactions,
including other operating expenses with other state-
controlled entities which individually and collectively
were insignificant during the year.

B AT 15 SRR AT 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_TF+-_A=1+—ALFE

A9 B 5 1 1% B8
() REBBFEHERHZS

REER ()

AEERTEELER XM
TERERARRBEREZHNE
BIHEREE - AEE TR
S AE TR EG EERE
HERERR I AEH
RBEBEHFEETRT(RE
RIENER)AETEERRT
Tk FR - NREETEETT
ZER G BREAEMERE
HEENOEMEER
ZEER R BEFAXALTERX -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B H AR Gt

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2020:

Name of subsidiary

WEARAMR

China Resources Power
Investment Co., Ltd.

EHENREBRAF

China Resources Power (Haifeng)
Co., Ltd.

£HEH(§2)ERAT

China Resources Power (Tangshan

Caofeidian) Co., Ltd.

EREN(BEUELD)ERAR

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of

legal entity
M K
RewHR
EEERER

PRC,
Wholly Foreign

Owned Enterprise

hE
IEBELE

PRC,
Wholly Foreign

Owned Enterprise

PE
IEBELE

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
hE - A

AfFEEtx

304 china Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #BE AiZRAERA

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHERE/
HEMEERK
BREX

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB15,800,000,000
i kSR &R

A% 15,800,000,000 7T

Registered capital
RMB2,095,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,589,280,000
AMER

AR 2,095,000,000 7T
BREXR

AR 1,589,280,000 7T

Registered capital
RMB83,571,340,000
Paid-up capital
RMB2,305,079,800
AMER

AR 3,571,340,000 70
BREXR

AR 2,305,079,800 7T

50. KA alkiE A Tl iis#1E

RZEBE-ZEF+_A=+—HWEE

MR AEFIT :

Percentage of
equity interest held (%)
FEEHRER D (%)

Directly Indirectly
B B

100 =

= 100

Principal
activities

FREHR

Investment holding

REZR

Operation of
a power station

e

Operation of
a power station

2EEU



50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (contiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

China Resources Power
Dengfeng Co., Ltd.

EHENEHERAT

China Resources Power
Hubei Co., Ltd.
EHENRLERRA
China Resources Power
(Tongshan) Co., Ltd.
HLERENERAF

China Resources New Energy
(NeiHuang) Co., Ltd.

ERHMER(AR)BRAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Place of
incorporation

and operation

and form of

legal entity
AR
RewHoR
EEERER

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
hE - Hoh

afEget%E

PRC,
Wholly Foreign

Owned Enterprise

hE - HNE
BELE

PRC,

Limited Liability

Company

PE - BRAA

PRC,
Wholly Foreign

Owned Enterprise

hE - HNE
BELE

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHMERE/
TEMERK
BREX

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB1,760,000,000

st R R E A
AR#1,760,000,0007C

Registered and

paid-up capital
RMB2,690,000,000
BRISEF-EN
AR 2,690,000,000 70

Registered and

paid-up capital
RMB1,500,000,000
BRISEF-EN
AR#1,500,000,000 70

Registered capital
RMB950,670,000
Paid-up capital
RMB760,378,270
AR

AR 950,670,000 7T
BREXR
AR#790,378,270 7T

B tH ISR 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

50. KA aliiE A il 1E @

Percentage of
equity interest held (%)
FEENRER D H (%)

Directly Indirectly

Principal
activities

FREHR

BE

B

75  Operation of
a power station

100  Operation of

a power station

BEE

59.86 Operation of

a power station

BEE

100  Operation of

a power station
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B H AR Gt

o For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—RAILEE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (contiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

China Resources New Energy
(Suixian Tianhekou)
Wind Power Limited

i/&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
Rlae B R

(&E&?%TD)

China Resources Power (Jiaozuo)

Co., Ltd.

EREN(EE)BRRA

China Resources Power

(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd.

ZHEN0RM)BRAR

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of

legal entity
ALK
RewHUR
EEERER

PRC,
Wholly Foreign

Owned Enterprise

hE N
BELE

PRC,
Wholly Foreign

Owned Enterprise

FEL - S
BEME

PRC,

Sino-Foreign

Equity Joint

Venture

hE . o
1/,5%«.&@%

306 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd ZEHE N1 AR A

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHERE
TEMEERK
BREX

Registered capital
RMB1,110,385,200
Paid-up capital
RMB936,338,129
&R
AR#1,110,385,200 ¢
BREXR

AE# 936,338,129 7T

Registered capital
RMB1,254,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,074,999,504
AR
AR¥1,254,000,000 70
BRER
AR¥1,074,999,504 7T

Registered capital
RMB2,000,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,667,972,355
AMER

AR 2,000,000,000 75
BREXR
AR#1,667,972,355 7T

Percentage of

equity interest held (%)
FEEHNRER DL (%)

Directly Indirectly

BE

100

55

e
100

50. KA aliiE A ol il 1E @

Principal
activities

FTREHR

Operation of
a power station

BEE

Operation of
a power station

Operation of
a power station

BEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 50. KA GlbitE Al M iE e

COMPANY (contiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of

legal entity
AR
KEwEUR
EEERER

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHMERE/
TEMERK
BREX

Percentage of

equity interest held (%)
FEEHNRER DL (%)

Directly Indirectly
EE B

Principal
activities

FREHR

China Resources Power PRC, Registered and 90 —  Operation of
(Heze) Co., Ltd. Sino-Foreign paid-up capital a power station
Equity Joint RMB931,250,000
Venture
EREN(EZE)BERAA R Ao BRISEF-EN HEEY
AERERE AR 931,250,000 7T
China Resources Power PRC, Registered capital = 100  Operation of
(Bohaixinqu) Co., Ltd. Wholly Foreign RMB840,000,000 a power station
Owned Enterprise Paid-up capital
RMB619,605,540
EHEN(HEHR)BERAF e - O &R EEEU
BEGE AR 840,000,000
BREXR
AR® 619,605,540 7T
Sichuan China Resources PRC, Registered and = 51 Operation of
Yazui River Hydro Sino-Foreign paid-up capital a power station
Power Development Co., Ltd. Equity Joint RMB473,750,000
Venture
m)IIEEREKEREERAR  HE - B At R ER EEEU
AERELE AR 473,750,000 7
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50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (contiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

China Resources Power
(Panijin) Co., Ltd.

ZHEN(BE)ERAA
China Resources Power
(Changshu) Co., Ltd.

EREN(RR)BERRA

China Resources Power
Hunan Co., Ltd.

EHENHRERAA

China Resources Power

Henan Shouyangshan Co., Ltd.

AEEEENERLER

Jiangsu Nanre Power
Generation Co., Ltd.

THEAREERAAR

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of

legal entity
ALK
RewHUR
EEERER

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
hE S
BELR

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
hE S
BELR

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
hE S
BELR

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
hE . o
AEEERE

PRC,

Limited Liability
Company

e BRAR

308 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd ZF=HEHZKRER A

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHERE
TEMEERK
BREX

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB776,000,000
A kSR ER

AR 776,000,000 7T

Registered and
paid-up capital
US$173,520,000
A kSR ER
173,520,000 % T

Registered and
paid-up capital

RMB1,361,000,000

GaliE Iry-EN

AR#1,361,000,0007T

Registered and
paid-up capital

RMB1,237,500,000

GalipE IRy =g

AR 1,237,500,000 7T

Registered and
paid-up capital

RMB1,030,000,000

GalipE IRy =g

A% 1,030,000,000 7

Percentage of
equity interest held (%)
FEENRER D H (%)

Directly Indirectly
B A

= 100

= 100

= 100

= 100

50. IR A alBif & 2 al BEF 1R«

Principal
activities

FTREHR

Operation of a
power station

Operation of
a power station

BEE

Operation of

a power station

BEE

Operation of
a power station

BEE

Operation of
a power station

BEE




50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (contiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

Nanjing Chemical Industry
Park Thermoeletricity Co., Ltd.

BRLEIRERTARAT

Guangzhou China Resources
Thermal Co., Ltd.
EMNERREERRA

China Resources Wind
Power (Haiyuan) Co., Ltd.

ERRE(ER)BRAA

China Resources Power
(Xilinguole) Coal Mining Co., Ltd.

EHEN(HBHTY)ERERDA
China Resources Power (Yichang)
Co., Ltd.

EHEN(EE)BRAH

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of

legal entity
AR
RewHoR
EEERER

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
i - g

afERELE

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
hE S
BELR

PRC,
Wholly foreign
Owned Enterprise

hE - HNE
BELE

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
hE - s
BELER

PRC,

Wholly Foreign
Owned Enterprise
hE - s
BELER

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHRERE/
TEMERK
BREX

Registered and
paid-up capital
US$127,580,252

AR AR EAR
127,580,252 % ¢

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB1,100,000,000
BRISEF-EN

A% 1,100,000,000 70

Registered capital
RMB1,014,838,100
Paid-up capital
RMB719,070,000
A A

AE#1,014,838,100 7T

BEAR
AR#719,070,0007C

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB300,000,000
At R &R
AE#%300,000,0007C

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB769,000,000
At R &R
AE% 769,000,000 7T

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

Percentage of
equity interest held (%)
FEENRER D H (%)

Directly Indirectly
EE B

= 100

= 100

60 40

= 100

50. KA aliiE A il 1E @

Principal
activities

FREHR

Operation of
a power station

BEE

Operation of
a power station

BEE

Operation of
a power station

HEE

Operation of
a power station

Operation of
a power station
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HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (contiNuED)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

China Resources Power Tangshan
Fengrun Co., Ltd.

ERENREILEHERAA

Guizhou Tianrun Mining Co., Ltd.

EMRBRFEBR AT

China Resources Power
(XiLinGuoLe) Co., Ltd.

EREN(GHFY)BRRA]

310 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #BE AZERAERA

Place of
incorporation
and operation
and form of

legal entity
ALK
KEwEUR
EEERER

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
hE . o

BfFgEdE

PRC,
Limited Liability
company

TR BRARF

PRC,
Sino-Foreign
Equity Joint
Venture
PE - o

affgEtx

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered
capital and
paid-up capital
ERTHERE
TEMEXK
BREX

Registered capital
RMB690,135,000
Paid-up capital
RMB674,574,250
AMER
AE#690,135,000 7
BREXR

ANR# 674,574,250 7T

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB100,000,000
aM kS RER
AK% 100,000,000 75

Registered capital
RMB2,065,000,000
Paid-up capital
RMB1,909,333,300
AR

AR 2,065,000,000 70
BREXR

AR 1,909,333,300 75

Percentage of
equity interest held (%)

P A RER 2t (%)
Directly Indirectly
EE &
= 60
= 100
= 70

50. KA aliiE A ol il 1E @

Principal
activities

FTREHR

Operation of
a power station

2B

Coal mining

PR TR

Operation of
a power station



50. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (contiNuED)

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected/will affect the operation of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

Some of the subsidiaries’ English names represent
managements’ translation of the Chinese names as they
have not adopted formal English names.

The subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are all limited
liability companies.

Significant restrictions

As at 31 December 2020, cash and bank deposits of
HK$4,551,506,000 (2019: HK$4,867,694,000) are held in
mainland China and are subject to PRC exchange control
regulations. These exchange control regulations provide
for restrictions on exporting capital from the country, other
than through cash dividend approved by the shareholders’
meeting in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-_Z-TF+-_A=+—AItEE

50. KA aliiE A il 1E @

ARAEFR R ERMAIINAEED
ITENBRARE BHAEENEE
BEERXE - ARAEFAR/ILHE
kB A RN E RN S EEERHENTT
f o

AP ER Y I B 1 B I M ER A [IE A 232
XA WERRXRANEXZTHE
REBEEREPXBBIELOERE -

R BEEMARZHM B AR RER
BERA] -

ERRH

RZZE_EF+_A=+—H8" &
FRAEFEENRERIBETERE
4,551,506,0008 Jt(ZF — L F -
4,867,694,000% T ) I 78 & =F A
SNBIESIER o T INEESIE
REEHEABERNEL(BEBRE
AERBEEBEEERIENRES R
BERINBIRS o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHIEFE

51.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 51. R AaINET#5 &

COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company A B B A AR R

312 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd =B E il AR A A

2020

—E-EF

—=—=

HK$’000
TR

2019
“E-NF
HK$’000
FET

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% -~ BB REE 17,625 193,846
Right-of-use assets ERAERE 13,979 21,309
Prepayments A A 31,642 31,642
Investments in subsidiaries NG NG o)~ YN aORIEN 27,770,593
Investments in associates B R R A 2,591,913 2,591,913
Investments in joint ventures REELENER 1,270,108 1,270,108
Deferred tax assets EERIEE E 896 896
NAREBEFT=EEEE
FVOCI T AE AR S W a 212,289 181,324
31,909,045 32,061,631
Current assets MENVEE
Trade receivables, other receivables FEUBR R« E A B BIE
and prepayments SEUNE O 50,543 60,095
Loans to subsidiaries BLENEAGIEES 6,442 124,386
Amounts due from associates JIE Wit 2 1 ZE FRIR 113,207 7,595
Amounts due from subsidiaries and JE BT B R B R E At
other related companies BE N R IR RPN 41,932,851
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 784,986 482,864
52,083,133 42,607,791
Total assets REE CRRCPREEN 74,669,422



For the year ended 31 December 2020 o
HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

51. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
COMPANY (contiNuED)

Statement of financial position of the Company
(Continued)

51. R RGN &l

22 B B AR O 3R ()

Note 2020 2019
Mt —2-%F

“T-hEF

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

EzkEE
RRRGEA AEEHER

HK$’000
TR

HK$’000
THT

Share capital N PP RSGCNAN 22.316,710
Other reserves E e Note (a)
B3k (a) 82,307 82,307
Retained earnings RE A E Note (a)
Biet(a) ERERIPEILN 18,563,211
Total equity BRES 41,351,533 40,962,228
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Borrowings BE LRI RAVAl 19,458,445
Lease liabilities HEAE 6,013 21,264
25,971,830 19,479,709
Current liabilities mENaE
Trade payables, other payables FERTRRER - EfhpE
and accruals NI R ERTER 190,226
Amounts due to joint ventures FERTE & ERIE 781
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERHB AR R
and other HMEAEARFHIE
related companies 15,462,669 10,164,461
Current income tax liabilities BNERFR1S R & (& 6,919 2,097
Borrowings BE 1,094,039 3,869,362
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,789 558
16,668,815 14,227,485
Total liabilities HWEE 42,640,645 33,707,194
Total equity and liabilities BREZREE 83,992,178 74,669,422
The statement of financial position of the Company was EEEOR T -—F=A+/\BHA

approved by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2021 and

BARBMBIAEK - Wh THNES

was signed on its behalf: REZ2HE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
E EEd
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R RS Rl 51

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—RHILEFE

51. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 51. Aol & il

COMPANY (continuep)

Statement of financial position of the Company AR B B AR R R ()

(Continued)

Note (a): Reserve movement of the Company Kzt (a): AL AFESE
Retained Other
earnings reserves

REFE Hn ks
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TERT
At 1 January 2019 RZE—-—hF—H—H 17,080,310 82,307
Profit for the year F AR HE 3,421,510 —
Dividends paid to owners of BEIRNAREHEE ARE
the Company (1,938,609) —
At 31 December 2019 R=B-h&F+=HA=+—H 18,563,211
Profit for the year FRF]E 3,145,689
Dividends paid to owners of BIRNAREHEE ARE
the Company (2,756,384)
At 31 December 2020 R=-B=-Z2F+=-H=+—H 18,952,516

314 china Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #BE ARG RA



CORPORATE INFORMATION

ol &
e
Chairman Wang Chuandong
E-3 FER
Non-executive Directors Wang Chuandong
FHTES TER
Chen Ying
[ &
Wang Yan
TE
Executive Directors Tang Yong
HITES EE
Zhang Junzheng
REI
Wang Xiao Bin
T
Independent Non-executive Directors Andrew Ma Chiu-Cheung
BYFHITES 5 IR
Elsie Leung Oi-sie
Raymond Ch’ien Kuo Fung
Jack So Chak Kwong
#OEN
Company Secretary Wang Xiao Bin
RNEAMWE T
Auditor Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
3] Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
=%« EMRS AT
RS AD
M2\ Fll s B R 12 2LAT
Legal Advisor Paul Hastings
EEER = RLIREEE R
Share Registrar Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
RABFETE Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,

Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.
BEEPREFLFELARAR]
BEET

ERARER 1835
RN
171712821716 E

Registered Office Rooms 2001-2002, 20th Floor,
TR EE China Resources Building,

26 Harbour Road,

Wanchai, Hong Kong.

General Line: (852) 2593 7530

Facsimile: (852) 2593 7531

BT

BEE 26 5%

FEEAE

2012001 £2002 F

4B - (852) 2593 7530

{EE : (852) 2593 7531
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS

XEE2Z8H

SHARE LISTING AND STOCK CODE A% EhRAR AL EE
The Company’s shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of ARQRIKRMHNREEBMALZMERAR]
Hong Kong Limited. Our stock code is 836. £ o BRI A 836 °
FINANCIAL DIARY Hil #5 H &%
Financial year end 31 December 2020 s g i e 3
+=ZA=+—H
Announcement of final results 18 March 2021 NG N ES —E-—F
=A+N\BH
Last day to register for final dividend 18 June 2021 SRR T —F
g aVa mAN=
Book close 2 June 2021 to eSS e —E-—F
7 June 2021 &a NAZBRZE
—E-—F
~A+EHB
Payment of final dividend on or about 9 July 2021 & 3 R AR B —F-—
+AAB%
EIEES
SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES A% R &l
For enquires about share transfer and registration, please contact HBRERMNBEFL M EFL 2B @ BHEARQ
the Company’s Share Registrar: RIZ RN B ERRE ¢
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BBPREFHFELBRAA
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, BEBEFERRNER 183
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. AMALATEA7TI2E1716 E
Telephone: (852) 2862 8628 Eh 1 (852) 2862 8628
Facsimile: (852) 2865 0990 {55 : (852) 2865 0990

For enquires from investors and securities analysts, please REEZENFELADITEWNEEH - FHAE

contact:

Investor Relations WEEBR

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Limited #=EENIERBR AT

Room 2001-2002, 20th Floor, China Resources Building, 26 &8 /& # /& 26 5

Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. #FHKE 202001 £2002 =
General Line: (852) 2593 7530 HME L ¢ (852) 2593 7530
IR hotline: (852) 2593 7550 WEZHLR © (852) 2593 7550
Facsimile: (852) 2593 7531/2593 7551 BES : (852) 2593 7531/2593 7551
E-mail: crp-ir@crc.com.hk BHE : crp-ir@crc.com.hk
OUR WEBSITE ol i
WWW.Cr-power.com WWW.Cr-power.com

3716 China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd #HEhiEKAERAT



FERENEZERARAE

China Resources Power Holdings Co., Ltd.

Rooms 2001-2002, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BREFBEE26

ZEHARE2001-2002F

Telephone E|FE © (852) 2593 7530
http://www.cr-power.com
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